KEEFE REGIONAL TECHNICAL SCHOOL



STUDENT/PARENT HANDBOOK 2018-2019

Principal Shannon Snow, Ed.D

Assistant Principal/Discipline Kenneth Collins

Academic Curriculum Director Rebecca swasey

Career Technical Director John Brochu

Director of Guidance & Admissions Adrienne Bogusky

Director of Special Education Michael Dolan

750 Winter Street Framingham, MA 01702 (508) 416-2100

This book belongs to:	
Address:	
City/State:	

In the case of any ambiguity between any of the terms, provisions and policies as described in the Keefe Regional Technical School Student/Parent Handbook (the "Handbook"), as adopted by the South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District School Committee (the "School Committee"), and the School Committee Policy Manual, as amended from time to time (the "Policy Manual"), the Policies of the School Committee in the Policy Manual as adopted by the School committee, shall prevail over the terms, provisions, and policies contained in the Handbook in all respects.

SOUTH MIDDLESEX REGIONAL VOCATIONAL TECHNICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION I: WELCOME TO KEEFE TECH

INDEX	PAGE Number
School Calendar	8
Principal's Message	9
Mission Statement and Philosophy	10
Goals	11
About Keefe	12
Discrimination Notice	12
Section 504	13
Homeless Students	13
Bell and Lunch Schedule	14

SECTION II: OPERATIONAL PROCEDURES

After School Activities	14
Attendance Policy	14
Appeals Process	15
Dept. of Ed. Attendance Requirement for MCAS Appeal	16
Tardiness to School – Policy, Procedure, Detention	16
Tardiness to Class Policy	16
Truancy	16
Dismissals	16
Perfect Attendance	17
Senior Privilege	17
Cancellation of Classes / 2-Hour Delayed Opening	18
Computer and Tablet Technology Use	18
Computerized Telephone Messages	19
Crisis Codes	19
Fire Drill and Evacuation Procedure	19
Discipline System	20
An Atmosphere of Respect	20
Discipline Rules and Consequences	20
Detention System	23
Teacher Detention/Administrative	23
Detention/Suspension/Saturday Detention	
Dress Code	24
Driving and Parking	25
Electronic Devices	26
Elevator	26
Finding Help	28
Identification Cards	29

Lavatory Use	29
Lockers and Personal Property	29
Lost and Found	29
Medications	30
Parent/Guardian Conferences	30
Passes	30
Safe School Policy	30
School Property	31
Searches of Students, School Property, and Vehicles on School	31
Property	
Textbooks and Tools	31
Vending Machines	32
Video Surveillance Equipment	32
Visitors	32
Withdrawal	32
Work Permits	33

SECTION III: STUDENT SERVICES

Student Counseling Services	34
Beliefs and Goals	35
Extra Help	35
Tutoring	35
Health Services	35
Accident Insurance	36
Accidents	36
Physical Exams and Immunizations	36
Student Athlete Physical Exams	36
Vision and Hearing Screening	36
Pregnant Students/New Mothers	37
Special Education Services	37
Late Transportation	38
Library / Media Information Center	
Borrowing Regulations, Overdue Materials, Library Rules	
School Cafeteria Services: Breakfast, Shop Break, Lunch, Federal	39
Free and Reduced Meal Program, Procedures for Cafeteria Use	
Student Activities	40
Extra-curricular Eligibility Rules	40
Conduct Requirement	40
American Culinary Federation (ACF)	40
Art Club	41
Business Professional of America (BPA)	42
Chess Club	42
Chorus Club	42
Dance Club	42
Drama Club	43

Engineering Club	43
Future Farmers of America (FFA)	43
Gay Straight Alliance (GSA)	43
Leadership Academy	44
National Art Honor Society	44
National Honor Society (NHS)	44
National Technical Honor Society	44
Project Adventure	45
School Newspaper	45
SkillsUSA	45
South Middlesex Scholars Program	45
Student Representatives to the School Council	46
Student Ambassadors	46
Student Council and Class Officers	46
We Are The Voice (Formerly SADD)	46
Yearbook	47

SECTION IV: CREDITS AND DIPLOMA

Graduation Requirements	
Promotion Requirements	48
Eligibility for Graduation	49
Determination of Grades	49
Grading Guidelines	50
Report Cards	52
Method of Marking and Term Grades	52
Honor Roll	52
Letter / Number Grade Conversion Guidelines	52
Grade Point Average	53
Massachusetts Comprehensive Assessment System MCAS	54

SECTION V: ACADEMIC/CAREER AND TECHNICAL PROGRAMMING

Course Offerings	55
Overview	55
Course Selection	55
Change of Course – Withdrawals	56
Honors Level Courses	56
Academics	56
English	56
Mathematics	57
Science	57
Social Studies	58
Electives	58
Physical Education/Health & Wellness	58
Special Education Programs	59

English Language Learner Program (ELL)		
Career and Technical Program		
Philosophy	60	
Career Exploration	61	
Career Technical Program	61	
Automotive Technology	61	
Business Office Technology	62	
Carpentry	62	
Cosmetology	62	
Culinary Arts	62	
Dental Assisting	63	
Design & Visual Communications	63	
Early Childhood and Teaching	63	
Electrical	64	
Graphic Communications	64	
Health Careers	64	
Information Support Services & Technology	64	
Landscaping Design & Construction	65	
Legal & Protective Services	65	
Metals Fabrication & Joining Technologies	65	
Plumbing	66	
Programing & Web Development	66	
Cooperative Education Program	66	
Eligibility for Seniors	66	
Eligibility for Term II Juniors	67	
Summer Cooperative Program for Juniors	67	
Waivers	67	
Termination of Cooperative Placement	67	
Dual Enrollment	67	
Articulation Agreements	67	
Dual Enrollment	68	
Accuplacer Testing	68	
Competency Reporting	68	
Incomplete Grades	68	
Make-up work	69	
Suspension	69	
Skipping Class	69	
Extra-Curricular Activities	69	
Interim Progress Reports	69	
Summer School	70	

SECTION VI: ATHLETICS

Boys' and Girls' Sports Programs	71
School Policies for Students/Athletes	72
Interscholastic Sports Eligibility, Clothing & Equipment	73

SECTION VII: LAWS AND POLICIES

Absences of Students: Responsibility of both School and	74
Parent(s)/Guardian(s)	
Bullying and Cyber bullying	74
Sexual Harassment	82
Harassment	88
Harassment Offenses	94
Hazing and Hazing Penalties	95
Non-Discrimination Notice, Civil Rights, and Safety Information	97
for School Personnel, Parents, and Students	
Notice of Nondiscrimination	97
Equal Access	98
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973	99
Discipline of Students with Disabilities	99
Due Process Procedures	102
Substance Use Policy	102
Teaching About Alcohol, Tobacco, and Drugs	103
Suspension/Expulsion by Principal	104
Physical Restraint of Students	117
Appropriate Responses to Student Behavior	118
Physical Restraint Procedures	118
When Physical Restraint Is Used	119
Reporting Requirement	120
Individual Waiver of Reporting Requirements	121
Students with Disabilities	121
Federal Rights Records	122
Protection of Pupil Rights	123
Dissection Policy	123
Eye Protection Devices	123
Sex Education Policy	124
Massachusetts Comprehensive Assessment System (MCAS)	125
Public Relations Releases	128
Publication of Names	128
U.S. Military Recruiting	129
Asbestos Hazard Emergency Response Act (AHERA)	130
	131
School Network/Internet Acceptable Use Policy	
School Network/Internet Acceptable Use Policy Student Photo Release	134

SOUTH MIDDLESEX REGIONAL VOCATIONAL SCHOOL DISTRICT KEEFE REGIONAL TECHNICAL SCHOOL 2018-2019

August 2018

7100051 2010						
S	M	T	W	R	F	S
			1	2	3	4
5	6	7	8	9	10	11
12	13	14	15	16	17	18
19	20	21	22	23	24	25
A	27	28	29	30	31	

SEPTEMBER 2018

S	M	T	W	R	F	S
A						1
B1	3	4	5	6	7	8
A	10	11	12	13	14	15
B2	17	18	19	20	21	22
A	24	25	26	27	28	29

OCTOBER 2018

S	M	T	W	R	F	S
В3	1	2	3	4	5	6
A	8	9	10	11	12	13
B4	15	16	17	18	19	20
A	22	23	24	25	26	27
B5	29	30	31			

NOVEMBER 2018

S	M	T	W	R	F	S
B5				1	2	3
A	5	6	2	8	9	10
B5	12	13	14	15	16	17
A	19	20	21	22	23	24
B6	26	27	28	29	30	

DECEMBER 2018

S	M	T	W	R	F	S
						1
A	3	4	5	6	7	8
B 7	10	11	12	13	14	15
A	17	18	19	20	21	22
23	24/	25	26	27	28	29
	31					

JANUARY 2019

S	M	T	W	R	F	S
B8		1	2	3	4	5
A	7	8	9	10	11	12
B8	14	15	16	17	18	19
A	21	22	23	24	25	26
В	28	29	30	31		

- August (4 Davs)
 Orientation New Teachers
 Freshmen Step-Up Day
 First Day for Teachers
 First Day for Students/School Committee
 No School

- No School
 SEPTEMBER (17 DAYS)
 No School Labor Day
 Grade 9 Parent Info. Night, 6:00 p.m.
 No School Sosh Hashanah
 No School Yom Kippur
 School Konsh Hashanah
 No School Yom Kippur
 School Committee
 OCTOBER (22 DAYS)
 Early Release Professional Dev.
 Parent Curriculum Night, 6:00-8:00 p.m.
 No School Columbus Day
 Mid-term, Term I
 NOVEMBER (17 DAYS)
- 8 12

- Mid-term, Term I
 NOVEMBER (IT DAYS)
 NO School Showcase Day
 School Committee
 Early Release, Professional Dev.
 NO School Veteran's Day
 NO School Showcase Day
 Early Release at 10:35
 NO School Thanksgiving Day
 NO School Early Release at 10:35
 NO School Thanksgiving Day
 NO School
 End Term I
 DECEMBER (IS DAYS)

- End Term I

 DECEMBER (15 DAYS)
 School Committee
 Early Release/Professional Dev.
 Middle School Career Night, 6:00-8:00 p.m.
 Early Release, 10:35 a.m.
 Vacation
 LANIADY (3)

- vacation
 JANUARY (21 DAYS)
 No School New Years' Day
 School Committee
 Early Release Parent/Teacher Conf. 12:003:00
- | Early Release Parent/Teacher Conf. 123
 | 3:00
 | Parent/Teacher Conf. 6:00-8:00 p.m.
 | No School Martin Luther King Day
 | Mid-term, Term II
 | Early Release, Professional Dev. | PEBRUARY (15 DAYS)
 | School Committee |
 | R-22 No School Winter Vacation week |
 | R-22 No School Winter Vacation week |
 | R-23 Early Release SkillsUSA Districts | MARCH (21 DAYS) |
 | School Committee |
 | Earl of Term II, Early Release, Prof. Dev. |
 | Grade 8 Parent Info. Night, 6:00 p.m. |
 | R-26-27 ELA MCAS | APRIL (17 DAYS) |

- Sandor Committee

 MAY C 22 DAYS

 Mid-term, Term III, Early Release, Prof. Dev. 6

 AP Environmental
 Science Exam

 AP Literature Exam

 AP Computer Science Exam

 School Committee

 AP English Language Exam

 AP English Language Exam

 Language Exam

 Language Exam

 AP English Language Exam

 Language Exam

 Graduation Reheased Professional Dev.

 Language Exam

 Graduation Rehearsal

 Graduation Rehearsal

 JUNE (PDAVS)

- Graduation Rehearsal
 JUNE (PDAYS)
 Graduation, 11:00 a.m.
 Science MCAS
 Tentative Last Day Students/Term III Ends
 185th Day
 School Committee

FEBRUARY 2019

S	M	T	W	R	F	S
В					1	2
A	4	5	6	7	8	9
В	11	12	13	14	15	16
17	18	19	20	21	22	23
A	25	26	27	28		

MARCH 2019

THE MICH 2017							
S	M	T	W	R	F	S	
A					1	2	
В	4	5	6	7	8	9	
A	11	12	13	14	15	16	
В	18	19	20	21	22	23	
Α	25	26	27	28	29	30	

APRIL 2019

7 11	THI KILL ZOTA						
S	M	T	W	R	F	S	
В	1	2	3	4	5	6	
A	8	9	10	11	12	13	
14	15	16	17	18	19	20	
В	22	23	24	25	26	27	
A	29	30					

May 2019

S	M	T	W	R	F	S
A			1	2	3	4
В	6	7	8	9	10	11
A	13	14	15	16	17	18
В	20	21	22	23	24	25
A	27	28	29	30	31	

JUNE 2019

JU	NE Z	.015	,			
S	M	T	W	R	F	S
A						1
В	3	4	5	6	7	8
A	10	11	12	13	14	15
В	17	18	19	20	21	22
2.2	2.4	25	2.0	27	20	20

23 24 25 26 27 28 29 BOLDED DATES – SCHEDULED SCHOOL COMMITTEE MEETINGS

PRINCIPAL'S MESSAGE TO STUDENTS AND PARENTS

Dear Students and Parents.

The purpose of this handbook is to provide you with important information about your school. You should refer to it whenever you are in doubt about rules, policies or services pertaining to you.

Keefe Regional Technical School offers its students excellent academic and career-technical training opportunities. You are about to become part of a learning community that has been in existence since September 1973. An appreciation for diversity and its multicultural student body offers the Keefe Tech student body a true sense of the real world.

In addition to career-technical and academic instruction, Keefe Regional Technical School offers many additional special opportunities and services. Among these are: athletics and numerous club activities that will further enhance your opportunities for personal growth. There is no limit to what you can achieve if you invest your time and effort into mastering your academic, individual, and career-technical goals.

Please take advantage of the many opportunities for a rich and rewarding high school experience. I am confident that the 2018-2019 school year will provide many challenges and successes for you as a student and as an individual.

Sincerely,

Shannon Snow, Ed.D Principal

Shannon Snow

KEEFE REGIONAL TECHNICAL SCHOOL



MISSION STATEMENT

Our mission is to challenge students to demonstrate the academic, technical, and interpersonal skills necessary for lifelong learning.

PHILOSOPHY

Our central purpose is to provide up-to-date technical training and marketable skills to high school students. Curricula are designed to integrate career/technical and academic areas. This training will ultimately lead to satisfying employment in our global economy. Our students may become directly employed after graduation or after pursuing further education.

Academic core subjects are English, Mathematics, Sciences, and Social Studies. A wide range of instructional settings exists to help all students achieve their individual maximum competencies. Co-curricular and extracurricular activities further support student development.

At Keefe Regional Technical School, a student's complete education includes the development of good work habits, citizenship and a desire for lifelong learning. Our programs foster student self-esteem, self-respect, and social awareness. Students are to participate actively in their education and to make learning their primary goal. During their training, students will undertake school projects that will benefit our member communities and their residents.

We provide our students with skills and academic training in a safe learning environment. It is the responsibility of staff and students to develop positive relationships throughout the school. Instructors will help to foster these relationships by teaching in structured, challenging, and supportive settings. The Keefe Regional Technical School Administration will help instructors and students by providing an avenue for open and constructive dialogue within a well-disciplined environment

CORE VALUES: Integrity, High Expectations, Life-long Learning and Diversity

GOALS

- To continue to develop a positive image and awareness of the unique opportunities at Keefe Regional Technical School through community relationships and recruitment.
- To ensure that all students are given access to the opportunity to succeed in high quality academic and career/technical program.
- 3. To provide career/technical programs that will include the skills necessary to enable students to meet the standards set by the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. These standards include Health and Safety Knowledge, Technical Knowledge, Embedded Academic Knowledge, Employability Knowledge, Management and Entrepreneurship, and Principles of Technology.
- 4. To ensure a safe and secure educational environment.
- 5. To continue to develop a school culture focused on high achievement for all students.
- To foster literacy and numeracy across the curriculum in both academic and career/technical areas.
- To accommodate various learning styles through a variety of instructional modalities.
- 8. To move all students into proficient categories on all required MCAS
- To foster an appreciation for diversity through multicultural activities and events.
- 10. To increase student involvement in the school community and the community-at-large through activities, athletics, and community events.
- 11. To provide professional development opportunities for faculty that focus on enhancing instructional skills and students needs as indicated through student data.
- 12. To set high standards for both students and faculty through academic, career/technical, civic, and social expectations for learning.
- 13. To prepare students to be life-long learners.

ABOUT KEEFE

How does the Keefe Regional Technical School schedule fit academic and career/technical programs together?

At Keefe Regional Technical School, the schedule has been designed to maximize career and technical education opportunities while fostering excellence in education.

In the 9th grade year, students take a full academic program which includes the major subjects of Language Arts, Mathematics, Science, and Social Studies. Students also participate in a Career Exploratory program where they experience a number of career and technical area to make an informed choice for their remaining three years.

In Grade 10, students alternate between a full week of academics and a full week of career and technical education. By alternating career/technical and academic weeks, students receive intensive training in both areas. While acquiring valuable career and technical training, students may also develop the academic credentials to apply to a variety of college options, including four-year state schools.

Students at Keefe Regional Technical School receive both career and technical training and college preparation through our schedule.

Does the student or family have to pay to attend Keefe Regional Technical School?

Not directly. Like other schools, Keefe Regional Technical School is funded by contributions from towns, grants, and federal programs. While the whole community contributes to the school through their town's funding, there are no direct or separate costs for a student who attends. Keefe Regional Technical School students attend school without activity fees or other direct costs.

DISCRIMINATION NOTICE

Keefe Regional Technical School does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, age,, gender identity, religion, limited English proficiency, sexual orientation, disability or housing status in admission to, access to, treatment in, or employment in its programs and activities.

Students or staff members should contact the designated Civil Rights Coordinator with inquiries regarding harassment, discrimination, and non-discrimination policies:

Adrienne Bogusky,
Civil Rights Coordinator & Title IX Coordinator
or
Ken Collins, Assistant Principal/Discipline
South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District
750 Winter Street
Framingham, MA 01702
508-416-2100

Inquiries concerning the application of non-discrimination policies may also be referred to the Regional Director, Office for Civil Rights, U. S. Department of Education, Post Office Square, Boston, MA 02110).

SECTION 504

The Rehabilitation Act of 1973, commonly referred to as Section 504, is a non-discrimination statute enacted by the United States Congress. The purpose of the Act is to prohibit discrimination and to assure that within the public schools disabled students have access to educational opportunities and benefits equal to those provided to non-disabled students.

An eligible student under Section 504 is a student who (a) currently has, (b) has a record of having, or (c) is regarded as having a physical or mental impairment which substantially limits one or more major life activities. Major life activities include caring for one's self, performing manual tasks, walking, seeing, hearing, speaking, breathing, working, and learning. The handicapping condition need only substantially limit one major life activity in order for the student to be eligible.

Parent/Guardian should contact Adrienne Bogusky Director of Guidance & Admissions at 508-416-2270 regarding the development of a Section 504 Accommodation Plan.

HOMELESS STUDENTS

The McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act requires that school districts immediately provide support to homeless students. Parents/Guardians should contact Adrienne Bogusky Director of Guidance & Admissions, at 508-416-2270 for information.

BELL & LUNCH SCHEDULE

7:25 a.m.	Locker Bell
7:30 a.m.	Warning Bell
7:33 - 8:35 a.m.	Period 1
8:38 - 9:35 a.m.	Period 2
9:38 - 10:35 a.m.	Period 3
10:38 - 12:00 p.m.	Period 4
12:03 - 1:00 p.m.	Period 5
1:03 - 2:00 p.m.	Period 6
10:35 – 11:00 a.m.	1st lunch (Grade 9
	- 1 4 4 / 4

10:35 – 11:00 a.m. 1st lunch (Grade 9) 11:35 – 12:00 p.m. 2rd lunch (Academics) 12:00-12:25 p.m. 3rd lunch (CTE)

A late bus will run on Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, and Thursday. The bus will leave from the gym end of the building at 3:05. A sports bus will run Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday, and Friday. The bus will leave from the gym end of the building at 5:15 P.M. A pass is required to board the bus.

SECTION II: OPERATIONAL PROCEDURES

AFTER-SCHOOL ACTIVITIES

Students are welcome to stay after school for extra help or to participate in extra-curricular or athletic activities. Students who remain in the building after 2:00 p.m. must be in a supervised area. They need a pass to travel from one supervised area to another. They also need a bus pass to take the after school bus.

ATTENDANCE POLICY

Massachusetts law requires compulsory attendance for all students. Chapter 76, section 1 of the Massachusetts General Laws requires all children between the ages of six and 16 to attend school. The law permits a school district to excuse up to seven day sessions or fourteen partial day sessions in any six-month period.

Students may lose credit for any classes, academic and vocational, if they have accrued 12 or more unexcused absences during the school year.

- After 4 unexcused absences, a warning letter will be sent home.
- After 8 unexcused absences, a second warning letter is sent home, informing parents/guardians with information regarding the appeals process.
- After 12 unexcused absences, a letter of no credit is sent home, requiring the appeals process to take place in order to regain credit.
- After 16 unexcused and excused absences, an automatic appeals process will take place unless extenuating circumstances apply.

Appeals Process

If a student is absent from any class or shop for more than twelve unexcused or 16 total days for the entire school year, school officials will take one or more of the following actions:

- Scheduling and holding a parent conference with the guidance counselor to discuss the school's attendance policy and to develop a proactive attendance plan.
- Scheduling and holding an attendance meeting with the parents, administrator and School Truancy Officer.
- Possible loss of credit and/or retention in the current grade.
- Students wishing to appeal a loss of credit for the year must submit a written petition to the Administration.

In the event that a student has accumulated more than four (4) unexcused absences at the end of 60 days, each absence beyond four must be made up through attendance at Saturday School. (Equivalent replacement hours may be accrue through attendance at the Keefe Regional Technical School After-School Help Program but must be done during the week following notification.)

If a student has accumulated more than eight (8) unexcused absences at the end of 120 days, each absence beyond eight must be made up through attendance at Saturday School. (Equivalent replacement hours may be accrued through attendance at the Keefe Regional Technical School After-School Help Program but must be done during the week following notification.)

Students will complete ongoing school assignments and/or be given appropriate substitute assignments. Students must attend Saturday School when assigned. Any time a student fails to attend Saturday School, parents/guardians and the student will be scheduled a meeting with the Administration team which includes all assistant principals and a guidance representative to plan absence makeup. (Equivalent replacement hours may be accrued through attendance at the Keefe Regional Technical School After-School Help Program but must be done during the week following notification.)

There are no exceptions to these guidelines. Documentation or verification must be provided for all excused absences.

Department of Education Attendance Requirement for MCAS Appeal

Students wishing to qualify for an MCAS appeal must not exceed 9 days of unexcused absences for the year.

Tardiness to School

Policy

Unexcused tardiness to school is unacceptable. Students who are consistently tardy to school risk loss of credit for loss of classroom instruction time. Unexcused tardiness after 11:00 a.m. will count as one day of unexcused absence. Accrued tardy time will be added to the number of school days missed which must be made up in order to gain credit for that school year.

Note: Students will be limited to 12 unexcused absences per year in order to receive credit for their classes unless absences have been made up in Saturday School, the After School program or with Administrative approval.

Procedure

Students who are tardy must immediately report to the front office. On the following day, a note from the parent or guardian explaining the reason for tardiness must be submitted to the attendance secretary. Excessive tardiness will result in an assigned Saturday School to make up time.

Tardiness to Class Policy

Students have three minutes to travel from one class to the next. This is sufficient to be punctual no matter where in the building your next class happens to be. Students are responsible for determining what materials from their lockers should be carried in order to arrive to class on time.

Tardiness to Class: If you are late for class, the teacher will welcome you into class and will administer classroom level discipline or refer you to the discipline office.

Truancy

Students absent from school without permission of a parent or guardian will be subject to appropriate disciplinary and legal action. Also, a day of truancy is counted as an unexcused absence.

Dismissals

Policy: Dismissal before 11:00 a.m. will count as an unexcused absence unless proper documentation is provided to qualify as an excused absence. Students must submit dismissal requests to the Attendance Secretary before

9:00 a.m. If an emergency arises during the day and a student must be dismissed, a parent or guardian must come to the school to pick up his/her child. Students being dismissed are to remain in class until parent or guardian has arrived to pick them up.

Perfect Attendance

Students who have Perfect Attendance for any term will be recognized by the Administration with a "Certificate of Perfect Attendance". Perfect attendance means no absences, tardies, or dismissals.

Senior Privilege

Keefe Regional Technical School has a rotating schedule based on movement in periods 1-3 and movement in periods 4-6 over both the A and B week cycles.

Grade 12 students will have the option of selecting Learning Strategies (independent regular education study block) as one of their elective courses. Grade 12 students in good standing who are enrolled in a Learning Strategies course may be permitted to arrive to school at a delayed time or leave school prior to the end of the scheduled day as a "senior privilege" when that course meets in the first or last rotation block of the day.

The Senior Privilege Program is based on progress reports, report cards, discipline, and attendance data gathered from the previous term. Students wishing to be considered for Senior Privilege must complete an application form that may be obtained in the Guidance Office.

Senior Privilege will consist of the following:

- Eligible seniors who have a first period study may sign in at the Main Office no later than 8:35 a.m.
- Eligible seniors who have a last period study may be dismissed from the Main Office after their last scheduled class. Students must leave the premises immediately after signing out.

In order to qualify for Senior Privileges, students must meet the following standards in the preceding academic term:

- 70 average or above in all Academic and Career and Tech Courses
- No suspensions
- Compliance with the attendance policy
- No more than five tardies.

Eligibility is determined on a term-by-term basis, but students need to only apply once if they maintain the above standards. Students have the right to re-apply for privileges at the beginning of each term.

The following issues may result in the loss of senior privilege:

- Three unexcused tardies to school
- One truancy
- One cut class
- Leaving the building without permission
- Any disciplinary infraction resulting in a suspension
- Violation of parking provisions
- Incidents occurring when students are outside the building and exercising Senior Privilege may be subject to the same disciplinary action as for in-school activities.

CANCELLATION OF CLASSES / 2-HOUR DELAYED OPENING

In case of severe weather, there is the possibility school may close or start two hours later than usual. "Alert Now System" and television stations are used to inform parents/students of school cancellations and delays.

Please note that the announcements on the radio and TV will specifically state "Keefe Regional Technical School". If it is announced that the towns of Ashland, Framingham, Holliston, Hopkinton, or Natick have changed their school schedule, it does not mean that Keefe Regional Technical School has made the same change.

Delayed Openings - Should the decision be made for a 2-hour delayed opening, the following will occur:

- The first period of the day will begin at 9:33 and attendance will be taken as usual during this period.
- At 9:33 a.m., students will proceed to the first class of the day. The
 existing bell schedule will be used for the remainder of the day with no
 changes in the lunch or dismissal times.

COMPUTER AND TABLET TECHNOLOGY USE

Use of computer networks and the Internet, a vast network that links together computers worldwide, has become the standard for disseminating information and communicating with others. However, with this great potential for educational use comes the potential for abuse. It is the purpose of this Agreement to make sure that these resources are used appropriately for educational purposes. All students and parents must read and sign the acceptable use policy that is at the end of this Student Handbook as a condition for using school-owned technology.

Disclaimer:

- Keefe Regional Technical School will not be liable for the actions of anyone connecting to the Internet through this hookup. Users shall assume full liability, legal, financial or otherwise for their actions.
- Keefe Regional Technical School is not responsible for the reliability of the data connection and shall not be liable for any loss or corruption of data resulting from use of the Internet.

Summary:

The use of school technology is a privilege. Unauthorized or illegal use of, or access to, computers, software, telecommunications and related technologies, any willful act that causes physical, financial or other harm or otherwise disrupts information technology may result in loss of privilege, school disciplinary action, or possible civil and criminal legal action. Keefe Regional Technical School reserves the right to change or modify its Acceptable Use Policy without notice.

COMPUTERIZED TELEPHONE MESSAGES

"Blackboard Connect," a computer program which generates telephone calls, will contact each student's home and parents' cell/work phones (if they have been provided to the school) to inform parents/students of school cancellations, delays, or emergency situations. In addition, special announcements will be conveyed via the Alert Now System.

CRISIS CODES

Keefe Regional Technical School is in compliance with the regulations of the school district communities regarding emergency situations. Parents who wish to know more about the crisis protocol may contact the principal. For security purposes and to maintain the integrity of the protocol, access to the protocol may be restricted.

FIRE DRILL AND EVACUATION PROCEDURE CODE RED

Every classroom, technical area, and laboratory, as well as other building locations, prominently display exit signs indicating the exit to be used during building evacuations.

When the fire alarm sounds, we become jointly responsible for one another's safety, and, therefore, must quietly and immediately exit the building.

These rules are necessary for the protection of all students and staff. Any infraction will be reported to the Administration.

DISCIPLINE SYSTEM

An Atmosphere of Respect

Keefe Regional Technical School believes strongly that a positive school atmosphere is not only more conducive to learning but also one which makes each day more enjoyable for students and staff.

In order for this positive atmosphere to exist, students are expected to demonstrate respect throughout the course of each school day. Keefe Regional Technical School encourages respect for teachers and staff. Keefe Regional Technical School also encourages respect for fellow students

Respect for teachers and staff, for each other, and for school property will help to ensure that students and staff are provided with a positive atmosphere conducive to learning and to a pleasant working environment.

Discipline Rules and Consequences

Keefe Regional Technical School will employ a pro-active approach toward discipline. Administrators will involve students, teachers and parents/guardians in collaborative interventions.

The provisions regarding these rules and consequences apply whenever students are involved in:

- School activities on school property
- Travel on school buses
- School-sponsored activities, on or off school grounds, such as sporting events, field trips, and career/technical student organization trips/competitions
- School-related problems, which are the result of disruptive behavior at school
- To and from school

If the offense is serious enough, a discipline referral with facts about the situation will be sent to the discipline office. You will be asked to explain what happened. There may be further investigation and consequences. Chronic or more significant patterns of problematic behavior will result in progressive disciplinary actions.

Disregard for direction to report to an administrator may result in a 1-10 day suspension.

Non-compliance to discipline policies and accumulated offenses – Students may be suspended due to repeated violations of the Code of Behavior but

every effort will be made to involve students, teachers and parents/guardians in collaborative interventions.

Offenses are designated by level of degree of severity:

Use 1, 2, or 3 depending on level.

Below is a list of examples of some level (1, 2, or 3) behaviors. This is not an exhaustive list of offenses, and the Administration reserves the right to assign an appropriate level designation to the incident and maintains final authority on the consequences issued for the offense.

Level 1:

Teachers are encouraged to be primarily responsible for as much of their own discipline as possible. It is recommended that teachers use teacher/student conferences, detentions, and parent conferences as part of their classroom management plan. Minor issues that do not significantly disrupt the learning process are expected to be addressed without administrative intervention. They include but are not limited to:

> Cafeteria Violation Cheating - Minor

Chronic Failure to be prepared for Class

Communication Devices

Continuous failure to follow rules may result in a Saturday detention (SD), in-school suspension (ISS) or out-of-school suspension (OSS).

Electronic Devices for Entertainment

Disrespect

Disruption

Disruption during Pledge of Allegiance/Moment of Silence

Dress Code

Food or Drink in Halls

Insubordinate Behavior in Class/Shop

Public Display of Affection

Tardiness

Unauthorized Sales

Unsafe Behavior

Level 2:

For offenses that cause a significant disruption to the learning environment, recommended consequences include parental contact, teacher detention, administrative detention, Saturday detention (SD), in-school suspension (ISS) or out-of-school suspension (OSS). Issues that significantly disrupt the learning environment are often referred to Administration. They include but are not limited to:

Bullying / Cyber bullying

Bus Violation

Cars/Vehicles Improper Use

Cheating

Defiance

Disrespect

Forgery

Gambling

Harassment

Inappropriate use of camera or other recording device

Instigating a School Disturbance

Insubordination

Leaving School without Permission

Loitering

Misuse of Technology

Obscenity/Profanity

Plagiarism (Academic Dishonesty)

Skipping School / Truancy

Standing By As Others Violate Rules

State of undress

Theft

Tobacco Violation

Unassigned Area

Unauthorized sales

Unsportsmanlike or Inappropriate Behavior at School-sponsored activities

Vandalism

Vaporizer/e-cigarette violation

Verbal Assault of another student

Level 3:

Major offenses will receive the most severe disciplinary actions, such as outof-school suspensions (OSS) and/or potential expulsion from Keefe Regional Technical School. All Level 3 offenses are expected to be referred to Administration. They include but are not limited to:

Alcohol

Arson, Attempt to Bomb, or to Destroy a School Building or Property

Cheating - Major

Discrimination

Drugs and Other Substances (over-the-counter medication and legal substances being used for the purpose of altering the mind and body are prohibited)

Failure to Identify Yourself to a Staff Member

Fire Regulation Violation

Fighting/Physical Abuse

Group/Mob Action

Hazing

Indecent Exposure

Indecent Material
Physical Assault or Threat of a Staff Member
Physical Assault or Threat of another Student
Sexual Misconduct
Trespassing Violation
Verbal Assault of a Staff Member
Weapon, Failure to Report
Weapon Violation

DETENTION SYSTEM

Detention is set up to encourage you to take responsibility for your actions. You are expected to follow the reasonable regulations of the school. The system is set up in steps or levels.

Teacher Detention:

If a teacher detention is assigned, you will be given at least a 24-hour notice. Such detentions are to be served on Tuesday, Wednesday, or Thursday. Transportation will be provided by a late bus. The late bus is also available on Monday.

Administrative Detention:

Administrative detention is scheduled from 2:05 p.m. to 2:50 p.m. and may be assigned Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday or Thursday. 3:00 p.m. late bus transport will be available for students. Students will be given 24 hours to make arrangements for this detention. There are academic requirements for detention in order to receive credit. Students must bring school work with them to receive credit. Failure to report to an administrative detention may result in a Saturday detention.

Internal Suspension or In School Suspension (ISS):

Internal suspension consists of a day long student assignment in one separate classroom. Academic assignments will be issued to students and must be completed by the end of the day. Students will have lunch in the internal suspension room. Students may not leave the internal suspension room except for restroom privileges and/or emergencies. Internally suspended students may not attend any school-sponsored activity, including athletic events, during or after school on the day of their suspension. Students must cooperate fully to receive credit for completion of internal suspension or they will be subject to further disciplinary action. The Administration reserves the right to determine when an internal suspension is warranted.

External Suspension or Out of School Suspension (OSS):

External suspension will be assigned for serious or accumulated infractions. Suspension must be served off school property. Externally suspended students cannot come onto school property or attend any school-sponsored activity during their suspension, including a co-op or intern position.

Students will be afforded all due process rights pursuant to state and federal laws. In determining the length of a suspension, the following will be considered:

- The student's previous disciplinary record
- The severity of disruption of the educational process
- The degree of danger to self, others, and the school in general
- The degree to which the student is willing to change his/her behavior

Suspension Record:

A written record of student's suspension will be placed in their discipline record and in the student record file located in the Guidance Office.

Saturday Detention Work/Academic Program:

For certain offenses, students may be assigned a Saturday Detention in lieu of suspension from school. The major goal of the Saturday Detention Program is to reduce loss of valuable time from academic and career and technical instruction. An administrator will determine if the student meets the criteria for participation in the Saturday Detention Program. Student assignments during the Saturday Detention Program will be at the discretion of the Administration. Students are required to report to the school by 7:30 a.m. and will be dismissed by 10:30 a.m. Students will be required to bring academic work (homework, assignments, etc.) or academic work will be provided. Students will not receive a break except for restroom privileges. Students may be assigned maintenance/cleaning duties or other tasks deemed appropriate by the supervisor.

Saturday Detention Program Expectations:

If the student's performance, behavior or attitude is poor, the student may not be allowed to complete the day in the program and will be subject to further discipline. Failure to report to the assigned Saturday detention session will result in a mandatory parent/guardian meeting with an administrator upon the student's return to school. At the conclusion of that meeting, another Saturday detention will be assigned and an internal suspension will be served that day.

DRESS CODE

The goal of the dress code is to promote the wearing of attire that would be appropriate for business and industry.

Overly revealing attire, lack of attire or any other apparel deemed disruptive to the educational process will not be permitted.

Beachwear is not acceptable school dress. Shorts may be worn, but must be mid-thigh. Tube tops and shirts with straps less than two inches wide are

not allowed. Jeans/pants worn low on the hip that reveal underwear are not allowed.

Students are expected to dress in a manner that is consistent with program expectations and safety requirements.

Clothing that displays symbols, words or negative affiliations that are disruptive to the school environment are not permitted.

Students are expected to follow the rules specific to their classroom or shop. The dress code applies to female and male students.

DRIVING AND PARKING

Students must apply to the office for a permit to drive to and from school. Permits will be granted on the basis of the following criteria:

Driving and Parking Responsibilities

- 1. Those students who want to bring their cars to school must apply at the Assistant Principal Office. Preference for a parking space will be given to Co-op students and upper class members. The student's parent must sign the application indicating approval and that the vehicle is properly insured for a teenage driver. Every approved applicant will be provided an assigned numbered spot with a parking sticker that will be placed in the car window. When the car is on campus, this sticker must be displayed at all times. If a student's privilege to drive is suspended, the sticker will be removed by the student and given to the Administration.
- Students must sign a statement indicating that they have been given a copy of school driving and parking regulations and that they fully understand these regulations and will abide by them.
- 3. Students are not permitted to go to vehicles or be in the parking lot during the school day without administrative permission. There is to be no loitering in or near cars on the school grounds.

4. Driving Rules:

- a. Students will leave via the student parking area exit.
- b. Automobiles are to be driven with extreme caution. Students must not exceed 15 m.p.h. or drive so as to endanger.
- Students are forbidden to park or drive cars in the Framingham bus lot and Cushing parking lot.
- d. When buses begin to leave the grounds, vehicles in the students' area will remain in the area until the last bus has departed.
- e. No vehicles will be permitted to pass school buses while said buses are loading or discharging students. Any violation of this regulation may result in a referral to the police.

- f. Students are expected to wear seatbelts in compliance with Massachusetts State Law in order to provide a safe driving environment for the driver and passengers.
- g. Excessive tardiness to school may result in loss of parking privileges.
- Vehicles parked in non-student parking areas are subject to towing. The student is responsible for any and all charges related to the removal of the vehicle from an unauthorized area.
- 6. If you are involved in an accident, please report it immediately. All accidents involving school personnel and students must be reported in writing immediately following the accident. Accident forms are available in the school nurse's office. If accidents are not reported promptly, individuals take the risk of not being insured under the school's insurance policies.

Violation of any of the rules and responsibilities listed above can result in suspension or revocation of a student's parking permit.

The South Middlesex Regional Technical School District is not responsible for vehicles, their contents, vandalism, or any type of damage done to any vehicle while parked on this campus.

ELECTRONIC DEVICES

At Keefe Regional Technical School, electronic devices may not be used after the 7:30 a.m. bell or during the school day, with the exception of the cafeteria during the students' assigned lunch period. These devices must be turned off during school hours. These rules will be strictly enforced. Electronic devices may be confiscated for the day if students are using them without authorization. Devices should be put away during instructional time. Students and parents must be aware that the school is not responsible for these items and will not investigate lost or stolen electronic devices that are not required for instructional purposes. Cell phone restrictions would not apply in legitimate emergencies involving health and/or safety. These devices include, but are not limited to, cellular phones, headphones, PSPs, iPods, and Electronic Devices should be put away during instructional time, unless otherwise directed by teacher for educational purposes. Devices should not be used outside the classroom without permission, during instructional time. Devices cannot be used to interrupt he education process.

ELEVATOR

A student needing temporary use of the elevator must provide a physician's note to the school nurse, indicating is the medical reason and when the student will be able to function without the assistance of the elevator. Students requiring long-term use of the elevator may contact Michael Dolan, Coordinator of

Special Education at 508-416-2273. No student is allowed in the elevator without permission. Misuse of this privilege will result in disciplinary action.

FINDING HELP ("WHERE TO GO" LIST)

The following list is made up some common areas of student and parent concern. This list will direct you to someone who can answer questions you may have or help solve a problem.

ARRIVING LATE or BEING DISMISSED	MAIN OFFICE
BILINGUAL / ENGLISH LANGUAGE LEARNER PROGRAM	SCHOOL COUNSELOR
BRINGING CAR TO SCHOOL	ASSISTANT PRINCIPAL OFFICE
BUS PROBLEMS	ASSISTANT PRINCIPAL OFFICE
FEELING SICK	NURSE'S OFFICE
FREE / REDUCED LUNCH and BREAKFAST APPLICATIONS	CAFETERIA or SCHOOL COUNSELOR
INFORMATION: College / Future Plans Armed Services	SCHOOL COUNSELOR
JOINING CLUBS or ORGANIZATIONS	ASSISTANT PRINCIPAL OFFICE
LOCKER PROBLEMS	MAIN OFFICE
LOST and FOUND	MAIN OFFICE
PLAYING SPORTS	ATHLETIC DIRECTOR
PREGNANCY QUESTIONS or CONCERNS	NURSE'S OFFICE OR SCHOOL COUNSELOR
SAFETY	SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER OR MAIN OFFICE
SPECIAL EDUCATION or 504 QUESTIONS	SCHOOL COUNSELOR
STAYING AFTER SCHOOL	SCHOOL COUNSELOR or TEACHER

IDENTIFICATION CARDS

Upon admission to Keefe Regional Technical School, all students will be issued a picture I.D. card and identification number. Student I.D. cards will be provided on the first day of school. Transfer students can receive an ID card at lunch and this should be arranged by the assigned guidance counselor. This identification card must be worn/carried at all times during the course of the school day. The purpose of I.D. cards is for increased security within the school and at school-sponsored activities. Students must show their I.D. card upon request by a Keefe Regional Technical School faculty or staff member. Failure to do so will result in disciplinary action. Students also need their I.D. cards or pin numbers to purchase any food from the cafeteria. Lost I.D. cards may be replaced for a fee of \$2.00.

LAVATORY USE

Students in career/technical programs with restrooms should use restrooms within that area. Students in academics should use the restrooms closest to their assigned classroom. Students must always have a corridor pass when released to go to a lavatory. Students are responsible for assisting in keeping the restrooms clean. The gender neutral restroom is for students only of any gender. This restroom is not intended for groups of students to use at one time.

LOCKERS AND PERSONAL PROPERTY

The locker and its space are the property of the school. Student lockers are subject to inspection, and the Administration retains a duplicate of the combination, or a master key, which permits them to open every locker. The locker may be opened at any time, with or without your presence, under the direction of the school principal. Do not place valuable items in your locker. They are not secure and the school takes no responsibility for anything lost from your locker. Padlocks are your responsibility. There is a \$5.00 replacement fee for lost or stolen locks. Students may only use school-issued locks with the exception of physical education and athletics lockers.

LOST AND FOUND

Any student who finds a lost article is requested to turn in this item at the Main Office. Items such as jackets and sneakers are kept in the Lost and Found closet in the Main Office. Valuables such as jewelry, wallets, cell phones, and keys are kept in the main office.

MEDICATIONS

Medication to be taken in school must be delivered to the school nurse by a parent or other designated adult in a pharmacy-labeled container and be accompanied by a licensed prescriber's order which states what the medication is, why it is being administered, the dosage to be given, and what time it should be given. A note of parent/guardian permission for the nurse or her designee to administer the medication must also accompany the medication. The appropriate medication forms are enclosed in the Admission Packet; they may also be obtained from the nurse's office.

Please Note: This policy applies to all medications, both prescription and "over-the-counter medications," including Tylenol and Advil.

PARENT/GUARDIAN CONFERENCES

Parent(s) or guardian(s) may confer with teachers, counselors, or administrators at any reasonable time during the course of the school day. Meetings with teachers or counselors should be made by appointment, in advance. The main school telephone number is 508-416-2100. Conferences regarding the technical program or academic progress of a student are arranged through the School Counselor at 508-416-2270. If you wish to discuss your child's attendance record, please call the Attendance Secretary, at 508-416-2259. If you wish to discuss your child's discipline record, please call Assistant Principal – Discipline, at 508-416-2260.

PASSES

A corridor pass is a permit to allow a student to be out of a classroom or technical program area. At no time should a student be out of a classroom or career/technical program area without proper documentation. Students must take the most direct route to their destination. Requests for passes must be kept to a minimum since they reduce time in learning.

SAFE SCHOOL POLICY

Each career-technical department will post its own set of safety rules. It is the responsibility of each student to know thoroughly and observe completely the safety rules of his/her department. Individual departments will give a safety examination to each student, which he/she must pass in order to use the machinery in the technical program area.

SCHOOL PROPERTY

Everyone is asked to respect school property and display pride in keeping the corridors, rooms, and grounds free of paper and refuse. Those who are careless will be held liable for the cost of damages they cause and for properties they lose. The original condition of the property and the extent of the damage determine the assessment. Example: Each student is responsible for the desk that he/she uses and will be required to refinish or pay for refinishing a desk if it is defaced. Students defacing school property may be suspended.

Textbooks and other books found in the school should be turned in to the Main Office. Replacement books may be obtained from your subject teacher, if available.

SEARCHES OF STUDENTS, SCHOOL PROPERTY, AND VEHICLES ON SCHOOL PROPERTY

The Principal or his/her designee retains the right to search lockers, desks, student vehicles on school property, or other storage if there is reason or cause to believe that the student has in his/her possession any item, the possession of which would constitute a violation of school rules or a criminal offense under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

SMOKING VIOLATIONS

Because it is prohibited and disruptive to the school environment, possession and use of tobacco, tobacco products, marijuana, vaporizers, electronic cigarettes, other nicotine devices and vaporizer juices are forbidden on school property, job sites, sporting events and field trips. Students in violation of this are subject to school discipline.

TEXTBOOKS AND TOOLS

Students are responsible for caring for any school property that is assigned to them. It is recommended that all textbooks be covered. Students are responsible for ensuring that materials loaned to them are returned in good condition. Materials that are lost or damaged must be paid for by the student by the close of each school year.

If a student finds lost textbooks, tools, equipment, or padlocks, please return them to a teacher or into the Lost and Found in the Main Office.

All books, tools, and other school property must be returned before Graduation. Violation in returning school materials may prevent the student from participating in Graduation exercises.

VENDING MACHINES

Vending machines are available to students in the cafeteria during breakfast and lunch. Students are not allowed to purchase items from these machines except before and after school and during breakfast and lunch periods. Use of vending machines in locations other than the student cafeteria is prohibited during the school day.

VIDEO SURVEILLANCE EQUIPMENT

Video surveillance equipment is in use at Keefe Regional Technical School and will be used where necessary to identify any and all individuals in the building. Destruction/tampering with video surveillance equipment will result in disciplinary action.

VISITORS

Students may not bring students from other schools, friends, relatives, or acquaintances to visit school during the school day. The Guidance Office may schedule a student visit if the student is an applicant to Keefe Tech and the visit has been pre-arranged. No student may bring his/her own child to the building at any time. Violators of this policy will be given "notice of trespass". In the event that the unauthorized visitor should return to the campus, he/she can be arrested by the police.

Anyone wishing to enter the building that has legitimate business at the school must register in the Main Office and obtain the visitor's identification badge. All visitors must wear the I.D. badge while in the building. When leaving the building, the visitor must sign out and return the visitor's badge to the Main Office.

WITHDRAWAL

Any student who is considering withdrawing or leaving Keefe Regional Technical School is strongly encouraged to meet with his/her school counselor and the Director of Guidance/Admissions to review other program options available at Keefe Regional Technical School in order to obtain their high school diploma.

The student, along with his/her parent/guardian, should set up an appointment to review program options including the following:

- o Altering the school day schedule,
- o Transferring to another vocational-technical program available at Keefe Regional Technical School,

- o Returning to the local public/private school,
- o Registering for HiSet Exam (former G.E.D. exam).

Any questions regarding this process should be directed to the Guidance Office at 508-416-2270.

WORK PERMITS

Work permits are available in the Main Office. The student must have the promise of a job and the name and address of the company work site. The work permit is issued for that job only – a new certificate must be obtained for each new job. The Main Office has the necessary forms and instructions. Students may bring their information to the Attendance Secretary in the mornings and pick up their work permit at the end of the school day.

SECTION III: STUDENT SERVICES

SCHOOL COUNSELING SERVICES

School counseling services are an integral part of the complete educational process at Keefe Regional Technical School. The primary goal and function of the department is to assist ALL students through a planned program of developmental guidance and counseling services, to understand themselves in relation to their goals, abilities, interests, and needs. This planned program of services assists the students in developing the critical-thinking and decision-making skills necessary in order to formulate future goals and plans that help each student reach maximum growth potential. An appropriate school counseling program in the educational, career/technical, and personal/social domains is one that provides each student with a sense of belonging and stability during his/her high school years.

Such a program is a shared endeavor of the student, parent, and the school counselor. The guidance faculty assumes the roles of facilitator, teacher, consultant, advocate, and counselor in order to assist each student in his/her social, psychological, educational, career/technical goals, and in the development of a relevant Career Plan. Counselors are readily available to students and families by appointment and without appointments in times of significant need.

Every student is assigned a school counselor who will work with the students, parents, teachers, and other professionals. The counselor will assist the student in addressing concerns and decisions about course selections, school progress, personal and social relationships, and educational and career-technical planning. Some small group counseling and support groups are available. The school counseling department has a collection of career material and information on schools and colleges, scholarships, and supplementary material. It has established a network of referrals with community agencies to assist students and their families who are in need of specialized assistance.

The Keefe Regional Technical School Counseling Department aligns itself with the Massachusetts Model for Comprehensive School Counseling Programs by providing programs, classroom-based interventions and group and/or individual counseling that assist students in gaining the knowledge and skills for success in the academic/technical program, workplace readiness, and personal/social domains. Various developmental guidance programs are implemented with all grade levels throughout the year based on student need and department goals.

Beliefs/Goals

- To develop each student's decision-making capabilities particularly as related to educational, career/technical, and social development that includes the development of a relevant Career Plan.
- To help a student deal with personal problems and, if necessary, make referral to appropriate school or community resources.
- To assist in the student's transition/adjustment from middle school to high school and high school to adulthood.
- 4. To continually evaluate the student's academic progress and suggest to students and parents appropriate courses of action.
- 5. To assist parents and students in developing realistic perceptions of the student's aptitudes, abilities, and interests as they relate to educational/career planning and personal/social goals.
- 6. To serve as a consultant to administrators and teachers by providing and suggesting materials and experiences that will help them to better understand the individuality and unique needs of each student.
- 7. To foster in the student a sense of personal responsibility and a respect for ethnic and cultural diversity.

Extra Help

If students are having difficulty in their courses or have assignments to make up due to absences, they should see their teachers to arrange for help after school.

Students who exceed the maximum of 12 unexcused of 16 excused absences per year may lose credit for each course for which the attendance policy applies. Total credits for the school year will determine if the student meets promotion and/or graduation requirements. In order to regain credit, the student is required to complete an Attendance Appeal and may attend the After-School Program, Saturday School Program.

Tutoring

Students who are to be home or in the hospital for ten days or more, may make arrangements through the Guidance Department for a home tutor. Medical documentation must be provided and appropriate forms completed.

HEALTH SERVICES

The Nurse's Office is open each day during school hours and is located on the main floor near the Guidance Office. First aid is administered in case of accident or illness. No student is to be dismissed without parent/guardian or a designated responsible adult approval. It is necessary that an emergency form is completed and updated so a designated adult can be easily reached in case of an emergency.

Accident Insurance

This insurance is provided by the school at no cost to your parents. It is in effect during the time that school is in session. All accidents must be reported to your teacher and the school nurse. Accidents that occur within one hour after school or during sports activities must be reported to the school nurse the next day. Parent(s)/Guardians(s) must submit a claim to their own insurance company and any item that is not covered in their policy will then be covered under the aforementioned policy within the limits established. ALL BILLS CONCERNING A PARTICULAR CLAIM MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE INSURANCE COMPANY WITHIN 90 DAYS OF THE TREATMENT and are subject to the limitations of the primary insurance and established thresholds of the supplemental insurance offered at no charge to the parent/guardian. Parent(s)/Guardian(s) should also know that there is no school medical coverage for treatment that occurs one year from the date of the accident. Claim forms are available in the nurse's office. All claims must be sent directly to the insurance company.

Accidents

Report all accidents immediately. In the case of sudden illness or accident, first aid will be administered and if necessary the parent/guardian will be notified. First aid is immediate temporary care. The nurses do not treat illness or accidents that have occurred outside the school's jurisdiction.

Physical Exams and Immunizations

All incoming and transferring students must submit a copy of a recent physical exam (within 12 months) before beginning school at Keefe Regional Technical School. According to Massachusetts Law (Chapter 76, Section 15), every child attending a public school must be completely immunized, unless otherwise exempt. Students will be excluded from school if immunizations are not up to date and will not be readmitted until all required information has been brought to the Nurse's Office signed by the medical provider.

Student Athlete Physical Exams

Any candidate for an athletic team must have a complete physical before participating on the team each year. The examining physician must state that there are no restrictions for participating in the chosen athletic activity. A physical examination form must be on file in the Nurse's Office.

Vision and Hearing Screening

State health regulations require the school to do annual vision and hearing and postural screenings. This is done in the Nurse's Office. Parents will be notified if a referral for follow-through treatment is necessary.

Pregnant Students/New Mothers

Students who are pregnant or are new mothers will be offered support counseling, provided with referrals for appropriate community resources, and will be encouraged to check in regularly at the Nurse's Office.

Keefe Regional Technical School does not discriminate against students based on pregnancy or a condition related to a student's pregnancy, including lactation and the need to express breast milk for a nursing child. A student who is pregnant or who has a pregnancy-related condition my request reasonable accommodations that are necessary for the student to access the curriculum.

SPECIAL EDUCATION SERVICES

The Special Education Department supports students with disabilities who require specialized instruction in order to receive a free and appropriate public education. Despite the challenges that students with disabilities may face, they are instructed in accordance with the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks. Student needs are identified by the team meeting process and are met through instruction within a variety of educational settings.

Services may include support within the general education classrooms, additional support beyond the general classroom settings, and/or replacement of general education settings with small, specialized classes in an effort to meet the needs of varying levels of student abilities. While addressing individual student goals and benchmarks, all levels of classroom instruction and support services are based on alignment with the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks.

The Special Education Department works to advance general education curricula and the Massachusetts Common Core of Learning. Students are taught using specially designed materials and methods, cooperative learning approaches, and through the use of assistive technology devices and systems. Where appropriate, students with disabilities are included within general education settings. Paraprofessional support, in some instances, is provided in both academic and vocational settings in an effort to provide the student with a free and appropriate public education.

Each instructor within the Special Education Department is assigned a caseload of special education students to serve as that student's contact person. This instructor becomes another vital link to guidance, academic and vocational personnel.

LATE TRANSPORTATION

Late buses are provided on Mondays, Tuesdays, Wednesdays, and Thursdays at 3:05 P.M. to enable students to stay after school for extra help, make-up work, school activities or detention. Students must obtain a bus pass for that day from the teacher. A 5:15 p.m. bus is provided for athletic teams - Mondays through Fridays.

Although Keefe Regional Technical School provides late afternoon transportation for all after school activities, students and parents should be aware that the late bus may not drop students off at their regular bus stop, but rather combines bus stops into larger centralized drop-off areas that may be at greater distances from student's homes than their usual PM stops.

LIBRARY / MEDIA INFORMATION CENTER

The Keefe Regional Technical School Library is located on the top floor just above the Main Office. The library is a resource area which serves students, teachers, and counselors. It is staffed by a full-time librarian, six hours a day, five days a week.

The library is open from 7:20 a.m. until 2:30 p.m. on Wednesdays and Thursdays; until 2:00 p.m. on Mondays and Fridays, and 3:00 p.m. on Tuesdays. During class time, students must have a pass from their technical or academic teacher to be admitted into the library. They must also sign in when they arrive and sign out when they leave. After school, passes are not required but students must still sign in and out. Food and drinks are not allowed in the library.

Borrowing Regulations

- Books may be borrowed for two weeks or longer depending on the assignment. At the end of this period, books may be renewed by bringing them to the library.
- 2. Magazines may not be signed out.
- 3. Textbooks, library books, and tools are considered to be school property.
- The student is responsible for all materials signed out and will be charged for those items lost or damaged.

Overdue Materials

The following policy has been instituted to ensure the return of materials or the monetary value of school property not returned:

- Students whose materials are overdue by more than one month will stay
 after school each day until the materials are returned. Students not
 reporting to this detention will be referred to the discipline office.
- Seniors whose materials are overdue will not be able to participate in end of school year activities, such as field trips, purchase of prom tickets, etc.

Library Rules

- Bring a pass signed by your teacher to use the library during Periods 1-6.
- Work quietly.
- Show K.T. student I.D. card for internet use and checking out books.
- Return books by due date.
- Pay for lost or damaged books.

SCHOOL CAFETERIA SERVICES

The student cafeteria works under a Point of Sale (POS) system. Students need their school I.D. or pin numbers to purchase any food from the cafeteria. Meals can also be pre-paid by the week or month by check or through the Keefe Regional Technical School web site.

Breakfast Program

The cafeteria offers a light breakfast from 7:05 to 7:25 a.m. Those eligible for free or reduced lunches are also eligible for free or reduced breakfast. Students should take every opportunity to take advantage of this program.

Shop Break:

A 15 minute break is offered during shop week for to-go breakfast that is available for free and reduced meals, or mid-morning a la carte items for purchase. Orders must be placed through the cafeteria by 8:30 a.m. and is only for students in shop.

School Lunch Program

The lunch period is 25 minutes long. Students may bring their own lunch or buy one. Students will have the choice of the regular hot lunch or items a la carte.

Federal Free and Reduced Meal Program

Students may be eligible for free or reduced breakfast and lunch depending on parent's income. Applications for participating in the free or reduced breakfast and lunch programs are available in the main office, cafeteria, or homeroom and on the school's website.

A new direct certification process has been implemented by the state whereby students automatically receive free lunch and breakfast if the household qualifies for other assistance programs. A letter will be sent home notifying parent/guardian that their student qualifies under the direct certification program with no application required.

Procedures for Cafeteria Use

• Students may socialize quietly while at lunch.

- Students must observe proper dining room habits.
- No rolled money or bills over \$20 will be accepted.
- Each student needs his/her student I.D. or pin number to purchase food.
- Students must keep their area clean and place waste materials in the receptacles.
- Students must not take food or drink from the cafeteria during breakfast or lunchtime.
- Food and drink may not be consumed in the halls, classrooms, or shops, with the exception of shop breaks.
- Students may not order food from outside the building to be delivered to school during the school day.
- Failure to comply with cafeteria rules may result in loss of cafeteria privileges.

STUDENT ACTIVITIES

Keefe Regional Technical School students participate in many varied activities that enrich school life, enhance personal development and increase leadership ability. The purpose of school activities and clubs is to give students a chance to have some voice in school life, be active in a service group, enjoy an interest group activity, and increase their experiences and enjoyment at Keefe Regional Technical School. Students may access the schedule of student activities via the following internet link: www.keefetech.og.

Extra-curricular Eligibility Rules: A student cannot, at any time, represent Keefe Regional Technical School unless he/she is a student in good standing in his/her academic and Career/Technical programs. Students must be passing twelve credits based on the last marking period in order to be eligible for athletics and participation in activities.

Students are not allowed to attend school sponsored activities if they do not attend school on the day of the activity. Students must be present more than 50% of the school day in order to participate in any athletic event or school sponsored activity.

Conduct Requirement: When students of Keefe Regional Technical School are placed on a school suspension, they will not be allowed to participate in any extra-curricular activities including athletics during the time of their suspension.

American Culinary Federation (ACF)

The American Culinary Federation (ACF) is a professional organization for chefs and cooks. Founded in 1929, ACF promotes the professional image of American chefs worldwide through education of culinarians at all levels. ACF is the largest professional chefs' organization in North America. ACF offers culinary competitions, certification, national apprenticeship programs,

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019 Approved: 4/24/18

regional and national event magazines and much more to help foster the growth of professional chefs and the foodservice industry.

The ACF secondary and post-secondary programs offer free certification for students for one year after graduation from a post-secondary program. Students are also offered a complimentary subscription to *Sizzle*, ACF's quarterly magazine specifically for students pursuing a profession in culinary arts.

Membership in ACF offers:

- The latest in industry trends. Seminars and workshops at local, regional and national events; the flagship magazine, *The National Culinary Review*, and the bi-weekly newsletter, *The Culinary Insider*.
- Career recognition. Certification programs, competitions and awards to improve skills as a professional culinarian and enhance career opportunities.
- Accreditation for culinary education. A national accrediting commission for culinary and pastry education programs for secondary and post-secondary programs.
- An honor society. The American Academy of Chefs (AAC), promotes high standards and professionalism in culinary arts. AAC ensures the future of the culinary industry through mentoring and scholarship programs.
- Representation in international competitions. ACF Culinary Team
 USA represents the United States in multiple national and international
 competitions. Team USA exemplifies professionalism and creativity
 and has a long history of gold medals and world titles.
- Access to a Million-Member Intercontinental Society. All ACF members are simultaneously enrolled in the World Association of Chefs Society (WACS).
- A fight against childhood hunger and obesity. As a leading voice in the fight against childhood hunger and obesity, the *Chef & Child Foundation* provides education and assistance to promote the understanding of proper nutrition.
- Product quality assurance. The ACF Seal of Approval certifies product quality in the industry.
- A national apprenticeship program. ACF operates two and three-year apprenticeship programs that combine on-the-job training with technical classroom instruction.

Art Club

Keefe Regional Technical School's Art Club offers any and all students the chance to pursue their creativity in an open studio setting. Each week after school, we open up the Graphic Design Shop to allow interested students to work in a number of media. Drawing, sketching, painting, and computer graphics are just of the few of the many types of art created each week. The only requirement for joining us is a desire to be creative and express yourself through your art.

41

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019 Approved: 4/24/18

Business Professionals of America (BPA)

Business Professionals of America is a national student organization composed of state associations and local chapters serving persons pursuing careers in business and office occupations. The mission of BPA is to contribute to the preparation of a world-class workforce through the advancement of leadership, citizenship, academic and technological skills. Members participate in individual and team competitions in different business fields ranging from accounting and administrative assistant to web site development and word processing.

District, state, and national competitions are held to encourage students to prepare and to reward students that excel. These are administered at the various spring conferences. A fall state leadership conference is held in November for chapter officers and advisors. The spring state leadership conference is held in early March for all members. Competitions, elections, and social events are the main activities during this event. The spring conference has typically been in Framingham, and Keefe Regional Technical School has been the site for computer-based competitions. The national conference is held in early May; the site is different each year. Those students who placed in the top two core in individual competitions and the top two core in team competitions at the state conference are eligible to attend the national conference.

Besides successful results in the competitions, students may also attend the conferences by virtue of high achievement in the Torch Awards Program. Students accumulate points by participating in chapter and community activities. There are various honors associated with each level of achievement.

Chess Club

The emphasis of the Keefe Regional Technical School Chess Club is to learn and understand the game of chess in a relaxed atmosphere. The goals are to increase basic chess strategy and encourage friendly competition among the students.

Chorus Club

Keefe Regional Technical School's Chorus Club offers students the opportunity to learn to sing with a group of performers while learning popular songs. The singers are given the opportunity to apply the vocal concepts learned in the year-end musical performance. Students belonging to the Chorus will learn teamwork, a sense of commitment and ignite school spirit.

Dance Club

The Keefe Regional Technical School Dance Club students demonstrate creativity, determination, and exuberant school spirit as they cooperatively teach and learn new dance steps while creating a colorful dance show performed at the end of the dance season in May. The type of dance learned depends on the interest of the students. The students learned Hip Hop, Krump, and Latin dance. The season's practices run on Tuesday and Thursday from 2:25 pm until 4:45 pm. The dancers are expected to show dedication and respect to their team and school while representing the Keefe Regional Technical School Dance Club. Keefe Regional Technical School Dance Club students have performed and taught dance steps in the community at the Callahan Senior Center in Framingham.

Drama Club

The Keefe Regional Technical School Drama Club is open to any student. If you want to act on stage, or if you are interested in the technical or backstage aspects of a drama production, consider joining the Drama Club. You will make new friends, gain self-confidence and learn about the joys of theater! No previous acting or theater experience is necessary to join. The club will plan one or two performances per year. It meets after school two afternoons per week. This club is supported by the Arts Alive program.

Engineering Club

Interested students are welcome to join the Engineering Club, which meets weekly during second and third terms. Engineers are problem-solvers who design and build. They use computers to design and test products. As a career-technical student, you have practical hands-on skills to help you solve problems. In the Engineering Club, you can use these skills as you learn to use and apply CAD in the construction of small projects made of wood, metal, and plastic.

Future Farmers of America (FFA)

The Keefe Regional Technical School FFA focuses on promoting agricultural education. The FFA empowers students to create a future for themselves. FFA works hand in hand with agricultural education; its impact reaches far beyond preparing employees for the various opportunities available in the Green industry. FFA offers leadership development, personal growth, and career preparation.

FFA is a national organization of 450,000 members preparing for leadership and careers in the science, business and technology of agriculture. The FFA's mission is to make a positive difference in the lives of students by developing their potential for leadership, personal growth and career success. Local, state and national activities and award programs provide opportunities for students to apply knowledge and skills acquired in their educational program.

Gay Straight Alliance (GSA)

Gay-Straight Alliance is a youth leadership organization that is committed to creating safe environments in school for students as they support each other and learn about homophobia and other oppressions. The goal is to promote

tolerance and acceptance of all students with respect to gender, race, creed, ethnicity, or sexual preference. GSA is open to all students.

Leadership Academy

The purpose of the Leadership through Service program is to create a school culture where the collective positive energy of staff and students is channeled to empower our students, enhance school climate and strengthen the bonds between our school and the communities we serve. The school culture created would value respect, civic responsibility, character development and life-long learning. The vision is to encourage youthful energy and leadership impacting communities through service; to give ownership of the school improvement process to the students in the following ways: Develop a coalition of student leaders that will (be PILLARs in the community) Promote good citizenship and civic engagement; Inspire participation in school-community opportunities; Lead the school in service; Leave a legacy of pride in our school; Advise on school policy; Represent the school in the community.

National Art Honor Society

The National Art Honor Society is designed specifically for high school students in grades 9-12. Keefe Regional Technical School is part of the NAHS for the purpose of inspiring and recognizing those students who have shown an outstanding ability in art. The NAHS strives to aid members in working toward the attainment of the highest standards in art areas and to bring art education to the attention of the school and community.

National Honor Society

The Keefe Regional Technical School Chapter of the National Honor Society (NHS) was started in 1986. The NHS is a nationwide association sponsored by the National Association of Secondary School principals. It is dedicated to promoting appropriate recognition of students who demonstrate outstanding Character, Scholarship, Leadership, and Service. The NHS encourages students to grow academically and intellectually.

Membership in the NHS is an honor bestowed on 11th and 12th grade students who have been nominated for membership based on their good character, leadership, service and an academic average grade of 87.5 or better. Each spring the NHS Faculty Council meets to vote on student nominations. The Keefe Regional Technical School NHS does no fundraising; it is completely funded by the school. The Keefe Regional Technical School NHS organizes activities of interest to its members and is an active service organization.

National Technical Honor Society

The National Technical Honor Society currently serves approximately 100,000 active members and nearly a million since its inception in 1984. Over \$250,000 in scholarships are awarded annually to its members. NTHS honors

the achievements of top CTE students, provides scholarships to encourage the pursuit of higher education, and cultivates excellence in today's highly competitive, skilled workforce. For over 30 years, NTHS has been the acknowledged leader in the recognition of outstanding student achievement in career and technical education.

Project Adventure

Project Adventure provides opportunities for those of all skill levels to experience different and exciting outdoor activities. Skiing and snowboarding are the most popular activity and the club participates in approximately 3 to 4 ski trips a year. Other activities have also included, but are not limited to, white water rafting, mountain biking, mountain climbing, hiking, bike trips, roller skating and snow tubing. Both students and staff are members of this outing club which provides occasions for fun and socialization.

School Newspaper - "Crazyborse"

The school newspaper offers students the opportunity to become directly involved in the world of print communications. The student staff writes, edits and publishes the paper once each term.

SkillsUSA

SkillsUSA improves the quality of America's skilled workforce through a structured program of citizenship, leadership, employability, technical and professional skills training. SkillsUSA enhances the lives and careers of students, instructors and industry representatives as they strive to be champions at work. SkillsUSA services more than 300,000 students and instructors annually. The organization has 13,000 school chapters in 54 state and territorial associations. More than 14,500 instructors and administrators are professional members of SkillsUSA.

SkillsUSA prepares America's high performance workers. It provides quality educational experiences for students in leadership, teamwork, citizenship, and character development. It builds and reinforces self-confidence, work attitudes, and communication skills. It emphasizes total quality at work, high ethical standards, superior work skills, life-long education, and pride in the dignity of work. SkillsUSA also promotes understanding of the free enterprise system and involvement in community service activities.

SkillsUSA programs include local, district, state, and national competitions in which students demonstrate occupational and leadership skills. SkillsUSA programs also help to establish industry standards for job skill training in the career-technical programs.

South Middlesex Scholars Program

The South Middlesex Scholars Program is a specialized program of exploration and study. It is dedicated to challenging students to develop high academic and vocational success at the high school level. Students are

recruited into the program upon their entrance into Keefe Regional Technical School based on their middle school course performance and a high level of scoring on standardized assessments. Students may also apply to be in the program once they have matriculated into Keefe Regional Technical School as a full time student who is maintaining a high level success in our college preparatory programs. Keefe Regional Technical School is committed to engaging students in the scholars program with a variety of educational opportunities and experiences; including a select program of academic study, full-time enrollment in a career and technical training program, and active participation in leadership opportunities.

Student Representatives to the School Council

Student(s) are elected by their fellow students to serve on the School Council and meet with the Principal and other Council members monthly.

Student Ambassadors

Student Ambassadors are a group of students selected to represent Keefe Regional Technical School during our recruitment season. They are required to write and present speeches to prospective eighth graders and school administrators in our five sending towns. They are selected through recommendations made by faculty and Guidance staff. It is an honor to be chosen as a student ambassador. In this role, they develop leadership qualities as well as excellent presentation skills.

Student Council and Class Officers

The Student Council is active in service to the school and the community. Six members at each grade level are elected by their fellow students to serve as class officers. They meet with others to plan, sponsor, and coordinate all student activities. The Student Council may speak for the student body. The officers are elected by the Council each school year.

We Are The Voice (Formerly SADD)

The mission: To provide students with the best prevention tools possible to deal with the issues of underage drinking, other drug use, impaired driving and other destructive decisions.

Originally, the mission of the chapter was to help young people say "No" to drinking and driving. Today, the mission has expanded. Peer pressure, role modeling and environmental strategies can prevent other destructive decisions and set a healthier, safer course for students" lives. We Are The Voice has become a peer-to-peer education, prevention, and activist organization dedicated to preventing destructive decisions, particularly underage drinking, other drug use, risky and impaired driving, teen violence, and teen suicide.

Students meet monthly to discuss current issues and plan prevention strategies for the school body. Club member activities include participation

in blood drives, assemblies, training and the MADD Youth in action group of MetroWest. Membership is open to all students who are interested in awareness and prevention.

Yearbook Club

The Yearbook Club creates the venue through which each class celebrates its contributions to Keefe Regional Technical School and is reflective of the individual and collective memories of each graduating class.

SECTION IV: CREDITS AND DIPLOMA

GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS

DISCIPLINE	CREDITS	Required to Pass
English Language Arts	5.0	5.0 (4 courses total)
Mathematics	5.0	5.0 (4 courses total)
Science and Technology	5.0	3.0 (3 courses total)
History and Social Sciences	4.0	3.0 (3 courses total)
Foreign Language	Optional	Optional
Career and Technical	21.0	21.0
Physical Education/Health	1.75	.5 (2 years of Phys Ed)
Electives	7.0	6.0
TOTAL	48.75	42.5

It should be noted that students in need of making up credit for an English or Math course may have been granted an opportunity to do so during the school year by taking an additional course. This is reviewed on an individual basis and may impact the total number of credits needed to graduate. School Counselors will support students in all grade levels to meet graduation requirements.

All students must complete four years of high school and satisfy all graduation requirements in order to receive a South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District diploma. All students must also pass the MCAS Test (Massachusetts Comprehension Assessment System) or must earn a competency determination in order to receive a South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District diploma.

PROMOTION REQUIREMENTS FOR THE CLASS OF 2019

Year	Suggested Credits	Minimum Required Credits
End of Freshman Year	12	7
End of Sophomore Year	24.25	19
End of Junior Year	44.5	31.25
End of Senior Year	48.75	42.5
Total Credits for Graduation	48.75	42.5

Keefe Regional Technical School students follow the Massachusetts High School Program of Studies (MassCore) which includes: four years of English, four years of Math, three years of a lab based Science, and three years of History. Students in all grade levels need to meet these requirements for promotion. Additionally, all students must earn a passing grade in their Career and Technical area each year.

Eligibility for Graduation

For students who do not meet the credit requirement for graduation, the following practices have been followed:

Students in need of Summer School will not be permitted to participate in the graduation ceremony but may receive their diploma after the completion of summer school. This may be reviewed on an individual basis. Summer School is regarded as the end of a given school year.

Students who do not meet the graduation credits, even with summer school, and who need to do course work in the fall of the subsequent school year, will not be eligible for a diploma or the graduation ceremony with their original class.

By completing coursework in the next school year, students will be eligible for a diploma and graduation ceremony with the graduating class for the year in which they complete their requirements.

DETERMINATION OF GRADES

The South Middlesex School District recognizes that no one method of student assessment and grading can be all encompassing. Assessment and grade reporting at the high school is considered a positive tool to measure growth, progress, and the development of the student. The unique demands and challenges of academic classroom learning and experiential career technical preparation make necessary a varied focus.

Each course has an established syllabus that provides the description, philosophy and goals, highlights of major projects and activities, and the individual course assessment plan. The grading policy will address the following areas: class attendance, class participation, homework, tests, quizzes, projects, working with others, class notes, and, if applicable, extra credit. The course syllabus will also indicate the amount of and quality of work necessary for a student to earn an A or B.

Our expectation is that students strive to demonstrate proficient performance in both academic and career and technical preparation in both knowledge and skills as measured by the state and federal curriculum standards.

GRADING GUIDELINES

Grading Guidelines for Academic and Career Technical Classrooms:

The Grading Guidelines create consistency between Academic and CTE performance reporting and eliminate wide variations in grading. All teachers are entering grades with the same categories with similar expectations. Ultimately, the Parent Portal information, available to parents, students and student advocates, is easily understood.

The three different grading categories are: Major Assessments, Assignments, and Employability.

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019 Approved: 4/24/18

Academic Courses	Career & Technical Courses
MAJOR ASSESSMENTS	MAJOR ASSESSMENTS
Three per Trimester	Three per Trimester
Examples of Major Assessments: Standards-based cumulative Test (required each term; all majors) Projects Research Paper (required once per course)	Examples of Major Assessments: Portfolio (required of each student, every term) Projects Research Project / Paper Cumulative Assessment
ASSIGNMENTS	ASSIGNMENTS
Graded twice per week	Graded twice per week
(allowing for many additional graded and non-graded formative assessments)	(allowing for many additional graded and non-graded formative assessments)
Examples of Assignments: Homework / Class-work Labs Quizzes	Examples of Assignments: Homework / Class-work Related Theory Evaluation Writing MCAS prompts
Writing MCAS prompts	GRADED DAILY Daily Skills Demonstrations
EMPLOYABILITY	EMPLOYABILITY
Weekly Composite Grade	Daily Grade
Categories of Employability: Preparedness – student has materials, uniform, tools, books, pen, pencil, notebook Punctuality – student is on time for class, shop Professionalism – Appropriate use of language, participation in class and group activities, relationships with others, respects school	Categories of Employability: Preparedness – student has materials, uniform, tools, books, pen, pencil, notebook Punctuality – student is on time for class, shop Professionalism – Appropriate use of language, participation in class and group activities, relationships with others, respects school
school	school Safety – Practices appropriate safety in CTE environment

REPORT CARDS

Report cards indicate the student's achievement in each course, his/her habits of studies, attitude, attendance, and other factors which are indicative of his/her record. They are issued at the end of each term. Press notification is made as to the day of issue. Marking periods will change based on school calendar.

Advanced report cards may be issued in the case of unique extenuating circumstances and must be separately approved as such, in advance, by the Principal.

Method of Marking and Term Grades		
90-100	High Honor	
85-89	Honor	
80-84	Good	
75-79	Average	
70-74	Low Average	
60-69	Low Passing	
Below-60	Failing	

Beginning with the 2016-2017 school year, there was a transition in our grading policy that is in the last year of transition. Students in the Class of 2019 may not receive a grade lower than a 50 in Term 1 in order to ensure the ability of a student to earn a passing year end grade. During Term II and III, students in the class of 2019 will receive the exact grade they earn, even if it is below a 50 average.

Beginning with the Class of 2020, studnets will receive the exact grade they earn for all terms. In order to be eligible to enroll in a summer school course at Keefe Tech, students must earn a minimum of a 50 average for their final course grade.

Honor Roll

To be eligible for the honor roll, students must complete each of his/her courses receiving quality points.

- Honor Roll Students may not receive a grade below 82% in order to make Honor Roll status.
- High Honor Roll Students may not receive a grade below 90% in order to make High Honor Roll status.

Letter / Number Grade Conversion Guidelines

The Guidance Department will use these guidelines to convert final grades and "grades in progress" for those students who transfer to Keefe Regional Technical School from other systems or schools.

		B+	87-89	C+	77-79	D+	67-69
Α	94-	В	84-86	С	74-76	D	60-66
	100						
A-	90-93	B-	80-83	C-	70-73		
						F	0-59

GRADE POINT AVERAGE

A weighted Grade Point Average will be determined for all Keefe Regional Technical School students, based on a 4.0 scale. The Grade Point Average (GPA) will be based on grades in Academic subjects and Career/Technical courses. Weight shall be given to Advanced Placement courses (+1.0) and honors level courses (+.5) according to the following scale.

GRADE	COLLEGE PREP	HONORS	AP
A	4.0	4.5	5.0
A-	3.7	4.2	4. 7
B+	3.3	3.8	4.3
В	3.0	3.5	4.0
B-	2.7	3.2	3.7
C+	2.3	2.8	3.3
С	2.0	2.5	3.0
C-	1.7	2.2	2.7
D+	1.3	1.8	2.3
D	1.0	1.5	2.0

A grade of F in an academic course receives no points, but the course will be included in the divisor when factoring the average.

The two highest class GPA's will determine class valedictorian and salutatorian. To qualify for this honor, a student must be enrolled as a full-time student at Keefe Regional Technical School prior to the start of his/her junior year. Class valedictorian and salutatorian will be selected based on the Term 2 GPA during senior year.

Credits earned at another high school will be evaluated by a school counselor and approved by the Director of Guidance. Grades received outside by a transfer student at the school previously attended will be adjusted to the quality point system of Keefe Regional Technical School in order to determine class rank. Transfer credits earned will be reflected on the Keefe Regional Technical School transcript. A copy of the transcript from the sending school can be included in addition to the Keefe Regional Technical School transcript when official transcripts are requested.)

Advanced Placement - Advanced Placement-AP: A course culminating in a

national examination that can lead to advanced placement and/or credit in college. These courses will follow the syllabi suggested by the College Board.

AP (+1.0)

Level I – H (+0.5) Honors: More extensive and intensive treatment of

subject matter. Independent assignments determined

by department curriculum.

Level II – CP1 Standard college preparatory curriculum. Written

Projects determined by department curriculum.

Level III – CP2 Standard college preparatory curriculum.

MASSACHUSETTS COMPREHENSIVE ASESSMENT SYSTEM (MCAS)

The Massachusetts State Board of Education requires under state law that students must achieve a proficient score in the English/Language Arts, and Mathematics and a passing score in Science and Technology (proficient – class of 2014) segments of the MCAS as well as all local credit requirements in order to receive a high school diploma. In cases where students do not achieve the passing score in the three tests, Keefe Regional Technical School is providing two other certificates at graduation.

- The State endorsed Certificate of Attainment is awarded to students
 who fulfill the following criteria: takes the MCAS test at least three
 (3) times, participates in all tutoring programs, maintains a 95%
 attendance during the last two years, and meets all local graduation
 requirements.
- Keefe Regional Technical School also awards the Certificate of High School Completion to those students who have not taken the MCAS at least three (3) times, but who have fulfilled all local graduation requirements.
- 3. Any student who receives a non-passing MCAS score will be required to enroll in a MCAS preparatory course. Other support services are available for those students preparing for their initial test.
- The Massachusetts Department of Education offers formal appeals to students who qualify in specific limited circumstances based upon specific requirements.

SECTION V: ACADEMIC/CAREER AND TECHNICAL PROGRAMING

COURSE OFFERINGS

Overview

At Keefe Regional Technical School, a student's individual academic program is based on ability, past achievement, school requirements, and career goals. Counselors and classroom teachers provide recommendations based on their knowledge of the student's performance and ability level. A full College Preparatory program, as well as an Honors program, is available.

Grade nine students take a core curriculum in English, Science, Mathematics, and History. These courses integrate career and technical materials aimed at job skills and career development whenever possible. In addition to the academic core, grade nine students spend three periods every other week in a career exploratory program. In this course, students explore many career and technical areas and receive career counseling. As the year develops, areas of interest are explored in more depth, and a final choice for career and technical education placement is made.

Grade ten students enter a career and technical program that meets every day, five days per week, on an every other week rotation. This program continues through grades eleven and twelve with opportunities for internships or paid work experiences.

Academic classes for grades ten, eleven, and twelve meet on an every other week basis. As with grade nine, students take a core curriculum of English, Mathematics, Science, and Social Studies. Keefe Regional Technical School offers a variety of elective courses, which help to cultivate new interests and create a richer learning experience.

COURSE SELECTION

Each counselor aims to assist the student during his/her high school years. These are the steps in developing an appropriate individual program of studies for each student:

- 1. Faculty recommendations
- 2. Individual meetings with counselors to select courses
- 3. Parental/guardian review and signature approval

Change of Course - Withdrawals

In order to minimize changes in their program, students should carefully select the courses they plan to elect for the following year. It is the student's responsibility to read the course information in the Program of Studies.

All necessary course changes should be made early in the school year prior to the deadline communicated by the School Counselor, which will be before October 1st. Any course changes made after this deadline will require Administrative Approval Students who withdraw from a course after October 1st, may receive a "WP" to signify a passing status or a "WF" to signify a failing status on their high school transcript. Designation of WP or WF will depend on course withdrawal that takes place.

Honors Level Courses

Honors level courses move at a rapid pace and go into far more depth than college preparatory courses. As a result, students must be highly motivated and prepared to work independently. The successful completion of one honors course does not always lead to placement into another. Rather, each course should be viewed individually. As one advances through the honors program of course offerings, each succeeding grade level becomes more difficult. Standardized tests scores often are used together with a student's grades to determine eligibility for honors courses.

The following prerequisites apply to all students interested in pursuing Honors courses:

- 1. Current teacher approval during the course selection process.
- 2. Departmental approval for special circumstances.
- Students must be responsible, conscientious, highly motivated, and able to work independently.
- Parents must sign a consent form verifying that they understand the rigorous expectations found in an honors level class.

Students and parents may appeal a student's denial of acceptance into an honors level course through the guidance department. Upon review, the Administrative Leadership Team will notify students and parents of the final placement decision within two weeks of appeal.

ACADEMICS

English

Students are required to take and successfully complete an English course each year, minimally six credits overall with eight or more credits possible. The curriculum combines traditional academic materials that address the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks with integrated career-technical activities related to the Senior Project requirement in order to provide

students with the practical experience necessary to succeed in a competitive work force.

Freshmen pathways begin with Literature and Composition 1; the sophomore year is focused on American Literature; the junior year core coursework for all students is World Literature. In senior year, students take a Survey of Literature course or British Literature. Students also have the opportunity to choose from a variety of electives. Core courses are offered at the honors-level or traditional college preparatory.

Mathematics

The Mathematics curriculum is structured to best address the broad needs of students. All courses are designed for students who learn best in an applied approach. The department advances five major goals for students:

- Learn to value Mathematics as a tool to explore relationships between Mathematics and the many disciplines it serves.
- Gain confidence in using mathematical power to make sense of new problem situations and the world we live in.
- Develop ability in solving problem situations independently and in a cooperative group setting.
- Given opportunities to read, write and discuss ideas, use the signs, symbols and terms of mathematics.
- Gather evidence, make conjectures, develop and support rationale using mathematical reasoning.

Students are required to successfully complete the objectives of six credits of Mathematics coursework, but may elect up to eight credits. Aspects of Mathematics that emphasize real-life situations are integrated regularly throughout all the Mathematics courses. All courses are college preparatory and fully address the goals and objectives of the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks.

The Honors Mathematics pathway moves from Algebra Two to Geometry to Advanced Algebra and Pre-Calculus with senior year expectation of Calculus. Additional electives are available dependent upon student career plans. The majority of students follows a college preparatory pathway beginning with Algebra One but may elect Honors-level courses.

The need for technological proficiency is recognized at all levels and in all courses. Students are encouraged and trained to use calculators to speed arithmetic calculations, for advanced analysis, and to explore relationships and concepts visualize solutions and promote hypothetical modeling of real-life situations. Additional methods utilizing computer software for exploration and analysis are also employed in all courses.

Science

The Science curriculum is designed to provide for students who will pursue a career immediately after high school, as well as for those students who will

continue their education. Offerings in the physical, life, and Environmental Sciences emphasize hands-on learning and the practical application of Science in the classroom, career-technical program, and everyday life.

Students are required to take a science course every year. The Honors-level pathway moves through Biology, Chemistry, Physics, and Anatomy & Physiology. Regular college preparatory pathways have options of Engineering & Technology, Environmental Science, and additional laboratory experiences in Biology.

Social Studies

The main objective of the Social Studies curriculum is to help prepare students to become effective and responsible citizens. Therefore, the underlying goal of the curriculum is to develop important qualities of citizenship including disciplinary knowledge, thinking skills, commitment to democratic values, and citizen participation.

The Social Studies curriculum at the Keefe Regional Technical School is based on the standards set forth in the Massachusetts and Social Science Curriculum Framework and is designed to incorporate the major strands of Social Studies: History, Civics, Government, Geography, and Economics. Students are presented with multiple opportunities for rich experiences and in-depth study of the social sciences as they progress through the grades. Making the subject matter relevant to the lives of our students is an important and underlying goal of instructional delivery.

Primary focus is placed on the mastery of the core knowledge for each subject area and the key concepts and skills in the Social Sciences that are essential to all American citizens. However, throughout the curriculum, a strong emphasis is also placed on developing critical reading, writing, and research skills. The reading and analysis of primary documents is also an important feature of the curriculum, especially in the study of United States history.

The curriculum has been restructured to prepare our students effectively for both district and state assessments. All ninth grade students are required to take U.S. History I and all tenth grade students are required to take U.S. History II. A variety of Social Studies electives are offered to eleventh and twelfth grade students. All courses require standards based assessments by term or unit and final exams.

Electives

Keefe Regional Technical School offers electives reinforcing career-technical learning and lifelong learning. Students who wish to apply to colleges that have a foreign language requirement have the opportunity to elect up to two years of Spanish.

Physical Education / Health & Wellness

Physical Education is a required course for all students (unless medically excused) in all grades and is connected to Health & Wellness education.

Grade nine through twelve curricula covers topics that include motor skill development, muscular strength and conditioning, fitness, agility, coordination, flexibility, group and individual sports and activities and personal and social competency. Students will be evaluated on their preparedness, cooperation, attitude, participation, and effort.

Throughout all four years, students are required to progress through a developmental study of health and wellness topics. Through health literacy, healthy self-management skills, and health promotion, comprehensive health education teaches fundamental health concepts, promotes habits and conduct that enhance health and wellness, and guides efforts to build healthy families, relationships, schools, and communities.

The experience will be comprised of planned activities and presentations provided by counselors, contract service providers, and the instructors themselves. Counselors will provide lessons on personal/social topics, such as self-esteem, dating violence, and harassment. Our New Beginnings counselor will provide informative presentations on alcohol and substance abuse and the criminal justice system. The regular instructors will follow the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks in health and physical education, which will be expanded over a four-year experience, while enhancing the program with experiential learning focused on cooperative team development and individual self-discovery using our newly built Wing Speed Adventure course challenges.

Special Education Programs

Specialized courses and approaches to learning are designed to help students with disabilities whose special needs have been identified by the team meeting process meet the high expectations, MCAS requirements, and the challenges of the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks, while addressing the goals of their Individual Education Programs (IEPs). Special education services and programs are offered in accordance with state and federal laws that govern special education and are driven by the scope of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) and the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks.

English Language Learner Program (ELL)

The English Language Learner Program welcomes students from all countries and language groups, who do not speak English as their first language, and who require assistance completing schoolwork in English.

The ELL Program provides a variety of services to its students and has two components: English as a Second Language (ESL) and Sheltered English Immersion (SEI).

In English as a Second Language courses, students receive intensive instruction in English. ESL courses are offered at beginning, intermediate, and advanced in ESL levels 1-5. These rigorous courses help students

improve their listening, speaking, reading, and writing skills, in addition to preparing students to meet the competency standards of the MCAS.

Sheltered English Immersion allows English Language Learners to attend mainstream academic classes with their English-speaking peers. Language support services are provided by bilingual aides to ensure success in the content area academic classes of Mathematics, Science, and Social Studies. Additionally, English Language Learners are actively enrolled in all of Keefe Regional Technical School career-technical programs. Language support services are provided in these classes to ensure meaningful participation and success while students continue to acquire English.

For more information about ELL programs, parents/guardians may contact the Guidance Department at 508-416-2271.

CAREER AND TECHNICAL EDUCATIONAL PROGRAMS

Philosophy

Our main purpose is to provide up-to-date technical training and marketable skills to high school students. Curricula are designed to integrate vocational and academic areas. This training will ultimately lead to satisfying employment in our global economy.

At Keefe Regional Technical School, a student's complete education includes the development of good work habits, citizenship and a desire for lifelong learning. Our programs foster student self-esteem, self-respect, and social awareness. Students are to participate actively in their education and to make learning their primary goal. During their training, students will undertake school projects that will benefit our member communities and their residents.

The fundamental concept of Career Technical Education is that all education experiences, curriculum, instruction, and counseling should be geared for economic independence and appreciation for the dignity of work. Career Technical Education is not limited to the task of skill training; it also focuses on helping the student master several career development tasks for awareness, exploration, and decision making, from kindergarten through adult life. Keefe Regional Technical School has adopted the above concepts and supports an educational process designed as follows:

- 1. To increase the relationship between society and the schools as a whole.
- To provide opportunities for counseling, guidance, and career development for all students.
- 3. To relate the subject matter of the curricula of schools to meet the needs of persons and society.
- 4. To extend the concept of the education process beyond the school into the area of employment and the community.

- 5. To foster flexibility in attitudes, skills, and knowledge in order to enable persons to cope with accelerating changes and obsolescence.
- To make education more relevant to employment and functioning in society.
- To eliminate any dichotomy between education and vocational purposes and academic education.

Career Exploration

The Career Exploratory Program is designed to help Grade 9 students make an informed decision as to which career technical program best coincides with their aptitudes, interests, college, and career goals. Prior to the start of the school year, students are introduced to the career technical programs offered at Keefe Regional Technical School, and select eight programs to explore during grade 9. Students are guaranteed their top three choices of interest and are required to complete a non-traditional CTE experience.

Career Technical Program

Upon completion of the exploratory cycles, each student will choose the career technical program in which they were most successful. For the remainder of the school year they will spend their exploratory periods in the shop for which they have earned placement. While they are in their career technical program, they will be evaluated to determine their potential for successful employment in their chosen field. They will also have the opportunity to change programs if they so desire and if a seat is available within that CTE area. If a program is oversubscribed, the student's academic, attendance, discipline records and performance in the exploratory program will be considered for placement into the program as indicated in the DESE approved Admissions Policy

Beginning in tenth grade, Keefe Regional Technical School students will specialize in one career technical area. The sixteen career technical programs with links to more information may be found below:

Automotive Technology

Automotive Technology students in grades nine and ten develop skills in automotive repair and maintenance through training using engine parts and donated vehicles. After completing this training, instructors supervise students in the servicing of actual customer vehicles. Customers with vehicles that meet certain criteria for training purposes may request an appointment for service. Keefe Regional Technical School is an authorized inspection station under the new Massachusetts Enhanced Emission and Safety Program.

Certified in all eight ASE (Automotive Service Excellence) service areas, this program has received master status certification from the National Automotive Technician's Education Foundation (NATEF). We have established an educational partnership with our area dealerships for job shadowing, internships, and cooperative work for our students. This

provides assurance that Keefe Regional Technical School graduates from the Automotive Technology Program will be employed as entry-level technicians and/or be prepared for training on the post-secondary level.

Business Office Technology (Not accepting new students.)

The Business Office Technology Program prepares students for employment in today's business office and for the business administration major in college. The program is structured so that a student obtains proficiency in computer applications, business communications, office procedures, accounting, and entrepreneurship. Skills can be applied to a wide variety of organizations, in both private and public sectors. Computer applications include word processing applications, spreadsheets, databases, presentation graphics, desktop publishing, and web design using a Microsoft-based computer network. Students are given the opportunity to attain national certification as a Microsoft Certified Application Specialist in Microsoft Word, Excel and/or PowerPoint. Students also gain experience with automated accounting packages, such as QuickBooks and Peachtree. Junior students may have the opportunity to work in businesses or internships. Qualified juniors and seniors may participate in the Cooperative Education Program where they gain valuable hands-on experience while receiving monetary compensation. Articulation agreements with several colleges allow students to apply for college credit for computer applications courses.

Carpentry

Carpentry is a program that is divided into two major parts. The first year, students receive basic instruction in the process of milling lumber into various components, including cabinets and counter tops. The students spend the majority of their time learning how to construct a house from foundation to finished product. The house-building project provides the setting for the "on the job" learning activities.

Cosmetology

Keefe Regional Technical School's Cosmetology Program is a dual-licensing program for students meeting the State Board of Cosmetology's age requirements. In the 1,000 hour-course curriculum, students learn how to cut, style, perm, color and highlight hair. Cosmetology students also learn basic facial procedures and manicure procedures to prepare them to take the Massachusetts State Board of Cosmetology Exam. In addition, students participate in a 100-hour Nail Technician Course, which leads to a state manicuring license. A major emphasis is placed on sanitation and sterilization. Students need a release signed by their parent/guardian in order to avail themselves of cosmetology services, such as haircut, hair color, highlight, and permanent wave.

Culinary Arts

The Culinary Arts Program trains students in the art of handling and preparing food for restaurants and hotels. Students learn to plan menus; determine the size of portions; and select, store and prepare food. The

program provides an in-depth, hands-on education in cooking, baking, and dining room management, supported by related classroom curriculum and activities. Keefe Regional Technical School's student-run restaurant, the East Side Room, is open four days a week, providing real-world experience in a state-of the-art classroom facility. Students receive certifications from the National Restaurant Association in Serv/Safe and from the American Culinary Federation, helping further their education after graduation both in college and upon entering the workforce.

Dental Assisting

The Dental Assisting program is an exciting career path for the student who enjoys the challenges and rewards of working with people and has the desire to join the growing health and dental industries. Students are exposed to oral health care and services through practice in our state-of-the-art dental assisting lab, as well as clinical experiences in MetroWest dental offices and clinics. Students also earn a deeper understanding of patient care by studying anatomy and physiology, with an emphasis on head, neck, oral, and dental anatomy. In-depth preparation for Dental Assisting Licensure is a natural launch pad for a well-paid career in the dental field.

Design and Visual Communications

Students interested in the world of Design and Visual Communications find opportunities to explore several areas of this exciting field at Keefe Regional Technical School. Sophomores learn the foundations of design, including color theory, drawing, perspective, and layout. In the junior and senior years, students work with Photoshop, In Design, digital Photography, and video to produce a variety of multimedia projects for their portfolios. Package design, product photography, multimedia presentations, web design, and audio production are introduced through the use of the latest technology. Graduates of this program will be prepared to continue their education at the college level or obtain an entry-level position in the field.

Early Childhood Education and Teaching

The Early Childhood Education and Teaching Program at Keefe Regional Technical School is an in-house training site designed to introduce the high school student to the development and care of children, including infants and toddlers. Students choosing Early Childhood will be exposed to the emotional, social, physical and cognitive changes that take place during a child's life. Students will learn and demonstrate the duties of a classroom teacher. The Early Childhood Education and Teaching Program provides practice in real-world skills in various off-site child care centers. Students who successfully complete this course will meet the licensing requirements for the Massachusetts Department of Early Childhood and Care in infant-toddler and preschool areas. Students will also receive First-Aid and CPR certifications. Early Childhood Education and Teaching Program students

are eligible to receive three college credits from Massachusetts Bay Community College upon graduation.

Electrical

The electrical trade is a licensed trade in the construction industry, where individual ability and motivation are recognized and rewarded. The Keefe Regional Technical School's Electrical Program covers commercial, industrial, and residential wiring of old and new buildings, as well as alarm system installation. In addition to wiring, the course of study provides students with knowledge of solar energy and wind energy technology. The Electrical Program emphasizes residential wiring by completing all of the electrical work for our annual house-building project. This project introduces the student to telephone wiring, familiarization with blueprints for location of outlets, and the wiring methods that satisfy the Massachusetts Electrical Code.

Graphic Communications

Careers in the graphic design industry are growing at a remarkable rate with the introduction of digital media. The world of graphic communications is one of the largest industries in the United States. Different printing processes are covered, such as offset lithography, sheet-fed presses, and digital press using up-to-date digital software. Students enrolled in this program gain industry-level skills in the areas of graphic communications, electronic imaging, and press and bindery operations. Successful graduates of the program are excellent candidates for college or entry-level positions in the graphic communications field.

Health Careers

Students in the Health Careers Program have the opportunity to acquire skills that prepare them for successful career entry, advancement, and/or continuing education in the health field. This program is designed to focus on the certification of nursing assistants. The role of the medical office assistant is included in the program of studies. Students can earn certifications in first aid, safety, CPR, and Alzheimer's Care. The first phase emphasizes the foundation skills and common skills, e.g. taking blood pressures and pulses, necessary in all health occupations. The second phase focuses on job-specific skills and knowledge. Skills are introduced and practiced in the classroom and then transferred to patients in a hospital and/or a long-term care setting during career technical training activities.

Information Support Services & Technology

Students entering the Information Technology Program have the opportunity to receive certifications in the general areas of Computer Servicing and Networking. In their sophomore year, students enter into the A+ IT Technician Program. Students participate in real-life repairs and upgrades as computers come into the shop to be repaired. In their junior year, students begin the authorized Cisco Networking Academy. The curriculum for sophomores, juniors and seniors, includes some basics in

Flash, Fireworks, Dreamweaver, XHTML programming, Visual.Net Programming, PHP, SQL, and software configurations. As seniors, many students are offered cooperative work placement. Graduates of this program can continue their education in Computer Information Systems at the college level or gain entry-level positions as helpdesk technicians or entry-level repair technicians.

Landscaping Design and Construction

Keefe Regional Technical School's Landscaping Design & Construction Program provides students with training opportunities in all aspects of the Green Industry. The curriculum stresses the study of landscape management, plant and soil science, floriculture, turf management, safe operation of construction and landscaping equipment, small engine repair, greenhouse management, arboriculture care and plant propagation. Students practice their skills throughout the school campus by maintaining the grounds, including the athletic fields, planting flowers and shrubbery, and operating the landscaping equipment on campus.

Legal and Protective Services

The Legal and Protective Services Program is a new and exciting program for students interested in law enforcement, criminal law and procedures, crime scene processing, disaster preparedness, ethics, private investigations, surveillance practices in the areas of legal and protective services. Through the Legal and Protective Services Program, students learn legal theory and its application in real world scenarios. Students gain insight into the philosophies and disciplines of a variety of criminal justice and protective service areas working with law enforcement, fire departments, law firms, federal agencies, courthouses and correctional facilities. Students have potential careers in: Law Enforcement, Homeland Security, Forensics, Crime Scene Analysis, DNA Analysis and Fingerprinting, Advanced Communication, Computer and Online Security, Basic First Responder, Fire and Rescue, and Physical Training/Defensive to name a few examples. Students who qualify can earn certifications in CPR, First Aid and 911 Dispatching.

Metals Fabrication & Joining Technologies

Keefe Regional Technical School's Metal Fabrications & Joining Technologies Program trains students in the technologies of sheet metal fabrication and welding, which are directly related to the processes of the metal products industries. The curriculum allows each student to develop a well-rounded background in all phases of welding. Students in the Metals Technology Program can attain certification from the American Welding Society. The Certified Welder (CW) Program tests to procedures used in the structural steel, petroleum pipelines, sheet metal and chemical refinery welding industries.

<u>Plumbing</u>

Students in the Plumbing Program receive training in rough and finish plumbing installations in residential, commercial, and industrial locations, as well as prevention maintenance. The curriculum focuses on an overview of the plumbing trade license regulations and plumbing code regulations of the industry. The 1,500 hours of training plus 300 hours of classroom instruction that students receive in this program are applied toward the apprentice hours needed to become a licensed plumber. Seniors in the Plumbing Program practice their skills by completing all aspects of residential plumbing for Keefe Regional Technical School's annual house-building project.

Programming and Web Development

As society becomes more information oriented, computers, technology, and the internet are an integral part of most jobs. Our students are trained using a state-of-the art 20-workstation lab running in a Windows 8 environment. A total of four servers will also exist in the classroom giving students access to Microsoft based environments (Free BSD Unix, Apache, and MySQL). Programming languages the students will be exposed to are: C#, Java, PHP, Python, Visual Basic, HTML (XHTML and HTML5), Flash and JavaScript. Students will fully understand how to create web applications from the ground up (notepad++ and browser). They will also be exposed to Dreamweaver to understand what Web Authoring Software is – its advantages and disadvantages. Upon completion, students will be prepared for an entry-level position in Programming and Web Development or to further their education by enrolling in a post-secondary school.

COOPERATIVE EDUCATION PROGRAM

The Cooperative Education Program provides an opportunity for deserving students to participate in paid employment in their career and technical areas of study. They receive fair and competitive wages and valuable work experience during their CTE week for area employers. During this time, students are expected to maintain their CTE and academic grades and continue to have good attendance at school. The employers are expected to grade students based on criteria provided by the school. These selected employers become partners in the educational process and often find new and valuable employees.

Eligibility for Seniors

Co-op eligibility, at the beginning of the senior year, depends on the following junior year criteria (Summer school grade may not be used for co-op eligibility):

- A final grade of "C-" or better in each academic subject.
- A final grade of "B-" or better in junior year shop and related.

- MCAS competency determination based on scores in all required areas.
- Obtained OSHA 10 hour safety card.
- Met school's term or yearly attendance requirements.
- Instructor recommendation.

*Students who are not eligible for cooperative placement at the beginning of grade 12 may become eligible based on their report card at the end of any term during the senior year.

Eligibility for Term II Juniors

- An average grade of "C-" or better in each academic subject.
- An average grade of "B-" or better in junior year shop and related.
 *Based on the first two terms in grade 11
- MCAS competency determination based on scores in all required areas.
- Obtained OSHA 10-hour safety card.
- Instructor recommendation.
- Fewer than (10) absences through the end of Term II in the junior year (3 tardies equal an absence).
- Juniors participating in co-op must continue to meet the grade requirements based on year end grades to continue on co-op placement.

Summer Cooperative Placement for Juniors

Summer cooperative placement (new contract) for juniors will commence the last day of their junior year and will end the first day of school of their senior year as regulated by the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education.

Waivers

Students may appeal to the Principal for a waiver for extenuating circumstance on an individual basis.

Termination By Keefe Regional Technical School of Cooperative Placement Keefe Regional Technical School will remove or terminate a student from cooperative placement because of ineligibility due to poor attendance, failing grades, suspension or other disciplinary infractions. Any exception to the above will be decided by the Principal and the Cooperative Placement Coordinator.

DUAL ENROLLMENT/COLLEGE ARTICULATION

Articulation Agreements

Keefe Regional Technical School has a number of agreements with Community, Public and Private Post-Secondary institutions that will grant credit for coursework completed at Keefe Regional Technical School. These agreements are frequently updated, and a current listing may be obtained through the School Counseling Department.

Dual Enrollment

State funds allow qualified Keefe Regional Technical School students to take college-level, credit-bearing courses through a participating public higher education institution. Twenty-seven public higher education institutions offer Dual Enrollment courses and have partnered with Keefe Regional Technical School for the current academic year. Interested students should contact their guidance counselor for a list of schools and applications procedures.

Accuplacer Testing

The purpose of Accuplacer tests is to provide students with useful information about their academic skills in Math, English, and Reading. The results of the assessment, in conjunction with a student's academic background, goals and interests, are used by guidance counselors and academic advisors to determine course selection in college.

COMPETENCY REPORTING

Each Career Technical Program at Keefe Regional Technical School has a list of competencies that students must attain throughout their three years in their Career Technical Program. These competencies are connected to the Massachusetts Vocational Technical Education Frameworks for each Career Technical Program. These competencies are updated and validated by our Career Technical Program Advisory Committees made up of members of business, industry, parents, teachers, alumni, and students.

The teachers in the Career Technical Programs report competency attainment for each student through the web-based SkillsPlus competency reporting system at the end of each trimester. Students and parents will be able to access the student's competency report through a website that will be printed on the student's report card. The competency report for each student will also be available through the student's career technical teachers and his/her guidance counselor.

INCOMPLETE GRADES

The grade of "Incomplete" is given to those students who because of absence from school are unable to complete the required assignments within the marking period. The student receiving the "Incomplete" is given the opportunity to earn a grade providing he/she makes arrangements with his/her subject teacher and makes up the work missed within ten (10) school days after report cards are issued, with the exception of the third marking period when no "Incompletes" can be given. Make-up in career-technical programs will consist

of alternative instructional activities designed by the technical teacher which relates to the work missed. The nature of the make-up assignment for technical time missed will be at the discretion of the technical teacher. Make-up work may be based on either a "time-on-task" basis, or a competency basis, or a combination thereof. ASSIGNMENTS NOT MADE UP DURING THE PRESCRIBED TIME WILL RESULT IN A FAILING GRADE FOR THE WORK MISSED. Students who receive an INCOMPLETE due to prolonged absence will be evaluated on an individual basis through the Guidance Department. Teachers must change the INCOMPLETE to a grade if the work is made up according to the time line below. NO INCOMPLETE can be given for the third marking period. Incompletes will not be changed to a grade of "F" based upon absences. Absences will determine loss of credit according to the attendance policy.

MAKE-UP WORK

Suspension

A student who is suspended will be given the equivalent number of days to make-up the work missed. Thus, if a student is suspended one day, he/she is given one day to make up the work. If he/she is suspended three days, he/she is given three days to make up the work, etc. In the event that a student is suspended during his/her technical program week, arrangements must be made by his/her technical program instructor. Suspended students who fail to complete make up assignments will receive a zero for the work missed.

Skipping Class

A student who intentionally skips a class will not be able to make up the work and will be given a "0" (zero) for that class.

Extra-Curricular Activities

Any student who is eligible to participate in extra-curricular activities during class time may do so if the student is in good academic standing in the classes missed. However, the work which normally would have been done within the time frame of the class missed must be made up within a reasonable time frame as established by the teacher.

INTERIM PROGRESS REPORTS

Interim Progress Report must be issued to:

- all students who are failing,
- any student in danger of failing a course,
- any student who is not working to his/her capacity.

Interim Progress Reports will be sent home with students. Parents will be notified by telephone via the school's website when progress reports are sent home

SUMMER SCHOOL

Students who are eligible for summer school will be notified by the School Counseling Department prior to the end of the school year. Summer school may be an option for students in need of credit recovery due to excessive absences and/or for students who received a year end failing grade in a course required for graduation.

In order to be eligible to enroll in a summer school course at Keefe Regional Technical School, students must earn a minimum of a 50 average for their final course grade.

SECTION VI: ATHLETICS

Keefe Regional Technical School is a member of the Colonial Athletic League and offers interscholastic sports programs at the Varsity, Junior Varsity, and Freshmen levels. In addition, a wide variety of intramural sports teams and supervised weight training are available throughout the school year.

BOYS' AND GIRLS' SPORTS PROGRAM

The Interscholastic Sports Program at Keefe Regional Technical School is governed by the Massachusetts Interscholastic Athletic Association (MIAA). Please refer to their website at MIAA.org for a complete listing of all rules and regulations regarding Taunting, Hazing, Chemical Health, Concussion Law, etc. Keefe Regional Technical School student/athletes strictly adhere to all the rules set forth by the MIAA. All students must pass a physical examination within 13 months of each day of athletic participation. A sports physical terminates 13 months subsequent to administering and must be renewed immediately (should an athlete be "in season") to maintain eligibility. Physical examinations must be performed by a duly registered physician, physicians' assistant, or nurse practitioner. Up-to-date information on the Massachusetts Concussion Law can be viewed on our website (Athletics and Activities – Athletic Forms and Policies).

The sports program offers to its girls and boys interscholastic competition in the following sports:

<u>FALL</u>	WINTER	<u>SPRING</u>
Boys' Soccer	Boys' Basketball	Baseball
Girls' Soccer	Girls' Basketball	Softball
Cheerleading	Cheerleading	Boys' Track & Field
Boys' Cross Country	Wrestling	Girls' Track & Field
Girls' Cross Country	Ice Hockey	Boys' Volleyball
Football		
Girls' Volleyball		
Golf		

KEEFE REGIONAL TECHNCAL SCHOOL POLICIES FOR STUDENTS/ATHLETES

In addition to the rules and regulations set forth by the MIAA, Keefe Regional Technical School has additional policies for their interscholastic teams.

- Students/athletes must be present in school by 11:00 am in order to be eligible to compete in athletic contests or practices on that day. Exceptions may be made by the Principal or designee
- 2. To remain on or try out for a team, students must be passing 75% of their career-technical program and 75% of their academic subjects totaling at least nine credits. Progress reports will be used as an opportunity to evaluate student progress toward eligibility. Any extenuating circumstances will be reviewed by the Director of Guidance and Athletic Director.

Students who receive a failure in their career-technical program or academic failures reducing their credit total to less than nine at the time report cards are issued are considered ineligible for participation in a team sport.

NOTE: A mark of incomplete is counted as a failing grade. Any extenuating circumstances will be reviewed by the Director of Guidance and Athletic Director.

- 3. As a member of an interscholastic sports team, girls and boys are expected to demonstrate proper respect for all coaches, teammates, officials, opponents, spectators, and equipment. They must exhibit the highest level of conduct, both on and off the athletic field or court, as they are at all times representatives of their teams, school, and community.
- 4. In the event that an athlete voluntarily leaves the team, he/she is to notify the coach personally within 24 hours of making the decision. Additionally, the student is to immediately return all equipment and clothing issued to him/her.
- 5. Keefe Regional Technical School's Concussion Policy can be viewed on our website. (Athletics and Activities Athletic Forms and Policies)
- Athletes are responsible for payment for all lost, stolen and/or damaged clothing or equipment that has been issued to them.

INTERSCHOLASTIC SPORTS ELIGIBILITY, CLOTHING AND EQUIPMENT

All students must pass a physical examination within 13 months of each day of athletic participation. A sports physical terminates 13 months subsequent to administering and must be renewed immediately (should an athlete be "in season") to maintain eligibility. Physical examinations must be performed by a duly registered Physician, Physicians' Assistant, or Nurse Practitioner. All other rules governing practice sessions and contest eligibility shall be established by each head coach and submitted to the Athletic Director.

Athletes are responsible for payment for all lost, stolen and/or damaged clothing or equipment that has been issued to them.

SECTION VII: LAWS AND POLICIES

ABSENCES OF STUDENTS: RESPONSIBILITY OF BOTH THE SCHOOL AND PARENT(S)/GUARDIAN(S)

Chapter 76 of the General Laws is hereby amended by inserting after § 1 the following section: § 1A. Upon the acceptance of this section by the local legislative body of a city or town, or a majority vote of two-thirds of the member communities of a technical school district, the school community of a city, town or technical school district shall establish a pupil absence notification program with the assistance of the department of education. The parent or guardians of each pupil shall, annually, at the commencement of each school year, be sent a notice instructing them to call a designated telephone number at a designated time to inform the school of the absence of a pupil and the reason thereof. Said notice shall also require such parent or guardian to furnish the school with a home, work or other emergency telephone number where they can be contacted during the school day. If a pupil is absent and the school has not been notified by the designated time, the school shall call the telephone numbers furnished to inquire about said absence.

BULLYING AND CYBER BULLYING

In accordance with M.G.L. c. 71 sec. 37H and 37O, Keefe Regional Technical School prohibits students from engaging in any conduct that would be considered "bullying".

"Bullying", the repeated use by one or more students or by a member of a school staff including, but not limited to, an educator, administrator, school nurse, cafeteria worker, custodian, bus driver, athletic coach, advisor to an extracurricular activity or paraprofessional of a written, verbal or electronic expression or a physical act or gesture or any combination thereof, directed at a victim that: (i) causes physical or emotional harm to the victor or damage to the victim's property; (ii) places the victim in reasonable fear of harm to himself or of damage to his property; (iii) creates a hostile environment at school for the victim; (iv) infringes on the rights of the victim at schools or (v) materially and substantially disrupts the education process or the orderly operation of a school. For the purposes of this section, bullying shall include cyber-bullying.

"Cyber-bullying", bullying through the use of technology or any electronic communication, which shall include, but shall not be limited to, any transfer of signs, signals, writing, images, sounds, data or intelligence to, any nature transmitted in whole or in part by a wire, radio, electromagnetic, photo electronic or photo optical system, including, but not limited to, electronic mail, internet communications, instant messages or facsimile communications. Cyber-bullying shall also include (i) the creation of a web page or blog in which the creator assumes the identity of another person or (ii) the knowing impersonation of another person as the author of posted content or messages, if

the creation or impersonation creates any of the conditions enumerated in clauses (i) to (v), inclusive, of the definition of bullying. Cyber-bullying shall also include the distribution by electronic means of a communication to more than one person or the posting of material on an electronic medium that may be accessed by one or more persons, if the distribution or posting creates any of the conditions enumerated in clauses (i) to (v), inclusive of the definition of bullying.

"Electronic communication" means any communication through an electronic device including a telephone, cellular phone, computer or pager. Keefe Regional Technical School prohibits retaliation or false accusation against a target, witness or one with reliable information about an act of bullying, harassment and intimidation.

Acts of bullying, which include cyber bullying, are prohibited:

- on school grounds and property immediately adjacent to school grounds, at a school-sponsored or school-related activity, function, or program whether on or off school grounds, at a school bus stop, on a school bus or other vehicle owned, leased, or used by a school district or school; or through the use of technology or an electronic device owned, leased, or used by a school district or school, and
- 2. at a location, activity, function, or program that is not school-related through the use of technology or an electronic device that is not owned, leased, or used by a school district or school, if the acts create a hostile environment at school for the target or witnesses, infringe on their rights at school, or materially and substantially disrupt the education process or the orderly operation of a school.

Retaliation against a person who reports bullying, provides information during an investigation of bullying, or witnesses or has reliable information about bullying is also prohibited.

In accordance with state law, Keefe Regional Technical School has adopted a comprehensive Bullying Prevention and Intervention Plan that describes the ways in which Keefe Regional Technical School responds to incidents of bullying. It includes specific information about:

- 1. Important definitions;
- 2. Ways in which to report incidents of bullying;
- 3. Creation of safety plans for targeted students;
- 4. Process of investigation by the administration;
- 5. Determination process;
- Notification obligations to students, parents, police and where appropriate school officials from neighboring school communities;
- 7. Disciplinary consequences for bullying and/or retaliation;

8. Positive approaches for teaching students about bullying and the harmful consequences of such conduct.

The full contents of the Bullying Prevention and Intervention Plan will be provided upon request, or can be accessed through the school's website. In the pages to follow, a summary of the key provisions for students and parents are provided.

I. REPORTING BULLYING OR RETALIATION

Reports of bullying or retaliation may be made by staff, students, parents or guardians, or others, and may be oral or written. Oral reports made by or to a staff member shall be recorded in writing. All staff members are required to report immediately to the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline any instance of bullying or retaliation the staff member becomes aware of or witnesses. Reports made by students, parents or guardians, or other individuals who are not staff members of the district, may be made anonymously. The district will make a variety of reporting resources available to the school community including, but not limited to, an Incident Reporting Form, a voicemail box, a dedicated mailing address, and an email address.

Use of an Incident Reporting Form is not required as a condition of making a report. The district has included a copy of the Incident Reporting Form in its beginning of the year packets and will keep such forms available at the Main Office, Guidance Office and Nurse's Office and any other location deemed appropriate by the administration. Forms will also be posted on the school's website. A student or parent may complete the form and turn it into any staff member, who is required to submit such forms to the administration. Incidents of alleged bullying will be investigated and addressed in accordance with district policy and state laws and regulations.

REPORTING BULLYING BY STUDENTS, PARENTS OR GUARDIANS, AND OTHERS

The district expects students, parents or guardians, and others who witness or become aware of an instance of bullying or retaliation involving a student to report it to the Principal and/or the Assistant Principal/Discipline. Reports may be made anonymously, but no disciplinary action will be taken against an alleged aggressor solely on the basis of an anonymous report. Students, parents or guardians, and others may request assistance from a staff member to complete a written report. Students will be provided practical, safe, private and age-appropriate ways to report and discuss an

incident of bullying with a staff member, or with the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline.

REPORTING PROCEDURES FOR STUDENTS

If you are a target of, or witness, or become aware of an act of bullying or cyber bullying, you should report it immediately.

To Report:

- Speak to any teacher, coach, bus driver, cafeteria worker, administrator, aide, counselor, custodian, or any other staff member
- Report directly to Ms. Shannon Snow, Principal
- Report directly to Mr. Collins, Assistant Principal/Discipline
- Complete an Incident Report Form and deliver it immediately to the Main Office Switchboard, the Guidance Office, or to any staff member.

The Incident Report Form is available from your teachers in all shops and classrooms, in the Main Office, in the Guidance office, in the nurse's office, and on the school website; www.keefetech.org Click on the Bullying Prevention link.

- Report via: email: report@jpkeefehs.org
- Call the dedicated hotline at: 508-416-2264

Note: the hotline number is an answering machine which is monitored by staff. You may leave a message on this machine. Anonymous reports left on this machine will be investigated. Remember, no student will be disciplined solely on the basis of an anonymous report. False reports will investigated and any student found to have submitted a false report will face severe disciplinary consequences.

REPORTING PROCEDURES FOR PARENTS OR GUARDIANS OR **OTHERS**

If you become aware of an act of bullying or cyber-bullying, you should immediately:

Report directly to Ms. Snow, Principal 508-416-2252, direct line

508-416-2264, hotline

Email: ssnow@jpkeefehs.org

Email: report@jpkeefehs.org (for anonymous reports)

Report directly to Mr. Collins, Assistant Principal/Discipline:

508-416-2260, direct line

508-416-2264, hotline

Email: kcollins@jpkeefehs.org; report@jpkeefe.org (for

anonymous reports)

Complete an Incident Report Form and deliver it immediately to the Main Office, Guidance Office, Ms. Snow, Mr. Collins, or to any staff member. The Incident Report Form is available in the Main Office, the Guidance Office, and on the school website; www.keefetech.org. Click on the Bullying Prevention link.

• Mail the Incident Report Form to:

Ms. Snow, Principal Keefe Regional Technical School 750 Winter Street Framingham, MA 01702 Attention: Reporting

 Speak to any teacher, coach, bus driver, cafeteria worker, administrator, aide, counselor, custodian, paraprofessional, or any other staff member.

Upon receiving your report, the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will immediately begin an investigation. You can expect to be contacted during the investigation, (unless you have filed an anonymous report). The Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will determine whether or not an act of bullying has occurred and you will be informed of their findings.

II. RESPONDING TO A REPORT OF BULLYING OR RETALIATION

Safety

Before fully investigating the allegations of bullying or retaliation, the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will take steps to assess the need to restore a sense of safety to the alleged target and/or to protect the alleged target from possible further incidents. Responses to promote safety may include, but not be limited to, creating a personal safety plan; predetermining seating arrangements for the target and/or the aggressor; in the classroom, at lunch, or on the bus; identifying a staff member who will act as a "safe person" for the target; and altering the either the target's or the aggressor's schedule and limiting access to the target. The Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will take additional steps to promote safety during the course of and after the investigation, as necessary.

The Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will consider what adjustments, if any, are needed in the school environment to enhance the target's sense of safety and that of others as well. One strategy that the principal or designee may use is to increase adult supervision at transition times and in locations where bullying is known to have occurred or is likely to occur.

The Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will implement appropriate strategies for protecting from bullying or retaliation a student who has reported bullying or retaliation, a student who has witnessed bullying or retaliation, a student who provides information during an investigation, or a student who has reliable information about a reported act of bullying or retaliation.

Within a reasonable period of time following the determination and the ordering of remedial and/or disciplinary action, the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will contact the target to determine whether there has been a recurrence of the prohibited conduct and whether additional supportive measures are needed. If so, the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will work with appropriate school staff to implement them immediately.

Obligations to Notify Others

Notice to parents or guardians. Upon determining that bullying or retaliation has occurred, the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will promptly notify the parents or guardians of the Target and the Aggressor of this, and of the procedures for responding to it. There may be circumstances in which the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline contacts parents or guardians prior to any investigation. Notice will be consistent with state regulations at 603 CMR 49.00.

III. INVESTIGATION

The Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will investigate promptly all reports of bullying or retaliation and, in doing so, will consider all available information known, including the nature of the allegation(s) and the ages of the students involved.

During the investigation the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will, among other things, interview students, staff, witnesses, parents or guardians, and others as necessary. The Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will remind the alleged Aggressor, Target, and witnesses that retaliation is strictly prohibited and will result in disciplinary action.

Interviews may be conducted by the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline, other staff members as determined by the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline, and in consultation with the school counselor, as appropriate.

IV. **DETERMINATIONS**

The Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will make a determination based upon all of the facts and circumstances. If, after investigation, bullying or retaliation is substantiated, the Principal or Assistant Principal/Discipline will take steps reasonably calculated to prevent recurrence and to ensure that the target is not restricted in participating in school or in benefiting from school activities. The Principal or Assistant Principal/Discipline will: 1) determine what remedial action is required, if any, and 2) determine what responsive actions and/or disciplinary action is necessary.

The Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will promptly notify the parents or guardians of the Target and the Aggressor about the results of the investigation and, if bullying or retaliation is found, what action is being taken to prevent further acts of bullying or retaliation. All notice to parents will comply with applicable state and federal student records laws and regulations. Because of the legal requirements regarding the confidentiality of student records, the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline cannot report specific information regarding other students to unauthorized third parties.

V. RESPONSES TO BULLYING

School has various tools at its disposal to respond to bullying. Each incident is handled on an individual basis. These potential responses include but are not limited to:

1. Teaching Appropriate Behavior Through Skill-building

- offering individualized skill-building sessions based on the school's/district's anti-bullying curricula;
- providing relevant educational activities for individual students or groups of students, in consultation with guidance counselors and other appropriate school personnel;
- implementing a range of academic and nonacademic positive behavioral supports to help students understand pro-social ways to achieve their goals;
- meeting with parents and guardians to engage parental support and to reinforce the anti-bullying curricula and social skills building activities at home;
- adopting behavioral plans to include a focus on developing specific social skills; and
- making a referral for evaluation.

2. Taking Disciplinary Action

If the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline decide that disciplinary action is appropriate, the disciplinary action will be determined on the basis of facts found by the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline,

including the nature of the conduct, the age of the student(s) involved, and the need to balance accountability with the teaching of appropriate behavior.

Discipline procedures for students with disabilities are governed by the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEA), which should be read in cooperation with state laws regarding student discipline.

If the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline determine that a student knowingly made a false allegation of bullying or retaliation, that student may be subject to disciplinary action.

3. Promoting Safety for the Target and Others

The Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will consider what adjustments, if any, are needed in the school environment to enhance the target's sense of safety and that of others as well.

Within a reasonable period of time following the determination and the ordering of remedial and/or disciplinary action, the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will contact the Target to determine whether there has been a recurrence of the prohibited conduct and whether additional supportive measures are needed. If so, the Principal and/or Assistant Principal/Discipline will work with appropriate school staff to implement them immediately.

VI. COLLABORATION WITH FAMILIES

The Plan at South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District includes strategies to engage and collaborate with students' families in order to increase the capacity of the district to prevent and respond to bullying. Resources for families and communication with them are essential aspects of effective collaboration. At South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District, parents or guardians are informed annually about the bullying prevention and intervention curricula used by the school district including:

- how parents and guardians can reinforce the curricula at home and support the school or district plan;
- the dynamics of bullying; and
- online safety and cyber bullying.

PARENT EDUCATION AND RESOURCES:

The district will offer education programs for parents and guardians that are focused on the parental components of the anti-bullying curricula and any social competency curricula used by the district. The programs will be offered in collaboration with the Keefe Regional Technical School Council,

the Keefe Regional Technical Special Education Parent Advisory Council, the Keefe Regional Technical School Boosters Club and through events such as Freshman Orientation and Parent's Night.

SEXUAL HARASSMENT

It is the policy of Keefe Tech to provide a learning and working atmosphere for students, employees and visitors free from sexual harassment. Sexual harassment of employees occurring in the workplace or in other settings in which employees or students may find themselves is unlawful and will not be tolerated by Keefe Tech.

It is a violation of this policy for any administrator, teacher, other employee, or any student to engage in or condone sexual harassment.

It is the responsibility of every employee to recognize acts of sexual harassment and take every action necessary to ensure that the applicable policies and procedures of this school district are implemented.

Any employee or student who believes that he or she has been subjected to sexual harassment has the right to file a complaint and to receive prompt and appropriate handling of the complaint. Further, all reasonable efforts shall be made to maintain the confidentiality and protect the privacy of all parties.

Any retaliation against an individual who has complained about sexual harassment or retaliation against any individual for cooperating with an investigation of a sexual harassment complaint is unlawful and will not be tolerated. To achieve our goal of providing a learning and working atmosphere free from sexual harassment the conduct described in this policy will not be tolerated and we have provided a procedure by which inappropriate conduct will be dealt with, if encountered by employees or students.

PROCEDURES

A. Definitions

- Sexual harassment means unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other inappropriate verbal, written or physical conduct of a sexual nature that takes place under any of the following circumstances:
 - a. When submission to such conduct is made, explicitly or implicitly, a term or

condition of employment, instruction or participation in school activities or programs;

- b. When submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used by the offender as the basis for making employment decisions or academic decisions affecting the individual subjected to sexual advances;
- c. When such conduct has the effect of unreasonably interfering with the individual's work; or
- d. When such conduct has the effect of creating an intimidating, hostile, humiliating or sexually offensive work or learning environment.

The legal definition of sexual harassment is broad and in addition to the above examples, other sexually oriented conduct, whether it is intended or not, that is unwelcome and has the effect of creating a learning or work place environment that is hostile, offensive, intimidating, or humiliating to male or female students or employees may also constitute sexual harassment.

While it is not possible to list all those additional circumstances that may constitute sexual harassment, the following are some examples of conduct which if unwelcome, may constitute sexual harassment depending upon the totality of the circumstances including the severity of the conduct and its pervasiveness:

- Unwelcome sexual advances whether they involve physical touching or not;
- Sexual epithets, jokes, written or oral references to sexual conduct, gossip regarding one's sex life; comment on an individual's body, comment about an individual's sexual activity, deficiencies, or prowess;

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019 Approved: 4/24/18

- Displaying sexually suggestive objects, pictures, cartoons;
- Unwelcome leering, whistling, brushing against the body, sexual gestures, suggestive or insulting comments;
- Inquiries into one's sexual experiences; and,
- Discussion of one's sexual activities.

Complaint Manager means the person, or persons who is (are) responsible for investigation of any complaints alleging non-compliance with this policy. Each school building shall have a Complaint Manager who shall be responsible for assisting employees and students seeking guidance or support in addressing matters relating to sexual harassment or inappropriate behavior of a sexual nature. The complaint manager for each school building is listed on the last page of this policy.

B. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES

1. Filing

- a. Any employee or student who believes that he or she has been subjected to sexual harassment has the right to file a complaint with (an immediate supervisor, the Complaint Manager, the Principal, a teacher.) If the original complaint is oral, the complaining party shall be asked to put the complaint in writing. A written complaint shall include the following: the name of the complaining party; the name of the offender; the date of the offense; the location of the offense; a description in as much detail as possible for the incident(s), including any statements made by either party; and a list of all known witnesses. A person is not prohibited from filing their complaint through other available sources.
- b. <u>Retaliation</u> -- all employees and students should take special note that, as stated above, retaliation against an

individual who has complained about sexual harassment, and retaliation against individuals for cooperating with an investigation of sexual harassment complaint is unlawful and will not be tolerated by Keefe Tech.

2. Investigation

- a. Complaints filed pursuant to this policy shall be promptly and thoroughly investigated by the Complaint Manager or individual designated by the Complaint Manager.
 - b. All circumstances of the situation shall be considered in the investigation of possible harassment incidents. In determining whether the alleged conduct constitutes sexual harassment, consideration shall be given to the totality of the circumstances, including the context in which the alleged incident occurred.
 - c. Upon completion of the investigation, the Complaint Manager shall prepare a report including the following: (1) The date(s) of the incidents); (2.) the name of the complainant; (3) the name of the offender(s); (4) a summary of the factual allegations that allege sexual harassment; (5) the name of all potential witnesses; (6) a summary of all witness statements (with copies of the actual statements attached); (7) a listing of any physical evidence available.

3. Complaint Review

- a. The Complaint Manager will be designated by the Superintendent.
- b. If the matter is not resolved within 30 days, the Complaint Manager shall set a hearing date.

4. Hearings

a. All accused employees or students shall be notified, in writing, at least 10 days before the hearing and the allegations; be allowed to attend the hearing and testify in his or her own behalf; be entitled to confront or cross-examine the complaining party and other witnesses who are called; be entitled to call witnesses in his or her own behalf; and be allowed to introduce evidence which is relevant to the issues presented by the complaint and the investigative report.

5. Written Decisions

Within 10 days of the hearing, the Complaint Manager shall issue a decision that includes a finding of facts and conclusions explaining how those facts establish a violation of the sexual harassment policy.

6. Appeals

- Every effort will be made to resolve complaints at the building level.
- Building level decision may be appealed to the Superintendent's level unless the complaint involves a person in that office.

Complaints at the building level that involve the Principal may be filed at the Superintendent's Office. A complaint involved with the Superintendent may be filed with the Chairperson of the School Committee.

C. Sanctions

An individual determined to have participated in sexual harassment will subject to the following sanctions or a combination thereof:

1. All students a. Discussion/Mediator involving third party

- b. Reprimand either verbal or written
- c. Suspension either in-house or out of school

All Staff a. Discussion/Mediator involving a third party

- b. Reprimand either verbal or written
- c. Suspension with or without pay
- d. Dismissal
- D. Monitoring and Publication of Policy
- 1. Annually students and employees will receive a copy of this policy and a review of the procedures for filing a complaint.
- 2. The Superintendent shall report periodically, in Executive Session, to the School Committee any substantiated complaint.
- 3. On an annual basis the Superintendent will give a Public Report on the status of gender equity in Keefe Tech.

E. State and Federal Remedies

In addition to the above, employees who believe they have been subjected to sexual harassment, may file a formal complaint with either or both of the government agencies set forth below. Using our complaint process does not prohibit employees from filing a complaint with these agencies. Each of the agencies has a short time period for filing a claim (EEOC - 180 days; MCAD - 6 months).

1. The United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC")

One Congress Street, 10th Floor Boston, Massachusetts 02114 617-565-3200

2. The Massachusetts Massachusetts Commission Against Discrimination ("MCAD")

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019 Approved: 4/24/18 Boston Office: One Ashburton Place, Room 601 Boston, Massachusetts 02108 617-727-3990

Springfield Office: 424 Dwight Street, Room 220 Springfield, Massachusetts 01103 413-739-2145

COMPLAINT MANAGERS FOR THE DISTRICT

Adrienne Bogusky, Director of Guidance and Admissions P: 508.416.2276 E: abogusky@jpkeefehs.org

Kenneth Collins, Assistant Principal P: 508.416.2260 E: kcollins@jpkeefehs.org

HARASSMENT

NON-DISCRIMINATION NOTICE and CIVIL RIGHTS AND SAFETY INFORMATION FOR SCHOOL PERSONNEL, PARENTS/GUARDIANS AND STUDENTS

Statement:

It is the role of Keefe Regional Technical School to provide a safe and secure learning environment for all its students without distinction based on race, religion, ethnicity, disability, gender, or sexual orientation. Discrimination, sexual and bias motivated harassment and violations of civil rights disrupt the educational process and will not be tolerated.

It shall be a violation for any pupil, teacher, administrator or other school personnel to engage in sexual or bias-related harassment (referred to as "wrongful harassment") or violate the civil rights of any pupil, teacher, administrator or other school personnel. Any conduct rising to level of a particularly serious infraction will result in referral to law enforcement agencies.

The School will act to investigate all complaints, formal or informal, verbal or written, of sexual or bias related harassment or violations of civil rights and to take appropriate action against any pupil, teacher, administrator or other school personnel who is found in violation.

Scope of Application

This notice applies to bias crimes, civil rights violations, bias incidents and bias related harassments occurring on school premises or property, or in the course of school sponsored activities, including those outside of school if there is a detrimental effect on the school or educational environment.

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019 Approved: 4/24/18

Commitment to Prevention

This institution is committed to prevention, re-mediation and accurate reporting of bias incidents and civil rights violations, to the end that all students can enjoy the advantages of a safe and tolerant learning environment where individual differences are respected. The school undertakes to engage in activities and programming such as training of all school personnel, intended to foster respect for diversity, civil rights and non-violence in school settings.

Low Tolerance for Known Civil Rights Violations: Required Reporting and Intervention to Stop Harassment

- 1. School employees must intervene in ongoing civil rights violations and episodes of wrongful harassment whenever witnessed or reported, to the extent intervention can be done safely. School employees must report a civil rights violation or episode of wrongful harassment to the building civil rights administrator. Once reported, the building civil rights administrator will prepare written documentation of the event. The building civil rights administrator must intervene in ongoing matters of civil rights violations and episodes of wrongful harassment, summoning assistance as necessary. All school bus drivers must receive training to be in compliance with state regulations and school district requirements, and mandated reporting of incidents that occur on their bus.
- 2. The primary objective of school intervention in a civil rights matter is to put a swift end to, and prevent any recurrence of, any wrongful conduct, so as to ensure the safety of all students and a school environment free of wrongful harassment and civil rights violations. Intervention should be undertaken immediately, as needed, on a short term basis, and more comprehensively once a civil rights violation has been found to occur. The school will take all necessary steps within its authority to implement the objective of stopping continuing civil rights violations and wrongful harassment and restoring and preserving an environment free of such conduct.
- s. Effective, and if need be, escalating, measures should be used to definitively stop harassment and violence. School officials should immediately consider and use regular administrative actions to defuse a civil rights or wrongful harassment situation wherever possible. Relevant school disciplinary hearings should begin and proceed on an expedited basis where there is a threat of ongoing interference with civil rights. Disciplinary action appropriate to the offender's conduct should be taken when a violation is found. Potential criminal conduct should be reported to law enforcement and legal remedies pursued as necessary to protect civil rights.

Designation of Civil Rights Administrators

The district will have two Civil Rights Coordinators, one male and one female, and the selection and supervision is at the discretion of the Superintendent. The Principal (herein referred to as the designee) of Keefe Regional Technical School will have the responsibility to respond to matters of civil rights that arise in the school setting. The Principal shall accept the responsibility to receive reports and complaints of civil rights violations from students, faculty or staff. The Principal will take responsibility for upholding school civil rights and safety policies. The Principal will also serve as a liaison with law enforcement agencies and assist the Superintendent of Schools in making referrals of possible criminal matter to law enforcement.

Identification of Prohibited Conduct

a. Definitions

i.)BIAS INCIDENT means any act, including conduct or speech, directed at or which occurs to a person or property because of actual or perceived race, religion, ethnicity, disability, gender or sexual orientation. A bias incident may or may not be a criminal act.

ii.)BIAS INDICATORS are objective facts and circumstances that suggest that an action was motivated in whole or in part by a particular type of bias.

iii.)BIAS MOTIVES recognized by Massachusetts' law as causing hate crimes include prejudice based on race, religion, ethnicity, disability, gender and sexual orientation.

iv.)CIVIL RIGHTS VIOLATIONS involve interfering by threats, intimidation or coercion, with someone's enjoyment of constitutional or statutory rights. Rights protected against interference include non-discrimination in access to advantages and privileges of a public school education. The term "civil rights violation" also covers bias-related and sexual harassment and bias crimes.

- v.) DISCRIMINATION consists of actions taken against others, which treat them unequally because of race, religion, national origin, disability, sexual orientation or gender.
- vi.) HARASSMENT consists of unwelcome verbal, written or physical conduct targeting specific person(s), which is sufficiently severe, persistent or pervasive to create an intimidating, hostile, humiliating or offensive school environment, or substantially interfere with the progress of a student's education.
- (1)BIAS-RELATED HARASSMENT will present bias indicators, most commonly epithets: name calling derogatory to a particular racial, religious or sexual orientation group.
- (2)SEXUAL HARASSMENT covers instances of physical or verbal conduct of a sexual nature, not limited to, but including, sexual advances, which foster a hostile educational environment for the victim.

vii.)HATE CRIMES include any criminal acts, as defined in M.G.L. c 22C, § 32, to which recognized types of bias motives are an evident contributing factor. Criminal bias motivated conduct entails, at a minimum, threats. Criminal conduct includes acts putting someone in fear of immediate physical harm (assaults) and actual physical violence (assault and battery), and grows most serious if a victim suffers any bodily injury.

viii.)HOSTILE ENVIRONMENT exists when a student has been or is subjected to threats, intimidation or coercion by another (or others) or is reasonably in fear for his or her safety. Whether a school environment has become hostile must be evaluated based on the totality of the circumstances. Repeated instances of bias related and sexual harassment create a hostile environment for the victim. A single act of harassment can also create a hostile or intimidating environment if sufficiently severe. A hostile environment does not necessarily entail that a student exhibits quantifiable harm, such as a drop in grades.

ix.)STALKING, as prohibited by M.G.L. c265, sec 43, consist of intentional conduct involving: (1) two or more acts directed at a specific person, (2) which would cause a reasonable person substantial distress, (3) where the perpetrator has more threats causing the targeted person fear of death or injury.

b. Common Bias Indicators:

- i.) Bias related comments or epithets
- ii.) Bias related markings, drawings or graffiti
- iii.) Use of bias related symbols
- iv.) No clear economic motive for an assault and battery
- v.) Crime involving disproportionate cruelty or brutality
- vi.) Offender history of crimes with similar motives and victims of the same group

c. Examples of Civil Rights Violations and Bias Incidents:

- i.) Unwelcome verbal, written or physical conduct directed at the characteristics of a person's race or color, such as nicknames emphasizing stereotypes, racial slurs, comments on manner or speaking and negative references to racial customs (racial and color harassment)
- ii.) Unwelcome verbal, written or physical conduct, directed at the characteristics of a person's religion, such as derogatory comments regarding surnames, religious tradition or religious clothing, or religious slurs or graffiti (religious harassment)
- iii.) Conduct directed at the characteristics of a person's national origin, such as negative comments regarding surnames, manner of speaking, customs, language or ethnic slurs (national origin harassment)
- iv.) Conduct directed at the characteristics of a person's sexual orientation actual, perceived, or asserted -such as negative name calling and imitating mannerisms (sexual orientation harassment)
- v.) Conduct directed at the characteristics of a person's disabling condition, such as imitating manner of speech or movement, or interference with necessary equipment (disability harassment)

- vi.) Physical conduct putting someone in fear of imminent harm, coupled with name calling of a bigoted nature (crime of assault)
- vii.) Repeated, purposeful following of someone, coupled with evident bias against the victim's actual or perceived group status (civil rights violation or crime of stalking)
- viii) Painting swastikas on walls or other public or private property (crime of vandalism)
- ix.) Hitting someone because of his or her actual or perceived group status (crime of battery)

Procedures for Responding to and Investigating Incidents

- Whenever a staff person witnesses, or some third party reports, a possible civil rights violation, the school's designated civil rights administrator must be notified. The school's civil rights designee, in conjunction with school safety personnel and the Principal, should immediately begin an investigation. In an emergency, 911 must be called.
- 2. A student coming forward to report a civil rights or wrongful harassment violation s/he has experienced should be directed to the school's designated civil rights administrator after any emergency needs are attended. Consideration should be given to whether any immediate or interim steps are necessary to ensure the safety of and avert retaliation against the complainant.
- 3. The investigation must determine whether a civil rights or wrongful harassment violation has, in fact, occurred. An immediate aim of the investigation should be preserving and gathering of evidence from the scene of an incident. Bias-related graffiti should be photographed and then removed. The investigator should seek to interview all victims and witnesses at the scene, or as soon thereafter as possible, and then interview others who may have relevant knowledge as well. The investigation may also consist of any other methods and documents deemed relevant and useful.
- 4. All the circumstances as found should be carefully evaluated for the presence of bias indicators that would characterize the matter as a civil rights violation. The investigator should make a finding as to whether a civil rights or wrongful harassment infraction in violation of this policy has occurred.

Consequences for Civil Rights Violations and Failures to Act as Required

1. Non-disciplinary corrective actions:

Potential civil rights or wrongful harassment violations can be addressed with steps that are not punitive in character, without the necessity of disciplinary proceedings. These steps generally lie within the ordinary discretion of Principals and school officials. Examples of non-disciplinary

actions that may be appropriate in some instances include counseling, assignment to participate in a diversity awareness training program, separating offender and victim, parent/guardian conferences, and special work assignments such as a composition on a civil rights-related subject.

2. <u>Disciplinary Proceedings</u>

Violations of the civil rights or wrongful harassment of a student or school employee which are found to have occurred may warrant the imposition of sanctions up to and including suspension and expulsion (for students) and suspension or termination (for employees). Disciplinary actions will be taken toward the goals of eliminating the offending conduct, preventing reoccurrence and reestablishing a school environment conducive for the victim to learn. The school may consider completion of a youth diversion program as a sanction for student violators, standing alone or in conjunction with other disciplinary actions, for violations of civil rights or wrongful harassment.

Failure to Act by Administrators and Teachers

Administrators and teachers have a duty to act to stop witnessed sexual or bias harassment and hate crimes, as safely as can be done, and to report occurrences to the civil rights administrators and sometimes the police. A clear failure to act as this policy would direct might result in dismissal action. The school Administration will develop further sanctions and actions to address repeated instances of a failure to act in accordance with this policy.

Commitment to Non-Retaliation

To secure the unimpeded reporting of bias activity called for in this notice, Keefe Regional Technical School will deal seriously with any and all threats or acts of retaliation for the good faith filing of a complaint. Actual or threatened retaliation for the reporting of a civil rights matter constitutes a separate and additional disciplinary infraction warranting corrective actions. Staff will monitor the situations of victims/complainants carefully to ensure that no threats or acts of reprisal are made. Appropriate and immediate non-disciplinary administrative actions to mitigate possible or actual retaliation may also be taken, to the extent administrators have discretion to act.

Referral to Law Enforcement

Whenever a school employee has reason to believe that a potential hate crime has been or is about to be committed, s/he should notify the school civil rights designee and, especially in an emergency, the local police. The civil rights designee has chief responsibility for notifying the police of potential hate crimes in non-emergency situations; the referral is mandatory whenever a probable hate crime is at issue.

Documentation Requirements

a. Record keeping

The designated civil rights administrator will be responsible for keeping records of all civil rights violations and hate crimes reported for the school. These records shall be confidential and grouped according to school year and grade. In addition to recording the particulars of the incident itself, the system should record the actions taken in response and the results of the investigation and intervention. The civil rights administrator shall keep this information gathered at a central place. The retention of records will be consistent with the M.G.L. on student records.

b. Monitoring and Tracking to Identify Patterns

Records should be maintained so as to permit administrators to detect patterns in civil rights violations, repeat offenders and problem locations. Responsive action should be tailored based on the pattern information that records reveal.

c. Dissemination of Information and Training

- 1. This notice shall be conspicuously posted throughout each school building in areas accessible to pupils and staff members.
- 2. This notice shall appear in the Faculty and Student Handbook.
- 3. The School District will provide instruction in the provisions of this notice to teachers, other employees, and students.
- 4. This notice shall be reviewed at least annually for compliance with state and federal law.

HARASSMENT OFFENSES

1st Offense:

Complaint should be handled by Assistant Principals who, after receiving all information regarding the complaint, should act on it immediately, while giving all parties involved due process.

S/he may do any of the following:

- Bring students and staff who are involved in the incident together to come to a mutual understanding and establish expectations for expected decorum; get verbal promises; file reports.
- 2. Offer student(s) peer mediation as a resolve.
- 3. Deem that the complaint involves a deliberate, unprovoked, unwelcome act of harassment and impose disciplinary sanctions. In all cases, the Principal and parents/guardians of both the individual filing the complaint as well as those accused will be notified. Disciplinary sanctions may include suspension, school service, required counseling component, parent/guardian conference, recommendation for exclusion, and/or expulsion.

2nd Offense (following due process):

Out of school suspension and required counseling component, as well as parent/guardian conference.

Notify superintendent of schools.

3rd and /or subsequent offenses (following due process):

Indefinite out of school suspension.

Principal recommendation to superintendent for exclusion.

NOTE: Verbal threats to harm others will be dealt with as issues of assault and/or battery.

HAZING AND HAZING PENALTIES

Any student who violates the following, will be subject to suspension or expulsion, dependent upon the seriousness of the act.

The Massachusetts General Court adopted the following law (Chapter 269, § 17, 18,19) on November 26, 1985 which was amended on January 5, 1988:

Section 17

Whoever is a principal organizer or participant in the crime of hazing, as defined herein, shall be punished by a fine of not more than three thousand dollars or by imprisonment in a house of correction for not more than one year, or both such fine and imprisonment.

The term "hazing" as used in this section and in sections eighteen and nineteen, shall mean any conduct or method of initiation into any student organization, whether on public or private property, which willfully or recklessly endangers the physical or mental health of any student or other person. Such conduct shall include whipping, beating, branding, forced calisthenics, exposure to the weather, forced consumption of any food, liquor, beverage, drug or other substance, or any other brutal treatment or forced physical activity which is likely to adversely affect the physical health or safety of any such student or other person, or which subjects such student or other person to extreme mental stress, including extended deprivation of sleep or rest or extended isolation.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this section to the contrary, consent shall not be available as a defense to any prosecution under this action.

Section 18

Whoever knows that another person is the victim of hazing as defined in section seventeen and is at the scene of such crime shall, to the extent that such person can do so without danger or peril to himself or others, report said crime to an appropriate law enforcement official as soon as reasonably possible. A fine of not more than one thousand dollars shall punish whoever fails to report such crime.

Section 19

Each institution of secondary education and each public and private institution of post-secondary education shall issue to every student group, student team or student organization which is part of such institution or is recognized by the institution or permitted by the institution to use its name or facilities or is known by the institution to exist as an unaffiliated student group, student team or student organization, a copy of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen; provided, however, that an institution's compliance with this section's requirement that an institution issue copies of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen to unaffiliated student groups, teams or organizations shall not constitute evidence of the institution's recognition or endorsement of said unaffiliated student groups, teams or organizations.

Each such group, team or organization shall distribute a copy of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen to each of its members, plebes, pledges or applicants for membership. It shall be the duty of each such group, team, or organization, acting through its designated officer, to deliver annually, to the institution an attested acknowledgment stating that such group, team or organization has received a copy of this section and said section seventeen and eighteen, that each of its members, plebes, pledges, or applicants has received a copy of sections seventeen and eighteen, and that such group, team or organization understands and agrees to comply with the provisions of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen.

Each institution of secondary education and each public or private institution of post-secondary education shall, at least annually, before or at the start of enrollment, deliver to each person who enrolls as a full time student in such institution a copy of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen.

Each institution of secondary education and each public and private institution of post-secondary education shall file, at least annually, a report with the regents of higher education and in the case of secondary institutions, the board of education, certifying that such institution has complied with its responsibility to inform student groups, teams or organizations and to notify each full time student enrolled by it of the provisions of this section and sections seventeen and eighteen and also certifying that said institution has adopted a disciplinary policy with regard to the organizers and participants of hazing, and that such policy has been set forth with appropriate emphasis in the Student Handbook or similar means of communicating the institution's policies to its student. The board of regents and, in the case of secondary institutions, the board of education shall promulgate regulations governing the content and frequency of such reports, and shall forthwith report to the attorney general any such institution that fails to make such report.

Any incident of hazing of any nature will be documented and sent to the parent, via certified mail, disclosing the full nature of the complaint. The consequences of hazing will range from verbal reprimand to suspension or expulsion from school.

NON-DISCRIMINATION NOTICE, CIVIL RIGHTS, AND SAFETY INFORMATION FOR SCHOOL PERSONNEL, PARENTS, AND STUDENTS

The South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District has been working on a variety of strategies to ensure the safety of all of our school community.

One of those strategies is to build an increasing awareness and understanding in all of us of those civil rights granted to us by law, such as those summarized below:

- Title I of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990: Prohibits discrimination, exclusion from participation and denial of benefits on the basis of disability in the areas of employment (Adrienne Bogusky).
- Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990: Prohibits discrimination, exclusion from participation, and denial of benefits on the basis of disability in the areas of educational programming (Adrienne Bogusky, 504 Coordinator).
- Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972: Prohibits discrimination, exclusion form participation, and denial of benefits in educational programs on the basis of sex (Adrienne Bogusky 504 Coordinator).
- Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964: Prohibits discrimination, exclusion from participation, and denial of benefits based on race, color, or national origin (Adrienne Bogusky 504 Coordinator).
- Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973: Prohibits discrimination, exclusion from participation, and denial of benefits based on disability (Adrienne Bogusky 504 Coordinator).

As an educational institution, the South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District is committed to creating and maintaining schools preventing discrimination of all types. At the same time, ensure the health and safety of all who work and learn within our schools.

NOTICE OF NONDISCRIMINATION

The South Middlesex Regional Vocational School District is committed to compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). The district intends to ensure that the individuals with disabilities, whether they are employed, apply for a position, or visit facilities within the schools are treated fairly and given an equal opportunity to access facilities, programs, activities and employment.

It is unlawful for the South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District to discriminate on the basis of disability against a qualified individual with a disability in regard to

- a) Recruitment, advertising job application and employment procedures
- Hiring, upgrading, promotion, award of tenure, demotion, transfer, layoff, termination, right of return from layoff and rehiring
- c) Rates of pay or any other form of compensation and changes in compensation
- d) Job assignments, job classifications, organization structures, position descriptions, lines of progression and seniority lists
- e) Leaves of absence, sick leave or any other leaves
- f) Fringe benefits available by virtue of employment, whether or not administered by the covered entity
- g) Selection and financial support for training including apprenticeships, professional meetings, conferences and other related activities and election for leaves of absence to pursue training
- Activities sponsored by a covered entity including social and recreational programs; and
- i) Any other term, condition or privilege of employment

The South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District will not isolate individuals with disabilities, discriminate on the basis of disabilities through contracts, avoid using qualification standards, criteria, methods of administration or tests that discriminate against individuals with disabilities, or avoid making unreasonable accommodation to an otherwise qualified individual with a disability.

The ADA requires that the district focus on the ability, not the disability, of the individual. The South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District will consider reasonable accommodations providing the individual can perform essential functions of the position. It is not required, however, to give preferential treatment to individuals with disabilities or lower the expected standards of performance.

The South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District is committed to meeting the intent and spirit of ADA. All employees are urged to help meet this goal. If anyone believes that Keefe Regional Technical School has discriminated against him/her or someone else on the basis of disability, or if anyone has questions or concerns about the school system's responsibilities in this regard, please contact the Section 504/ADA Coordinator.

EQUAL ACCESS

All courses of study, co-curricular activities, services and facilities offered at Keefe Regional Technical School are available to all students without regard to race, color, national origin, gender identity, religion, limited English

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019 Approved: 4/24/18 proficiency, sexual orientation, disability, or housing status (Title IX, Chapter 622).

SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT OF 1973

This act prohibits discrimination against persons with a disability in any program receiving federal financial assistance. In order to fulfill obligations under Section 504, the South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District has the responsibility to avoid discrimination in policies and practices regarding its personnel and students. No discrimination against any person with a disability should knowingly be permitted in any programs or practices of the school system.

Keefe Regional Technical School has the responsibility under Section 504 to identify, evaluate, and if the student is determined to be eligible under Section 504, to afford access to appropriate education services. Questions should be directed to the designated Section 504 Coordinator.

DISCIPLINE OF STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES

Keefe Regional Technical School recognizes its responsibility in the education of students with disabilities, and adheres to the regulations of Chapter 71b: § 3, of the Massachusetts General Laws.

The Individual Educational Plan (IEP) or 504 Plan of every student with a disability must indicate why the student is or is not expected to meet the regular discipline code and, if not, what alteration of the code is required. If an altered discipline code is required, such alterations shall be described in the IEP or 504 Plan, as appropriate, and implemented.

A student with a disability, who is suspended for more than ten consecutive days or cumulative days (where there is a pattern of conduct) in a school year is entitled to certain due process rights as a result of that student's "change in placement" resulting from the suspensions. Suspension is a removal of a student from the program prescribed in his/her IEP or from accessing the educational program under Section 594. The term may include in-school suspension as well as any exclusion from transportation services which prohibits the student's participating in his/her education program.

It is the responsibility of the school system to ensure that due process requirements be applied in disciplinary actions as they are with non-disabled students, and to provide a free appropriate public education (FAPE) to all students with disabilities.

When it is known that the suspension(s) of a student with a disability will accumulate to ten days in a school year, the school must take the following actions:

- No later than 10 (business) days after taking disciplinary action that results in a Special Education student being suspended from school for more than 10 school days in a school year, the school must convene a Team meeting:
 - a. The Team will provide parental notification of disciplinary action and procedural safeguards;

The Team will conduct a Manifestation Determination to establish: (1) was the conduct in question caused by, or did it have a direct and substantial relationship to, the student's disability? And/or (2) was the conduct in question the direct result of the school's failure to implement the IEP? If the answer to one or both of these questions is yes, then the conduct is a manifestation of the student's disability. The Team shall develop a plan for conducting a functional behavioral assessment (FBA) and a behavioral intervention plan (BIP) for the student will be implemented. If a BIP already exists, the Team shall review it to determine if any modifications are necessary to address the conduct that was in question.

- 1) If the behavior is a manifestation of the disability, then the student is entitled to return to his/her then current educational placement, unless the student's conduct qualifies for an IAES (see below) or the parents agree to a different placement; or
- 2) If the behavior is not a manifestation of the disability, then the code of conduct (as outlined in the Handbook and/or altered by the IEP or 504 Plan) will be applied;
- Students on an IEB will continue to receive service during the period of suspension beginning on the 11th day.
- b. The Team will make changes to the IEP or 504 Plan or any placement in an interim alternative educational setting will be implemented immediately upon acceptance by the parent/guardian.
- The student may be assigned, as a result of a TEAM meeting, to an Interim Alternative Educational Setting (IAES) for up to 45 days if the student is found to:
 - a. be in possession of a weapon on school grounds or at school functions;

- be in possession of or use illegal drugs on school grounds or at school functions;
- c. sell or solicit controlled substances in school or at school functions;
- d. inflicts serious bodily injury on another person;
- a student may also be placed in an IAES by agreement of the parents and school personnel.
- 3. The school may seek an order from the Department of Education Bureau of Special Education Appeals (BSEA) placing a student in an IAES for up to 45 days if:
 - a. the school has demonstrated by substantial evidence that maintaining the current placement is substantially likely to result in injury to the student or others;
 - b. the current placement is inappropriate; and
 - the school has made reasonable efforts to minimize the risk of harm in the current placement.
- 4. The BSEA has developed policies and procedures to expedite disputes arising from conflicts regarding discipline as outlined in the Parents' Rights Brochure.

<u>Procedural Requirements for Students Not Yet Determined to be Eligible for Special Education Services</u>

- If, prior to a disciplinary action, the district had knowledge that
 the student may be a student with a disability, then the district
 shall make all protections available to the student until and unless
 the student is subsequently determined to be not eligible for
 services. The district may be considered to have prior knowledge
 if:
 - a. The parent had expressed a specific concern in writing; or
 - b. The parent had requested a special education evaluation; or
 - c. District staff had expressed directly to the Special Education Director or other supervisory personnel specific concerns about a pattern of behavior demonstrated by the student.

The district may not be considered to have prior knowledge if the parent has not consented to an evaluation of the student or has refused special education services, or if the evaluation of the student has resulted in a determination of ineligibility.

If the district had no reason to consider the student disabled, and the parent requests an evaluation subsequent to the disciplinary action, the district must have procedures consistent with federal

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019 101 Approved: 4/24/18 requirements to conduct an expedited evaluation to determine eligibility.

If the student is found eligible, then she/she receives all procedural protections subsequent to the finding of eligibility.

DUE PROCESS PROCEDURES FOR ALL STUDENTS

Temporary (Short Term) Suspension- 10 days or less

- 1. An oral and written notice of the charges against you.
- 2. An explanation for the basis of the accusation.
- 3. An opportunity to present your side of the story.

Expulsion (Permanent removal from Keefe Regional Technical School)

- Written notice of the charges.
- The right to be represented by a lawyer or another person acting on your behalf.
- Adequate time to prepare for the hearing.
- The right to question witnesses against you.
- 5. A reasonably prompt written decision, including specific grounds for that decision.
- Any student who has been charged with a felony may be excluded from school if the principal determines that the student's continued presence in school would have a substantial detrimental effect on the general welfare of the school. Upon return to Keefe Regional Technical School, reconsideration of the career-technical program placement may be necessary. The statute (M.G.L. Chapter 71: § 37H1/2) also allows for the expulsion of a student who has been convicted, adjudicated or admitted guilt to a felony and is deemed to constitute a detrimental effect on the welfare of the school.
- The due process procedures regarding the discipline of students with disabilities are in addition to the procedures set forth below regarding the suspension/expulsion of students under G.L. c. 71, §§ 37H, 37H 1/2 and 37H 3/4.

SUBSTANCE USE POLICY

Keefe Regional Technical School is committed to providing an alcohol-free, tobacco-free, and drug-free learning environment. In order to protect the health and safety of our school community, Keefe Regional Technical School prohibits student use or consumption of alcohol, tobacco products, or drugs on school property or at any school function. A student shall not, regardless of the quantity, use or consume, possess, buy or sell, or give away any

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019

beverage containing alcohol; any tobacco product, including vapor/E-cigarettes; marijuana; steroids; or any controlled substances.

Additionally, any student who is under the influence of drugs or alcoholic beverages prior to, or during, attendance at or participation in a school-sponsored activity, will be barred from that activity and may be subject to disciplinary action.

In accordance with M.G.L. c. 71, section 96, this policy shall be posted on the Keefe Regional Technical School website and notice shall be provided to all students and parents of this policy in accordance with state law. Additionally, the district shall file a copy of this policy with DESE in accordance with law in a manner requested by DESE.

Massachusetts Recreational Marijuana Law

- The law <u>does not authorize</u> possession or consumption of marijuana or marijuana accessories on public or provate school grounds
- Smoking marijuana in a public place is illegal.
- Operating under the influence of marijuana is illegal.

TEACHING ABOUT ALCOHOL, TOBACCO, AND DRUGS

Keefe Regional Technical School understands that substance use prevention requires education. In accordance with state and federal law, Keefe Regional Technical School shall provide age-appropriate, developmentally appropriate, evidence-based alcohol, tobacco, and drug prevention education programs. Such programs shall address the legal, social, and health consequences of alcohol, tobacco, and drug use, with emphasis on nonuse by school-age children.

In accordance with M.G.L. c. 71, section 96, this policy shall be posted on the Keefe Regional Technical School website and notice shall be provided to all students and parents in accordance with state law. Additionally, the district shall file a copy of this policy with DESE in accordance with law in a manner requested by DESE.

SUSPENSION/EXPULSION BY THE PRINCIPAL

(Reference- M.G.L. Chapter 71: \$ 37H – School Committee Policy re: Student Discipline; \$37H½. Felony complaint or conviction of student; suspension; expulsion; right to appeal; \$ 37H3/4 - Suspension or expulsion on grounds other than those set forth in sections 37H and 37H1/2)

- 1. Suspension/Expulsion for Dangerous Weapons and Controlled Substances $\S\,37H$
- a) Any student who is found on school premises or at school-sponsored or school-related events, including athletic games, in possession of a dangerous weapon, including, but not limited to, a gun or a knife or a controlled substance, as defined in Chapter 94C, including but not limited to, marijuana, cocaine and heroin, may be subject to expulsion from the school or school district by the principal.
- b) Any student who assaults a principal, assistant principal, teacher, teacher's aide, or other educational staff on school premises or at school-sponsored or school-related events, including athletic games, may be subject to expulsion from the school or school district by the principal.
- c) Any student who is charged with a violation of either paragraph (a) or (b), will be notified in writing of an opportunity for a hearing; provided, however, that the student may have representation, along with the opportunity to present evidence and witnesses at said hearing before the principal. After said hearing, a principal may, in his/her discretion, decide to suspend rather than expel a student who has been determined to have violated either paragraph (a) or (b).
- d) Any student who has been expelled from the District pursuant to these provisions, shall have the right to appeal to the superintendent. The expelled student shall have ten days from the date of the expulsion in which to notify the superintendent of his appeal. The student has the right to counsel at a hearing before the superintendent. The subject matter of the appeal shall not be limited solely to a factual determination of whether the student has violated any provisions of this section.
- e) Any school district that suspends or expels a student under this section shall continue to provide educational services to the student during the period of suspension or expulsion under section 21 of chapter 76. If the student moves to another district during the period of suspension or expulsion, the new district of residence shall either admit the student to the school or provide educational services to the student in an education service plan, under section 21 of chapter 76.
- 2. Suspension/Exclusion for Felony Complaint or Conviction of Student \$37H1/2

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019 104 Approved: 4/24/18

- a) Upon the issuance of a criminal complaint charging a student with a felony or upon the issuance of a felony delinquency complaint against a student, the principal of a school in which the student is enrolled may suspend such student for a period of time determined appropriate by said principal if said principal determines that the student's continued presence in school would have a substantial detrimental effect on the general welfare of the school. The student shall receive written notification of the charges and the reasons for such suspension prior to such suspension taking effect. The student shall also receive written notification of his right to appeal and the process for appealing such suspension; provided, however, that such suspension shall remain in effect prior to any appeal hearing conducted by the superintendent.
- b) The student shall have the right to appeal the suspension to the superintendent. The student shall notify the superintendent in writing of his request for an appeal no later than five calendar days following the effective date of the suspension. The superintendent shall hold a hearing with the student and the student's parent or guardian within three calendar days of the student's request for an appeal. At the hearing, the student shall have the right to present oral and written testimony on his behalf, and shall have the right to counsel. The superintendent shall have the authority to overturn or alter the decision of the principal, including recommending an alternate educational program for the student. The superintendent shall render a decision on the appeal within five calendar days of the hearing. Such decision shall be the final decision of the School District with regard to the suspension.
- c) Upon a student being convicted of a felony or upon an adjudication or admission in court of guilt with respect to such a felony or felony delinquency, the principal may expel said student if such principal determines that the student's continued presence in school would have a substantial detrimental effect on the general welfare of the school. The student shall receive written notification of the charges and reasons for such expulsion prior to such expulsion taking effect. The student shall also receive written notification of his right to appeal and the process for appealing such expulsion; provided, however, that the expulsion shall remain in effect prior to any appeal hearing conducted by the superintendent.
- (d) The student shall have the right to appeal the expulsion to the superintendent. The student shall notify the superintendent, in writing, of his request for an appeal no later than five calendar days following the effective date of the expulsion. The superintendent shall hold a hearing with the student and the student's parent or guardian within three calendar days of the expulsion. At the hearing, the student shall have the right to present oral and written testimony on his behalf, and shall have the right to counsel. The superintendent shall have the authority to overturn or alter the decision of the principal, including recommending an alternate educational program for the student. The

superintendent shall render a decision on the appeal within five calendar days of the hearing. Such decision shall be the final decision of the city, town or regional school district with regard to the expulsion. . Any school district that suspends or expels a student under this section shall continue to provide educational services to the student during the period of suspension or expulsion under section 21 of chapter 76. If the student moves to another district during the period of suspension or expulsion, the new district of residence shall either admit the student to the school or provide educational services to the student in an education service plan, under section 21 of chapter 76.

EXPULSION PURSUANT TO M.G.L. C. 71, §37H AND 37H ½

Students are subject to expulsion (i.e., permanent exclusion) by the Principal for the conduct listed below. (See also, M.G.L. ch. 71, §§37H at page [])

- Possession of a dangerous weapon*
- Possession of a controlled substance (such as marijuana, cocaine, or prescription drugs not authorized by the school nurse)
- Assault on teachers, administrative staff or other educational personnel

*This includes not only knives and guns, explosive devices and realistic replicas of such weapons/devices, but also other objects used to assault another person or to otherwise create a dangerous situation, such as a baseball bat, a pair of scissors, matches or a lighter. While such objects would not always constitute "dangerous weapons", administrators and educational professionals will review the circumstances of each case and make a reasonable determination about whether a particular object in a student's possession constitutes a dangerous weapon in the school setting. Any illegal weapon will be turned over to the Police Department. Any student who brings a firearm to school must be expelled for a minimum of one school year, with exceptions granted only by the superintendent. (The definition of a firearm includes but is not limited to guns (including a starter gun), bombs, grenades, rockets, missiles, mines and similar devices.)

Students are also subject to long term suspension/expulsion by the Principal when charged/convicted of a felony based upon the standards and procedures set forth in M.G.L. c.71, \$37H1/2.

Any student who is removed from school for a disciplinary offense under G.L. c. 71, \$37H or $\$37H\frac{1}{2}$ for more than ten consecutive days will have an opportunity to receive educational services and make academic progress during the period of removal under a school-wide education service plan, and will be so informed at the time of the suspension/expulsion.

PROCEDURES APPLICABLE TO CONDUCT COVERED BY M.G.L. C. 71, \$37H AND 37H ½

When considering the exclusion of a student from school for possession of a dangerous weapon, possession of a controlled substance (such as marijuana, cocaine, or prescription drugs not authorized by the school nurse), or assault on teachers, an administrator may place a student on short term suspension (ten days or less) based upon an informal hearing, to be followed by a formal hearing before the Principal within that period of suspension to determine whether to take additional disciplinary action, up to and including expulsion from school.

- 1. The informal hearing will be in the form of a conference between the student and the principal or designee. At this conference, the student (1) shall be informed of the reason for the conference, (2) shall be given the opportunity to present his or her side of the story, and (3) shall be given a decision on the suspension. If the administrator deems delay of the hearing necessary to avoid danger or substantial disruption, this process may occur immediately after, rather than before, the suspension.
- 2. Prior to putting a suspension into effect, the principal or designee shall make a reasonable effort to telephone and inform the student's parent or guardian of the impending suspension; this shall include attempts to contact the parents or guardian at home and at work. Parents may contact the school for additional information regarding the suspension.
- 3. A letter will be mailed to the parent/guardian of the suspended student stating:
 - a) The reason for the suspension
 - b) A statement of the effective date and duration of the suspension
 - c) A statement regarding whether or not the Principal will schedule a formal hearing to consider further discipline, up to and including expulsion from school in accordance with M.G.L. c. 71, \$37H

When considering a suspension/expulsion of a student charged with/convicted of felony, the Principal will use the standards and procedures set forth in M.G.L. c.71, §37H1/2. In addition, prior to initiating such procedures, the Principal may meet informally with the student and/or his parents to review the charge and the applicable standards if the Principal deems appropriate.

Continuation of Educational Services under M.G. L. ch. 71, §37H and §37H½:

Any student who is removed from school for a disciplinary offense under G.L. c. 71, \$37H or \$37H½ for more than ten consecutive days will have an opportunity to receive educational services and make academic progress during the period of removal under a school-wide education service plan, which is described below, and will be so informed at the time of the suspension/expulsion. If the student withdraws from the school and/or moves to another school district during the period of suspension or expulsion, the new school/district/district of residence shall either admit the student to its schools or provide educational services to the student under the new school or district's education service plan.

- 3. Suspension/Expulsion on Grounds Other Than Set Forth in \$37H and $37H1/2 \$37H \frac{3}{4}$
- a) Any principal, superintendent or other person acting as a decision-maker at a student meeting or hearing, when deciding the consequences for the student, shall exercise discretion; consider ways to re-engage the student in the learning process; and avoid using expulsion as a consequence until other remedies and consequences have been employed.
- b) For any suspension or expulsion under this section, the principal, or a designee, shall provide, to the student and to the parent or guardian of the student, oral and written notice of the charges and the reason for the suspension or expulsion in English and in the primary language spoken in the home of the student. The student shall receive the written notification and shall have the opportunity to meet with the principal, or a designee, to discuss the charges and reasons for the suspension or expulsion prior to the suspension or expulsion taking effect. The principal, or a designee, shall ensure that the parent or guardian of the student is included in the meeting, provided that such meeting may take place without the parent or guardian only if the principal, or a designee, can document reasonable efforts to include the parent or guardian in that meeting.
- c) If a decision is made to suspend or expel the student after the meeting, the principal, or a designee, shall update the notification for the suspension or expulsion to reflect the meeting with the student. If a student has been suspended or expelled for more than 10 school days for a single infraction or for more than 10 school days cumulatively for multiple infractions in any school year, the student and the parent or guardian of the student shall also receive, at the time of the suspension or expulsion decision, written notification of a right to appeal and the process for appealing the suspension or expulsion in English and in the primary language spoken in the home of the student; provided, however, that the suspension or expulsion shall remain in effect prior to

- any appeal hearing. For the purposes of this section, the term "out-of-school suspension" shall mean a disciplinary action imposed by school officials to remove a student from participation in school activities for 1 day or more.
- A student who has been suspended or expelled from school for more d) than 10 school days for a single infraction or for more than 10 school days cumulatively for multiple infractions in any school year shall have the right to appeal the suspension or expulsion to the superintendent. The student or a parent or guardian of the student shall notify the superintendent in writing of a request for an appeal not later than five calendar days following the effective date of the suspension or expulsion; provided, that a student and a parent or guardian of the student may request, and if so requested, shall be granted an extension of up to seven calendar days. The superintendent or a designee shall hold a hearing with the student and the parent or guardian of the student within 3 school days of the student's request for an appeal; provided that a student or a parent or guardian of the student may request and, if so requested, shall be granted an extension of up to seven calendar days; provided further, that the superintendent, or a designee, may proceed with a hearing without a parent or guardian of the student if the superintendent, or a designee, makes a good faith effort to include the parent or guardian. At the hearing, the student shall have the right to present oral and written testimony, cross-examine witnesses and shall have the right to counsel. The superintendent shall render a decision on the appeal in writing within five calendar days of the hearing. That decision shall be the final decision of the school district with regard to the suspension or expulsion.
- e) No student shall be suspended or expelled from a school or school district for a time period that exceeds 90 school days, beginning the first day the student is removed from an assigned school building.

SUSPENSIONS

Suspensions may be short term or long term. Short term suspension means the removal of a student from the school premises and regular classroom activities for ten (10) consecutive school days or less. Long term suspension means the removal of a student from the school premises and regular classroom activities for more than ten (10) consecutive school days, or for more than ten (10) school days cumulatively for multiple disciplinary offenses in any school year.

Suspensions may also occur in-school or out-of-school. In-school suspension is the removal of a student from regular classroom activities, but not from the school premises, for no more than ten (10) consecutive school days, or no more than ten (10) school days cumulatively for multiple infractions during the school year. Long-term suspension means the removal of a student from the school premises and regular classroom activities for more than ten (10) consecutive school days, or for more than ten (10) school days cumulatively

for multiple disciplinary offenses in any school year. A principal may, in his/her discretion, allow a student to serve a long-term suspension in school.

During the course of any suspension, a student may is ineligible to participate in any school-related activities, including athletic activities. The student and his/her parents are expected to meet with a school administrator prior to the student's return to class. During the course of an out-of-school suspension, a student not be on school premises.

A student will not be excluded from school without being afforded appropriate due process as set forth below. If, however, a student's continued presence in school poses a danger to persons or property, or materially and substantially disrupts the order of the school, and, in the administrator's, judgment there is no alternative available to alleviate the danger or disruption, a student who is charged with a disciplinary offense may be removed temporarily from school before receiving due process pursuant to an Emergency Removal (see below for more information).

I. IN-SCHOOL SUSPENSION

An in-school suspension is a removal of a student from regular classroom activities, but not from the school premises. The procedure for an in-school suspension of no more than (10) school days (consecutive or cumulatively for multiple infractions during the school year) will be as follows:

- The administrator will inform the student of the disciplinary
 offense charged, the basis for the charge, and provide the student
 an opportunity to respond. If the administrator determines that
 the student committed the disciplinary offense, the administrator
 will inform the student of the length of the student's in-school
 suspension, which may not exceed 10 days, cumulatively or
 consecutively, in a school year.
- 2. On the same day as the in-school suspension decision, the administrator will make reasonable efforts to notify the parent orally of the disciplinary offense, the reasons for concluding that the student committed the infraction, and the length of the inschool suspension. The administrator will also invite the parent to a meeting to discuss the student's academic performance and behavior, strategies for student engagement, and possible responses to the behavior. Such meeting will be scheduled on the day of the suspension if possible, and if not, as soon thereafter as possible. If the administrator is unable to reach the parent after making and documenting at least (2) attempts to do so, such attempts will constitute reasonable efforts for purposes of orally informing the parent of the in-school suspension.
- The administrator will send written notice to the student and parent about the in-school suspension, including the reason and the length of the in-school suspension, and inviting the parent to a

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019 110 Approved: 4/24/18 meeting with the principal for the purpose set forth above, if such meeting has not already occurred. The administrator will deliver such notice on the day of the suspension by hand-delivery, certified mail, first-class mail, email to an address provided by the parent for school communications, or by other method of delivery agreed to by the administrator and the parent.

An in-school suspension of more than 10 cumulative days in a school year will be subject to the procedures for long-term suspension found at page 106.

II. SHORT TERM OUT-OF-SCHOOL SUSPENSION

Except in the case of an Emergency Removal (see below), prior to imposing a short term out-of-school suspension (10 days or less in a school year) for conduct not covered by M.G.L. c. 71, §37H and 37H ½, an administrator will provide the student and his/her parent oral and written notice and an opportunity to participate in an informal hearing.

1. Notice: The written notice to the student and the parent will be in English and in the primary language of the home if other than English, or other means of communication where appropriate and will include the following:

- a) the disciplinary offense;
- b) the basis for the charge;
- c) the potential consequences, including the potential length of the student's suspension;
- d) the opportunity for the student to have a hearing with the administrator concerning the proposed suspension, including the opportunity to dispute the charges and to present the student's explanation of the alleged incident, and for the parent to attend the hearing;
- e) the date, time, and location of the hearing;
- f) the right of the student and the student's parent to interpreter services at the hearing if needed to participate.

Written notice to the parent may be made by hand delivery, first-class mail, certified mail, email to an address provided by the parent for school communications, or any other method of delivery agreed to by the school and parent.

2. Efforts to Involve Parent: The administrator will make reasonable efforts to notify the parent of the opportunity to attend the hearing. To conduct a hearing without the parent present, the administrator must be able to document reasonable efforts to include the parent. The administrator is presumed to have made reasonable efforts if the administrator has sent written notice and has documented at least two (2) attempts to contact the parent in the manner specified by the parent for emergency notification.

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019 Approved: 4/24/18

- 3. Format of Hearing: The administrator will discuss the disciplinary offense, the basis for the charge, and any other pertinent information. The student also will have an opportunity to present information, including mitigating facts, that the administrator should consider in determining whether other remedies and consequences may be appropriate. The administrator will provide the parent, if present, an opportunity to discuss the student's conduct and offer information, including mitigating circumstances, that the administrator should consider in determining consequences for the student.
 - <u>Decision</u>: The administrator will provide written notice to the student and parent of his/her determination and the reasons for it, and, if the student is suspended, the type and duration of suspension and the opportunity to make up assignments and such other school work as needed to make academic progress during the period of removal. The notice of determination may be in the form of an update to the original written notice of hearing.

III. LONG TERM SUSPENSION

Except in the case of an Emergency Removal provided on page 109, prior to imposing a long-term suspension (more than 10 days of suspension, whether in-school or out-of-school, whether consecutive or cumulative for multiple offenses during a school year), an administrator will follow the procedures for short-term suspension plus additional procedures as follows:

- 1. Notice: The notice will include all of the components for a short-term suspension in Section C above, plus the following:
 - In advance of the hearing, the opportunity to review the student's record and the documents upon which the administrator may rely in making a determination to suspend the student or not;
 - the right to be represented by counsel or a lay person of the **b**) student's choice, at the student's/parent's expense;
 - c) the right to produce witnesses on his or her behalf and to present the student's explanation of the alleged incident, but the student may not be compelled to do so;
 - the right to cross-examine witnesses presented by the school d) district;
 - the right to request that the hearing be recorded by the e) administrator, and a copy of the audio recording provided to the student or parent upon request; and
 - f) the right to appeal administrator's decision to impose longterm suspension to the superintendent.

- 2. Format of Hearing: The Hearing will afford the rights set forth in the notice above. The administrator will also provide the parent, if present, an opportunity to discuss the student's conduct and offer information, including mitigating circumstances, that the administrator should consider in determining consequences for the student.
- 3. Decision: Based on the evidence, the administrator will determine whether the student committed the disciplinary offense, and, if so, after considering mitigating circumstances and alternatives to long-term suspension, what remedy or consequence will be imposed, in place of or in addition to a long-term suspension. The administrator will send the written determination to the student and parent by hand-delivery, certified mail, first-class mail, email to an address provided by the parent for school communications, or any other method of delivery agreed to by the school and the parent. If the administrator decides to suspend the student on a long-term basis, the written determination will:
 - 1. Identify the disciplinary offense, the date on which the hearing took place, and the participants at the hearing;
 - 2. Set out the key facts and conclusions reached;
 - 3. Identify the length and effective date of the suspension, as well as a date of return to school;
 - 4. Include notice of the student's opportunity to receive education services to make academic progress during the period of removal from school (if more than 10 cumulative days);
 - 5. Inform the student of the right to appeal the administrator's decision to the superintendent or designee. Notice of the right of appeal will be in English and the primary language of the home if other than English, or other means of communication where appropriate, and will include the following information stated in plain language:
 - a) the process for appealing the decision, including that the student or parent must file a written notice of appeal with the superintendent within five (5) calendar days of the effective date of the long-term suspension; provided that within the five (5) calendar days, the student or parent may request and receive from the superintendent an extension of time for filing the written

- notice for up to seven (7) additional calendar days; and that
- b) the long-term suspension will remain in effect unless and until the superintendent decides to reverse the administrator's determination on appeal.

No long-term suspension will extend beyond the end of the school year in which such suspension is imposed.

APPEAL TO THE SUPERINTENDENT

If a decision by an administrator, following the parent meeting, results in suspension of a student for more than 10 cumulative school days for the school year, the student may appeal the decision to the superintendent. In order to do so the student or parent must file a notice of appeal with the superintendent within five (5) calendar days with a seven (7) day postponement option. The superintendent must hold the hearing within three (3) school days of the student's request, unless the student or parent requests an extension of up to seven (7) additional calendar days. If the appeal is not filed within this time frame, the superintendent may deny the appeal, or may allow the appeal in his or her discretion, for good cause.

The following apply:

- The superintendent will make a good faith effort to include the parent in the hearing. The superintendent will be presumed to have made a good faith effort if he or she has made efforts to find a day and time for the hearing that would allow the parent and superintendent to participate. The superintendent will send written notice to the parent of the date, time, and location of the hearing.
- The superintendent will conduct a hearing to determine whether the student committed the disciplinary offense of which the student is accused, and if so, what the consequence will be. The superintendent will arrange for an audio recording of the hearing, a copy of which will be provided to the student or parent upon request. The superintendent will inform all participants before the hearing that an audio record will be made of the hearing and a copy will be provided to the student and parent upon request.

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019 1 Approved: 4/24/18

- The student will have all the rights afforded the student at the administrator's hearing for long-term suspension as described in Section D above.
- The superintendent will issue a written decision within five (5) calendar days of the hearing which meets the requirements for a long-term suspension as described in Section D above. If the superintendent determines that the student committed the disciplinary offense, the superintendent may impose the same or a lesser consequence than the administrator, but will not impose a suspension greater than that imposed by the administrator's decision.

The decision of the superintendent constitutes the final decision of the school district.

EXCEPTION FOR EMERGENCY REMOVAL

Notwithstanding the provisions for short or long-term suspension set forth above, a student who is charged with a disciplinary offense may be removed temporarily from school if the continued presence of the student poses a danger to persons or property, or materially and substantially disrupts the order of the school, and, in the administrator's judgment, there is no alternative available to alleviate the danger or disruption.

The administrator will immediately notify the superintendent in writing of the removal and the reason for it, and describe the danger [or disruption] by the student.

The temporary removal will not exceed two (2) school days following the day of the emergency removal, during which time the administrator will provide the following, as applicable to the length of suspension:

- Make immediate and reasonable efforts to orally notify the student and the student's parent of the emergency removal, the reason for the need for emergency removal, and other applicable matters;
- Provide written notice to the student and parent as provided in Section C or D above, as applicable;
- Provide the student an opportunity for a hearing with the administrator, as applicable, and the parent an opportunity to attend the hearing, before the expiration of the two (2) school days, unless an extension of time for

- hearing is otherwise agreed to by the administrator, student, and parent;
- Render a decision orally on the same day as the hearing, and in writing no later than the following school day.

An administrator may not remove a student from school on an emergency basis for a disciplinary offense until adequate provisions have been made for the student's safety and transportation.

Continuation of Educational Services:

Students serving an in-school suspension, short-term suspension, or longterm suspension have the opportunity to earn credits, as applicable, make up assignments, tests, papers, and other school work as needed to make academic progress during the period of his or her removal from the classroom or school. Students who are suspended under §37H¾ for more than ten (10) consecutive days, whether in school or out of school, are entitled to receive educational services during the period of suspension under the Education Service Plan, which is described below. If the student withdraws from the District and/or moves to another public school during the period of suspension, the new school/district/district of residence shall either admit the student to its schools or provide educational services to the student under the new school or district's education service plan.

Services during Removals and School-Wide Education Service Plan:

Students who are suspended from school for 10 or fewer consecutive days, whether in or out of school, have the opportunity to make academic progress during the period of suspension; make up assignments; and earn credits missed including, but not limited to, homework, quizzes, exams, papers and projects missed.

The Principal has developed a school-wide Education Service Plan for all students who are expelled or suspended from school for more than 10 consecutive school days, whether in or out of school. Principals shall ensure these students have an opportunity to make academic progress during the period of suspension or expulsion, to make up assignments and earn credits missed, including, but not limited to, homework, quizzes, exams, papers and projects missed.

The Education Service Plan is subject to change, and may include, but is not limited to, tutoring, alternative placement, Saturday school, and online or distance learning.

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019 Approved: 4/24/18

4. Provisions Common to all Suspensions/Expulsions

- a) The District shall continue to provide educational services to the student during the period of suspension or expulsion in accordance with G.L. c. 76, § 21. If the student moves to another district during the period of suspension or expulsion, the new district of residence shall either admit the student to its schools or provide educational services to the student under an education service plan.
- b) The Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE) requires the District to provide the specific reasons for all suspensions and expulsions, regardless of duration or type. On an annual basis, the DESE will make district level de-identified data and analysis, including the total number of days each student is excluded during the school year, available to the public online in a machine readable format. This report shall include district level data disaggregated by student status and categories established by the commissioner.
- (c) For each school that suspends or expels a significant number of students for more than 10 cumulative days in a school year, the commissioner of the DESE shall investigate and, as appropriate, recommend models that incorporate intermediary steps prior to the use of suspension or expulsion. The results of the analysis shall be publicly reported at the school district level.

PHYSICAL RESTRAINT OF STUDENTS

Maintaining an orderly, safe environment conducive to learning is an expectation of all staff members of Keefe Regional Technical School. Further, students of the South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District are protected by law from the unreasonable use of physical restraint.

When an emergency situation arises and physical restraint is the only option deemed appropriate to prevent a student from injuring himself or herself, another student or school community member, a teacher, or employee or agent of the school district may use such reasonable force needed to protect students, other persons, or themselves from injury.

As used in 603 CMR 46.02, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

- 1. Extended Restraint: A physical restraint the duration of which is longer than twenty (20) minutes. Extended restraints increase the risk of injury and, therefore, require additional written documentation as described in 603 CMR 46.06.
- 2. Physical Escort: Touching or holding a student without the use of force for the purpose of directing the student.
- 3. Physical Restraint: The use of bodily force to limit a student's freedom of movement.

The use of mechanical, seclusion or chemical restraint is prohibited unless explicitly authorized by a physician and approved in writing by the parent/guardian.

Physical restraint may only be used when non-physical interventions would not be effective and the student's behavior poses a threat of imminent, serious, physical harm to themselves and/or others.

The Superintendent-Director will develop procedures identifying

- Appropriate responses to student behavior;
- Methods of preventing student violence;
- Descriptions and explanations of the school's method of physical restraint;
- Descriptions of the school's training and reporting requirements;
- Procedures for receiving and investigating complaints.

The Principal will identify staff members to serve as a school-wide resource to assist in ensuring proper administration of physical restraint. These staff members will participate in an in-depth training program in the use of physical restraint. In addition, each staff member will be trained regarding the school's physical restraint policy.

The Principal will arrange training to occur in the first month of each school year or for staff hired after the beginning of the school year, within a month of their employment.

Appropriate Responses to Student Behavior

Physical restraint is prohibited as a means of punishment, or as a response to destruction of property, disruption of school order, a student's refusal to comply with a school rule or staff directive, or verbal threats that do not constitute a threat of imminent, serious physical harm to the student or others.

The use of "time out" procedures during which a staff member remains accessible to the student shall not be considered "seclusion restraint." LEGAL REF. 603 CMR 46.00

Physical Restraint Procedures

All administrators, faculty, and other program staff will receive annual training regarding this policy. Training will include the use of interventions to de-escalate problem behavior in order to avoid the use of restraints; the types of restraints and related safety issues for each; employing physical restraint in accordance with known medical or psychological limitations and/or behavioral intervention plans for individual students; and the staff member(s) who have received in-depth training with whom they may consult as needed.

Additional in-depth training for designated staff members will include:

- 1. Appropriate procedures for preventing the need for physical restraint; deescalation of problem behaviors; relationship building, and the use of alternatives to restraint.
- 2. Description and identification of dangerous behaviors by a student which may indicate the need for physical restraint and methods for evaluating the risk of harm in individual situations to determine whether restraint is warranted.
- 3. Simulated experiences in administering and receiving physical restraint, instruction regarding the effects upon the person restrained, including the monitoring of physical signs of distress, and obtaining medical
- 4. Instruction regarding documentation and reporting requirements and the investigation of injuries and complaints.
- 5. Demonstrations by participants showing that they are proficient in administering physical restraint. Faculty and staff will review any behavior plans pertaining to special techniques to be used with identified students.

When Physical Restraint Is Used

- 1. Physical restraint may be used when non-physical interventions have been attempted without success or when it is apparent that they would not be effective. It may only be used when a student's behavior poses a threat of imminent, serious physical harm to self and/or others or when otherwise outlined in a Behavioral Intervention Plan.
- 2. Physical restraint is limited to the use of such reasonable force as may be necessary to protect a student or other persons from assault or imminent, serious physical harm.
- 3. Unless specifically indicated in an agreed-upon Behavioral Intervention Plan, physical restraint may not be used as a response to property destruction, disruption of school order, a refusal to comply with a school rule or staff directive, or verbal threats which do not constitute a threat of imminent, serious physical harm. Physical restraint may never be used as a means of punishment.
- 4. A school staff member who uses a physical restraint on a student must use the safest method available which is most appropriate to the situation at hand, and the method for which that staff member has been trained. Staff shall review and consider any known medical or psychological limitations and/or behavior intervention plans regarding the use of physical restraint upon an individual student.
- 5. No physical restraint may be used which prevents a student from speaking or breathing, and must be used in such a way as to prevent or minimize physical harm. If, at any time during the restraint, the student demonstrates significant physical distress, the restraint shall be removed immediately.

Approved: 4/24/18

- A physical restraint must be discontinued as soon as possible when it has been determined that a student no longer poses a risk of harm to self or others.
- 7. Following the use of a physical restraint, the principal or a designated program staff member will meet with the student to address the behavior which prompted the restraint, and will also review the incident with the staff members who were involved and determine whether follow-up is needed for students who may have witnessed the incident.
- 8. Physical restraint regulations do not prohibit any individual from reporting a crime committed by a student to local law enforcement or other state agencies. Law enforcement officers, school security staff, or judicial authorities are not prohibited by this regulation from the exercise of their responsibilities, which may include the physical detainment of a student or other person alleged to have committed a crime or who poses a security risk. In addition, an individual who is mandated reporter under M.G.L. c. 119 § 51A is not prohibited by this policy from complying with their responsibility to report neglect or abuse to the appropriate state agency.

Reporting Requirement

- 1. A staff member who administers a restraint shall verbally inform the principal or his/her designee as soon as practical that day and by written report no later than the next school day.
- 2. The principal or his/her designee shall verbally inform the student's parent/guardian of the use of physical restraint as soon as practical and by written report no later than three (3) school days following such use.
 - 4. The report must include:
 - a. The names and job titles of staff who administered the restraint and the person(s) who observed it.
 - b. The date and time the restraint was used, the time it began and ended, and the name of the administrator who was verbally informed.
 - c. A description of the activity of the restrained student and other students and staff in the vicinity immediately preceding the use of the restraints; the behavior which prompted it; the efforts made to de-escalate; alternatives which were attempted first, and the justification for resorting to physical restraint.
 - d. A description of the restraint used and the reasons why; the student's behavior and reactions during the restraint; how it ended; and documentation of injury, if any, to the student or staff and any medical care provided.
 - For extended restraints, a description of the alternatives which were attempted first; the outcome of those efforts; and; the justification for administering an extended restraint.

- f. Information regarding any further action(s) taken by school staff, including any disciplinary actions taken toward the student.
- g. Information regarding opportunities for the student's parent/guardian to discuss the restraint and related matters with the Principal or his/her designee, as well as their right to file a grievance.

The Principal or his/her designee shall maintain an ongoing record of all reported instances of the use of physical restraint, which shall be made available to the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education.

A copy of the ongoing record of all reported instances shall be forwarded to the Superintendent-Director of Schools by January 31st and June 30th of each school year.

When a restraint has resulted in a serious injury to the student or program staff member involved, or when an extended restraint has been administered, a written report must be submitted to the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education within five (5) school days or the date of the restraint. School building Administration must, at this time, also provide the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education with a copy of the ongoing record of restraints for the thirty (30) day period preceding the date of the reported restraint. The Department will notify the school district of any required actions, if warranted, within thirty (30) calendar days of the receipt of the report.

Copies of all correspondence to the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education shall be forwarded to the Superintendent-Director of Schools. Nothing contained herein shall relieve staff reporting requirements when a personal injury occurs within the scope of employment.

Individual Waiver of Reporting Requirements

A school district may seek a parent/guardian's consent to waive the reporting requirements for restraints which do not result in injury or extended restraint. Such a waiver should only be sought for students who present behaviors which may require the frequent use of restraints. The parent/guardian must provide informed, written consent to the waiver which shall specify the reporting requirements which are being waived. The informed, written consent will be kept in the student's file, along with specific information regarding when and how the parent/guardian will be informed by the Administration of restraints on their child.

Students with Disabilities

Restraints which are administered to students pursuant to their Individualized Education Programs, Section 504 Accommodation Plans, or

Student/Parent Handbook 2018-2019 12 Approved: 4/24/18 other plans developed in accordance with state and federal law, and which have been agreed upon by both the school and the parent/guardian, shall be deemed to meet the requirements of 603 CMR 46.00. The limitations on chemical, mechanical, and seclusion restraints as specified above continue to apply to students with disabilities, as do the above reporting.

FEDERAL RIGHTS RELATIVE TO STUDENT'S EDUCATION RECORDS

The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) affords custodial parents and students over 18 years of age ("eligible students") certain rights with respect to the student's education records:

- The right to inspect and review the student's education records within 10 days of the day the School receives a request for access.
 - Parents who do not have physical custody of the student must request access to the record in writing to the principal. The principal will be responsible for following all applicable laws and procedures to determine whether or not a non-custodial parent is eligible to receive the information and will inform that parent of his/her determination.
- 2. The right to request the amendment of the student's education records that the parent or eligible student believes is inaccurate. Requests must be put in writing to the principal, and clearly identify the part of the record they want changed, and specify why it is inaccurate. The principal will inform the parent or student of the decision and any appeal rights.
- The right to consent to disclosures of personally identifiable information contained in the student's education records, except to the extent that FERPA and state laws authorize disclosure without consent.
 - Upon request, the School discloses education records without consent to officials of another school district in which a student seeks or intends to enroll. [NOTE: FERPA requires a school district to make a reasonable attempt to notify the parent or student of the records request unless it states in its annual notification that it intends to forward records on request.]
- 4. The right to file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education concerning alleged failures by Keefe Regional Technical School with the requirements of FERPA. The name and address of the office that administers FERPA is

Family Policy Compliance Office U.S. Department of Education 400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington, DC 20202-4605

PROTECTION OF PUPIL RIGHTS AMENDMENT

Under the new Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment (PPRA), 20 U.S.C. 1232h, 34CFR Part 98, which applies to surveys, analyses and evaluations that have been funded by the United States Department of Education, parents and guardians must be notified of their child's participation in these activities, and school officials must also obtain written parental consent prior to student participation.

§ 439 of the General Education Provisions Act (20 U.S.C. 1232g) is amended to read as follows:

- (a) All instructional materials, including teacher's manuals, films, tapes, or other supplementary material which will be used in connection with any survey, analysis or evaluation as part of any applicable program shall be available for inspection by the parents or guardians of the children;
- (b) No student shall be required, as part of any applicable program to submit a survey, analysis, or evaluation that reveals information concerning:
- (c) Educational agencies and institutions shall give parents and students effective notice of their rights under this section (Notification of Protection of Pupil Rights appears in Student, Parent, Staff & School Department handbooks).

DISSECTION POLICY

All public schools that offer dissection as a learning activity should, upon written request by a student's parent or guardian, permit a student who chooses not to participate in dissection to demonstrate competency through an alternate method. Complete information can be found in the Massachusetts General Law, Chapter 272: § 80 G.

EYE PROTECTION DEVICES

Safety glasses must be worn in all technical programs and laboratories as required by MGL Chapter 71, Paragraph 55C, which reads:

"Each teacher and pupil of any school, public or private, shall while attending school classes in industrial art or technical programs or laboratories in which caustic or explosive chemicals, hot liquids or solids, hot molten metals, or explosives are used or in which welding of any type, stamping or cutting of solid materials, or any similar process is taught, exposure to which may be a source of danger to the eyes, wear industrial quality eye protective device."

Accordingly, Keefe Regional Technical School will provide each student with one (1) pair of eye protection device, upon enrollment in the school. Should the student damage, break or lose his/her eye protection device, it will be the student's responsibility to acquire a new pair.

SEX EDUCATION POLICY

The South Middlesex Regional Vocational Technical School District, by written notice, shall afford parents or guardians the flexibility to exempt their children from any portion of the curriculum involving human sexual education or human sexuality. No child so exempt shall be penalized by reasons of such exemption.

To the extent practicable, program instruction materials for said curriculum shall be made reasonably accessible to parents, guardians, educators, and school administrators for inspection and review (M.G.L. Chapter 71: § 32A).

MASSACHUSETTS COMPREHENSIVE ASSESSMENT SYSTEM (MCAS)

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts requires all students to pass the English Language Arts, Math, and Science/Technology exams and meet all local graduation requirements in order to receive a high school diploma. Students will have five opportunities during their high school years to pass the MCAS. To assist students in preparing for these exams, Keefe Regional Technical School offers many MCAS preparation programs including MCAS classes during the day and tutoring in the school day. It is important to note that students who have not passed the MCAS may be rescheduled from their elective courses and assigned to MCAS tutoring.

Students who do not meet the competency determinations (MCAS requirements) may be eligible to receive a Certificate of Attainment or a Certificate of Program Completion. These certificates were described on Page 54.

Board of Education - MCAS Competency Determination (603 CMR 30.0)

- Students will be required to meet or exceed a scaled score of 240 on both the Grade 10 English Language Arts and Mathematics MCAS exam;
- Students will be required to meet or exceed a scaled score of 220 on one of the high school test- Biology, Chemistry, Intro to Physics, or Technology/Engineering; or
- Students will be required to meet or exceed a scaled score of 220 on both the Grade 10 English Language Arts and Mathematics MCAS exams and fulfill the requirements of an Educational Proficiency Plan (EPP); the EPP shall be developed for the subject matter area(s) in which students did not meet or exceed a scaled score of 240; and
- Students will be required to meet or exceed a scaled score of 220 on one of the high school test- Biology, Chemistry, Intro to Physics, or Technology/Engineering.

Each Educational Proficiency Plan (EPP) will include, at a minimum:

- A review of the student's strengths and weaknesses, based on MCAS and other assessment results, coursework, grades, and teacher input;
- The courses the student will be required to take and successfully complete in grades 11 and 12; and

A description of the assessments the school will administer on regular basis to determine if the student is moving toward proficiency.

MCAS Performance Appeal Process

MCAS Performance Appeals are available for students who have not passed the test after three attempts, but who have demonstrated through their course work and grades that they have the knowledge and skills in English and/or Mathematics equal to the standard established in the grade 10 MCAS test.

To be eligible for an MCAS Performance Appeal in ELA, Mathematics and/or Science, a student must have:

- Attended school 95% of the time both last school year and the current school year;
- Taken the 10th Grade MCAS test 3 times (ELA, Mathematics);
- Participated in MCAS tutoring or other academic help that is available.

Stanley Z. Koplik Certificate of Mastery

The Certificate of Mastery Program provides recognition by the Massachusetts State Department of Education to high school juniors and seniors for outstanding academic achievement. To be eligible, students must have taken the tenth grade English Language Arts and Mathematics MCAS test and score Advanced in one category and Advanced or Proficient in the other. To confirm your eligibility, consult with your school Guidance Counselor. Upon the confirmation of eligibility, your counselor will provide you with the application and the additional requirements that need to be completed prior to graduation. Upon completing the requirement, provide the completed application to your Guidance Counselor who will process the application for the tuition waiver for Massachusetts State Colleges and Universities. For additional information, please consult your Guidance Counselor.

Iohn and Abigail Adams Scholarship

The John and Abigail Adams Scholarship provides free tuition at Massachusetts public colleges and universities to students who attain scores in the Proficient and Advanced levels on the Grade 10 MCAS Mathematics and English Language Arts tests and who are in the top 25% of their class based on MCAS scores. Students who are eligible will receive a letter from the Massachusetts State Department of Elementary and Secondary Education in the fall of their senior year. Students are reminded to keep a copy of the Adams letter in a safe place since state colleges and universities will request a copy of the letter at the time of admission. Students and their parent/guardian should read the Adams Scholarship eligibility guidelines carefully upon receipt.

The chart below shows the differences between the John and Abigail Adams Scholarship and the Stanley Z. Koplik Certificate of Mastery.

Stanley Z, Koplik Certificate of Mastery with Distinction Award	John and Abigail Adams Scholarship
Students qualify for the Koplik certificate by 1) scoring at the Advanced level on the grade 10 MCAS test in English Language Arts (ELA), Mathematics, or Science and Technology/Engineering and <i>Proficient</i> or higher In the other two subject tests and 2) demonstrating additional academic achievements on AP and/or SAT II (subject tests) Exams. The Koplik certificate provides a tuition waiver to a Massachusetts state college or university.	Students qualify for the Adams Scholarship by 1) scoring at the Advanced and Proficient levels on grade 10 MCAS tests and 2) having a combined score that places them in the top 25% of students in their district. The Adams scholarship provides a tuition waiver to a Massachusetts state college or university.
Students may take the grade 10 MCAS tests* a second time in grade 11 in an attempt to meet the eligibility requirements for the Koplik certificate. *STE re-take added per Commissioner's Update 12/22/11.	Students are not allowed to take grade 10 MCAS tests a second time. The Adams scholarship is based on first time grade 10 test takers.
Students must submit an application for the Koplik award to their guidance counselor by the beginning of May of their senior year.	There is no application for the Adams scholarship award. Students who qualify for the scholarship receive an award letter in the fall of their senior year.
In order to use the award, students must present a copy of their certificate to the financial aid office at the Massachusetts state college or university they plan to attend and file the Free Application for Federal Student Aid.	In order to use the award, students must present their award letter to the financial aid office of the Massachusetts state college or university they plan to attend and file the Free Application for Federal Student Aid.
The tuition waiver must be used in the fall of the year the student graduates from high school.	The tuition waiver must be used within 6 years of a student's high school graduation.

The tuition waiver is in effect for eight consecutive semesters provided that the student maintains a cumulative GPA of 3.3 or higher. If the GPA falls below 3.3 the student loses the tuition waiver.	for eight semesters provided that the student maintains a
The tuition waiver applies to all Massachusetts public state colleges and universities.	The tuition waiver applies to all Massachusetts public state colleges and universities with the exception of the Massachusetts College of Art and Design.
A student who receives both the Koplik Scholarship and a Pell Grant is eligible for funds through the Academic Competitiveness (AC) Grant.	A student who receives both the Adams Scholarship and a Pell Grant is not automatically eligible for funds through the Academic Competitiveness (AC) Grant.

PUBLIC RELATIONS RELEASES

From time to time, Keefe Regional Technical School, as a public secondary school of choice, involves our students in a variety of activities designed to promote our school to the public. These activities may include but are not limited to newspaper articles, photos, school catalogs or brochures, videotape, and websites. You may be involved in these activities. Parents or guardians reserve the right to not have their child participate if they wish by sending a letter to the Principal.

PUBLICATION OF NAMES

Keefe Regional Technical School plans to publish names of students who receive recognition for academic achievement or for their participation in any school-sponsored activity. If students do not wish to have such information released to the news media or printed in school programs, they must inform the Principal in writing by the end of September of the current year.

Under student records regulations (603 CMR 23.07), Keefe Regional Technical School will not release any student information to third parties, except at the request of a parent/legal guardian or student (who is at least 14 years old). The following exceptions are noted:

- a. Reasonable effort to notify the parents/legal guardian or student, if 18 or older in response to a subpoena [§ 23.07 (4) (b)].
- b. Department of Social Services in cases of suspected child abuse or neglect [\$23.07 (4) (c)].

- Federal, State and local education officials whose duties require access c. [§ 23.07 (4) (d)].
- d. Appropriate parties in connection with a health or safety emergency, including weapons report under M.G.L. Chapter 71: § 37L [S 23.07 (4) (e)].
- Military Service/recruiters. Parents/guardians of secondary school e. students wishing to withhold information must see Guidance for the appropriate form (Public Law, 107-110 (H.R.I.) § 9528).

U. S. MILITARY RECRUITING

Keefe Regional Technical School has an excellent working relationship with military recruiters. In accordance with the No Child Left Behind Act and the National Defense Authorization Act, a listing of the names and addresses of Juniors and Seniors will be made available to military recruiters upon request. Parents who wish to have their child's name removed from the list must make a written request to the Guidance Department before the end of September and their request will be respected.

NOTIFICATION OF TEACHER QUALIFICATIONS – **COMPLIANCE**

The Federal No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 requires school districts that receive federal Title I funding to notify parents/guardians of their right to know the professional qualifications of the classroom teachers who instruct their child.

As a recipient of these funds, Keefe Regional Technical School will provide you with this information in a timely manner if you request it. Specifically you have the right to request the following information about each of your child's classroom teachers:

- Whether the teacher meets the state qualifications and licensing criteria for grades and subjects he/she teaches;
- Whether the teacher is teaching under emergency or provisional status because of special circumstances;
- The teacher's college major, whether the teacher has any advanced degrees, and the fields of discipline of the certification degree;
- Whether paraprofessionals provide services to your child and, if so, their qualifications.

Keefe Regional Technical School is committed to providing quality instruction for all students and does so by employing the most qualified individuals to teach and support in the classroom.

If you would like to receive any of the information listed above for your child's teacher, please send a written request to Superintendent-Director, Jonathan Evans.

If you have any questions, you may contact the Director of Curriculum & Instruction at (508) 416-2380.

ASBESTOS HAZARD EMERGENCY RESPONSE ACT (AHERA)

Federal and Massachusetts laws require that every school be inspected for asbestos. In accordance with EPA regulations and the Massachusetts "Right to Know" Law, this school has been inspected for asbestos-containing material and the building occupants must be notified as to the presence of asbestos. The existence of a friable type of asbestos material within our school can constitute an imminent health hazard if fibers are released.

Asbestos-containing material is present in Keefe Regional Technical School, 750 Winter Street, Framingham, Massachusetts. A record of the inspection report, diagrams of the location(s) of any asbestos-containing materials, and other pertinent information contained in the school's Asbestos Management Plan is available for review in the Main Office and Business Office.

For further information, please contact the designated AHERA Coordinator:

Facility Manager 508-416-2335 Keefe Regional Technical School 750 Winter Street Framingham, Massachusetts 01702

SCHOOL NETWORK/INTERNET ACCEPTABLE USE POLICY

Keefe Regional Technical School policy provides that all technology used to access the network will be used in a responsible, legal, and ethical manner. Failure to do so will result in the termination of network and email privileges for the user and/or other disciplinary action. Individual users of the network-students and adults-are responsible for their use of the network at school, home or at any location. Use of the network must support education and must be consistent with academic actions of the Keefe Regional Technical School. Its use will be supervised by Keefe Regional Technical School staff. Use of other organizations' networks or computing resources must comply with the rules appropriate for that network. Use of the network for any illegal or commercial activities is prohibited.

A RESPONSIBLE NETWORK USER WILL:

- Use language that is considered appropriate.
- Be polite.
- Send information that other users will not find hurtful or offensive.
- Conform with copyright laws and always give credit to the author of the material used.
- Never reveal personal information about yourself or any user, such as address, telephone number, credit card numbers, social security number, etc.
- Never copy or download software without authorization of the network administrator.
- Never attach hardware devices to the school network without the authorization of the network administrator.
- Never use computers for personal communications: gaming, personal email, chat, personal blog.
- Not tamper with the system, nor alter, delete, or destroy anyone else's files, data, or image.
- Never access another individual's materials, information, or files without permission.
- Never use the account or identity of another user.
- Not share their username and password with others. You are responsible for all activities done through your account.
- Never use an unauthorized proxy server or proxy application for the purposes of bypassing the school's firewall.
- A responsible network user must be aware that the use of the network and email is a PRIVILEDGE, not a RIGHT.
- The Keefe Regional Technical School network is to be used only for educational purposes.
- E-mail is not guaranteed to be private.
- It is important to log off the computer at the end of every session so another user cannot use your password.

- Identifying photos of students with their first and last names may not be used on a website.
- Violation of this policy will result in the possible loss of Internet privileges and/or disciplinary action pursuant to the Discipline Rules and Consequences and/or prosecution under state and federal law.
- Persons issued an account are responsible for its use at all times.

The Acceptable Use Policy (AUP) was developed to ensure the safety of all users. All Network/Internet users should read it carefully and understand it. As parents/guardians, please review it in detail with your children before they begin using the Internet in school.

It is important that you and your children understand that any violation of the AUP may result in the loss of Internet and e-mail privileges or other disciplinary action. We ask that you work with your children in reinforcing the behaviors associated with the AUP.

It is the policy of Keefe Regional Technical School that students and staff will use all technology to access electronic ("computer") networks, including the Internet and email, in a responsible, legal, and ethical manner. Failure to do so may result in the loss of network privileges for the user, disciplinary action under the Code of Discipline, and/or prosecution under federal or state law.

I have read and understand the Acceptable Use Policy for Keefe Regional Technical School. I understand that use of the Network/Internet in school, at home, and at any other location is a privilege, not a right. It is designed strictly for educational purposes. I also understand that. Keefe Regional Technical School is taking measures to restrict access to any material deemed inappropriate; but because no filtering system is perfect, my child might gain access to an inappropriate site. I agree that I will not hold Keefe Regional Technical School responsible for any access by my child of any inappropriate materials acquired on the Internet.

By signing below, I give my child permission to work on the Network / Internet for educational purposes. I understand that if I do not sign this agreement, my child will not be permitted to use the Internet and e-mail in school.

Parent/Guardian Signature:		
	Date	

./C 1: C:

STUDENTS MUST SIGN THE STATEMENT BELOW REGARDING INTERNET USE: I understand and agree to adhere to the behaviors outlined in the Keefe Regional Technical School Acceptable Use Policy. I understand that any violation of this policy may result in the loss of Network / Internet privileges and/or disciplinary action and/or prosecution under federal or state law. If I accidentally get to an inappropriate website, I will report it to a teacher, librarian and/or staff member. I understand that if I do not sign this agreement, I will not be permitted to use the Internet and e-mail in school.

Student Signature:		
	Date	
Student Name Printed:		

KEEFE REGIONAL TECHNICAL SCHOOL STUDENT PHOTO RELEASE

As an integral part of the Keefe Regional Technical School curriculum, teachers and staff members will, from time to time, use technology within the learning environment. Videotapes, movies, still photographs, and web pages are options available to teachers with the context of the curriculum. Most often, this is done to enhance a lesson, or to share with parents and other classes. Occasionally students may be photographed for a local newspaper articles or for Keefe Regional Technical School's newsletter. Videotapes of special events and ceremonies may also be with the local cable station. Additionally, with the school website and school brochures, student images may be displayed or printed.

Our desire is that all students will be able to participate in these activities, and are seeking your permission for such use. If you have any questions about this form, please contact the Principal's office.

Please check the appropriate box below.

Yes, I hereby give the unqualified right to Keefe Regional Technical School to take pictures and film of my child to put to legitimate use without limitation or reservation.
No, I do not give Keefe Regional Technical School permission to take pictures and film of my child.
Parent or Guardian Signature:
Date
Student's Signature:
Date
Please Print Name Date

Dear Parents/Guardians:

Please take time to review the new Student Handbook. It contains the necessary policies and procedures that enable the teachers and staff to create a safe and learning environment for your child.

Parents/guardians will have access to their child's records unless denial of such has been filed in writing with the Principal's Office by students who have reached the Age of Majority.

An attendance policy has been created that will assist students in achieving the highest possible levels of skills and knowledge in both academic and technical subjects. Carefully review the information beginning on p. 15. The attendance policy contains the following requirements:

A student may lose credit for a course if he/she exceeds 12 unexcused absences per year.

The only excused absences will be: illness documented by medical personnel, hospitalization, doctors' appointments, legal matters, military service, and death in the immediate family. Proper written documentation will be required to be eligible for an excused absence.

Please sign in the space below to confirm that you have received and reviewed the contents of the Student Handbook with your child. He/She will return this signed form to the A1 Academic or Career and Technical teacher.

Parent/Guardian S	ignature:	 	
Student:		 	
Print name:			_
Sign name:		 	
Date			